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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and all of its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), | am pleased to present the
Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 March 2012 to the
shareholders.

With the dedication and hard work of the management and our
staff, the results of the Group recorded a steady growth for the
year 2011-2012. The Group achieved a breakthrough of HK$1
billion turnover and contributed a turnover of approximately
HK$1.12 billion for the year, representing an increase of
approximately HK$0.27 billion as compared to the corresponding
period of last year. The profit for the year was approximately
HK$0.31 billion, increased by approximately HK$0.26 billion from
that for the corresponding period of last year.

DESCRIPTION OF THE CHINESE ECONOMY AND
REVIEW AND PROSPECT OF THE INDUSTRY

2011 marked the first year for the PRC to execute the plan
of “Twelfth Five Years”, during which the PRC faced more
severe domestic and international situations. Following the
implementation of a series of macro economic policies this year,
the commodity price tend to be stabilised and the asset bubble
risk reduced. Amid the gradual dip in economic growth, however,
the economic growth remained at the high rate while the turning
back on track of economic cycle to the normal growth path
started. According to the “Statistical Report on the National
Economy and Social Development of China 2011" announced by
the National Bureau of Statistics of China, the annual GDP of the
PRC for 2011 amounted to RMB47.1564 trillion, representing an
increase of 9.2% as compared to last year.

NATURAL GAS INDUSTRY

In 2011, a double-digit growth momentum continued to
be maintained in the natural gas market. The annual gas
consumption amounted to 129 billion m3, representing an increase
of 20.6% as compared to last year. The strong consumption needs
brought about the sustainable rapid development of natural gas
production. In 2011, the annual national production of natural gas
achieved a historical highest of approximately 102.5 billion m?,
representing an increase of 6.9% as compared to last year.
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Chairman’s Statement
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NATURAL GAS INDUSTRY (Continued)

On 26 December 2011, National Development and Reform
Commission of the People’s Republic of China (the “NDRC")
issued a notice regarding execution of gas price reform pilot in
Guangdong and Guangxi. According to the notice, the "cost
plus” pricing method will be replaced by the “net back pricing”
method for the pricing of natural gas, which marked a significant
milestone in the reform of the national natural gas pricing.
Furthermore, it is expected that the under-drafting “Management
Regulations for Natural Gas Infrastructure Construction and
Operation” will achieve greater progress in 2012. Hence, it is
obvious that the supervision system of the PRC’s natural gas
industry production chain will gradually become standardised and
mature.

In order to meet the increasing demand for natural gas, the
PRC government strongly contributes to investment for the
development of natural gas infrastructure. Currently, the
nationwide natural gas network comprised of various long
pipelines (i.e. the West-to-East Gas Pipelines | and I, Shaanxi-
Beijing Gas Pipelines I, Il and Ill, Zhongwu Gas Pipeline, Sebei-
Xi'ning-Lanzhou Gas Transmission Pipeline, Sichuan-to-East
Natural Gas Pipeline, Qinhuandao-Shenyang and Ji-Ning Pipeline
and Huai-wu Pipeline etc.) has been preliminary formed in
the PRC. Moreover, in accordance with the PRC government'’s
planning, various natural gas pipeline projects (including the
West-to-East Gas Pipelines Il and IV and the Sino-Myanmar
Gas Pipeline) will be successively completed and will commence
production during these years. In addition, upon the completion
and commencement of increasing number of new coastal LNG
loading piers, the real “Network Era” of the PRC’s natural gas will
arrive.

According to the latest planning by the National Energy
Administration, replacing oil by gas will be encouraged during
the “Twelfth Five Years” period, so as to promote natural gas
industry development, aiming to raise the proportion of natural
gas consumption in our national energy consumption structure
for more than 8%. Due to the stimulating effect driven by the
sharp increase in resources supply, increasing popularity of
pipeline construction and great support from national policies, the
domestic demand will grow strongly. According to the forecast by
the NDRC, the national total demand for natural gas will reach
230 billion m? in 2015 and the consumption volume will be 400
billion m3 in 2020. Meanwhile, there will be a remarkable increase
in the domestic natural gas penetration rate as compared to
nowadays. Natural gas users, currently the users in major cities,
will gradually penetrate among cities (county or city level). Among
the economically developed regions, this extension will also occur
in the towns and rural areas. Apart from ensuring the orderly
development of its existing business, the Group will concurrently
pay more close attention to and capture, various potential
opportunities, insisting on our contribution for the environmental
protection and discipline in energy industry across the PRC and
the world.
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LPG INDUSTRY

As compared with other fuels, Liquefied Petroleum Gas (LPG) is
advantaged with its less polluting, high heat, easy to transport,
stabilised pressure, simple storage equipment and flexible supply.
Following the development of petroleum chemical industry, LPG,
being a sort of basic raw materials and new type of chemical fuel,
has gained increasing attention. In respect of chemical production,
LPG is applied for the production of synthetic plastic, synthetic
rubber, synthetic fiber and other products such as medicine,
explosives and dyestuff etc. Using LPG as fuel has also been
broadly applicable in various fields of people’s life. Moreover,
LPG is also applied in cutting metals, baking of agricultural
products and roasting of industrial furnaces. In 2011, the national
consumption of LPG reached approximately 24.11 million tons,
representing an increase of 5.8% as compared to last year. The
production was approximately 21.82 million tons, representing an
increase of 3.4% as compared to last year. The huge population
base and smaller per capita consumption indicated that the
national LPG market was staying at the developing stage, which
was far from mature. On the one hand, following the promotion
of the domestic natural gas prices reform, the prices shall be
raising and getting in line with the international market. The LPG
market has already been in line with the international market, the
price difference between natural gas and LPG will be increasingly
shrink in the future, favoring the open of market competition
for LPG. On the other hand, the development of the natural gas
market is restricted due to the requirement of conveying pipeline
and resources. Therefore, when natural gas supply requires
pipeline method and the competitive price advantage rapidly
spreads, the LPG enterprises can invest in the infrastructure across
medium-and-small-size towns, vast countryside and the edges
areas of cities, where the pipeline gas cannot be reached, so as
to develop and expand the user groups. Should the increase of
the urban and rural residents’ income offset the impact of price-
rising, together with the situation that gas enterprises improve its
infrastructure when the demand is improved, the growth potential
for the LPG demand will be significant. The Group will fully take
its own advantages, seize the opportunity and improve the LPG
industry chain, so as to enhance its influence in the LPG market.
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Chairman’s Statement
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LOTTERY INDUSTRY

In 2011, the nationwide lottery market continued its stable and
solid growth with the sales scale steadily growing. During 2011,
the national lottery sales recorded a breakthrough of RMB200
billion for the first time, representing an increase of RMB55.3
billion or 33.3% to approximately RMB221.6 billion as compared
to last year. Among this, the sales of welfare lotteries amounted
to approximately RMB127.8 billion, representing an increase of
RMB31.0 billion or 32.0% as compared to last year. Meanwhile,
the “Lottery Regulation Implementation Rules” was jointly issued
by the Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Civil Affairs and General
Administration of Sport, which is another important achievement
in the legal construction and standardised management for
the national lottery following by the “Lottery Management
Regulations” implemented in July 2009, providing an important
institutional guarantee for the national lottery development and
management. Leveraging the opportunities arising from the fast-
growing lottery market in the PRC, the Group will proactively
accelerate the development of its lottery business.

2012 is the transitional year for the PRC to implement its plan
of “Twelfth Five Years”, which is also the significant year for
promoting economic restructure and industrial upgrading.
Therefore, it is expected that the rapid growth momentum in the
PRC's economy will continue. Apart from ensuring the orderly
development of its existing business, the Group will fully take
its own advantages and facilitate comprehensive development
across all the business segments. Dedicating its contribution
for the national welfare, environmental protection and energy
undertakings, the Group aimed to maximise the long-term
benefits for its shareholders, customers, employees, the society
and enterprise.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | hereby gratefully acknowledge the
staunch support of all the shareholders and the community over
the year.

Dr. Mo Shikang
Chairman
Beijing, 29 June 2012
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2012, under the leadership of
the Directors and management of the Group, all of our staff
executed the development strategies of the Group earnestly
and unswervingly and worked through some difficulties, thus
successfully completing various tasks for the year.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBERE

EREmESN

HZE2012F3A318 IFE AEBEEET
FEEREEEEET REEANTAEE
EREE SREZ% JEMN KT 2ENTHE

£

For the year ended

31 March
Items 18 H BE3A3MBLEE
Change
2012 2011 25
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T BT T
Turnover: EE3 - H
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEE EMAFER 787,951 598,084 189,867
Transportation, distribution and EE - DHEHMAETE
retail of bottled LPG BAL R RRER 330,619 255,784 74,835
Lottery agency sales FEREBHEED 432 - 432
Total = 1,119,002 853,868 265,134
Segment results: DEBELE
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEE EMR AR 136,116 111,955 24,161
Transportation, distribution and B oHERAETE
retail of bottled LPG AL BB RES 12,732 57,554 (44,822)
Lottery agency sales FEREBHEHEER (29,518) — (29,518)
Total = 119,330 169,509 (50,179)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEN B AR 2 Wi = 1,361 (1,361)
Re-measurement of interest in an R EKA R KHE QN A 2
associate to fair value on BHEARBEENE
business combination 235,663 - 235,663
Loss on disposal of LEAHEESHEEERA
available-for-sale financial assets - (64,426) 64,426
Equity-settled share-based payments DA% &= 45 & A% 15 & E 6 2 5K - (16,618) 16,618
Other income and expenses (net) EEW AR ((F5) (5,837) (18,351) 12,514
Profit before tax B 354 A1 349,156 71,475 277,681
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For the year ended

31 March
Items 18 H BZE3AMBLEE
Change
2012 2011 =X)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T ok BET T
Profit attributable to owners of KRR aER AR T
the Company 296,815 45,639 251,176
Earnings per share TR F
Basic and diluted EARREE (SRBMWL)

(HK cents per share) 5.84 1.12 4.72
Profit before tax B 50 A 4 7 349,156 71,475 277,681
Adjustments for: B TIEBEHFE:

Re-measurement of interest in REBEHEBEE QR

an associate to fair value on BRI ARBENTE

business combination (235,663) - (235,663)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB ARz e - (1,361) 1,361
Loss on disposal of HEREECREERSE

available-for-sale financial

assets - 64,426 (64,426)
Gain on disposal of LEWE - HERZHAR

property, plant and equipment FEMEE 2 R

and prepaid lease payments (422) (52,720) 52,298
Equity-settled share-based DA ss i B IR in AR AR

payments Z IR = 16,618 (16,618)
Profit before tax excluded PR B & FEAR & 1H I8 B A& A

non-operational items 113,071 98,438 14,633
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

EERE
For the year ended
31 March
BZE3A3MBLEE Growth Growth rate
Items 15 H 2012 2011 R # R L
(%)
No. of projects HEHE (@)
Piped Gas Fuel EEMRIER 39 39 = =
LPG (note 1) B AR RIEE
(FF=ET) 20 5 15 300.00
Lottery (note 2) FRIEER (ME2) 2 1 1 100.00
Others (note 3) HEE (HizE3) 2 2 = =
Total no. of projects 5B 8 63 47 16 34.04
No. of connected customers for MEHREBRBPE
the reporting period
Household (unit) BERERF (F) 88,620 93,280 (4,660) (5.00)
Commercial & industrial (unit) IEERF (F) 449 385 64 16.62
Total no. of connected customers EERKBPAEH (P)
(unit) 89,069 93,665 (4,596) (4.91)
Accumulated no. of 2 EEEAFE
connected customers
Household (unit) BERERF (F) 465,210 376,590 88,620 23.53
Commercial & industrial (unit) IERFP (P) 3,311 2,862 449 15.69
Accumulated no. of 2EERAF
connected customers (unit) B () 468,521 379,452 89,069 23.47
Sales of piped Gas Fuel BEEMRIHES
(10,000 m?) (B3 K)
Household ERAFP 5,072 3,645 1,427 39.15
Commercial & industrial ITEERP 21,518 17,722 3,796 21.42
Total sales of piped Gas Fuel EEMRBIEES 26,590 21,367 5,223 24.44
Sales of LPG (tons) BlEARREE = (B8) 36,993 36,228 765 2.11
No. of lottery stations/ FMEHER B E
lottery betting stores 22 - 22 n/a-™%E A
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)

Notes :

1. New LPG projects, “Southwest Panva” and “Yunnan Panva” together with
its branches,”Hongjiang Zhongmin” and “Huitong Zhongmin” were added
as compared with the corresponding period of last year (Please refer to the
section headed “New Projects During the Reporting Period” for details);

2. Lottery projects refer to “Shenzhen Le Cai” and “Shenzhen Jin Cai”;

3. Other projects refer to “Huaihua Gas Appliances” and “Yan Bian Zhongmin”.
BUSINESS REVIEW
Provision of piped Gas Fuel business

The provision of piped Gas Fuel is the major business of the
Group, which comprises a major income source of the Group.
Through the construction and maintenance of urban piped Gas
Fuel network, the Group has always been dedicated to supply
piped Gas Fuel to the vast urban household and industrial and
commercial customers. During the reporting period, the Group
achieved a rapid development progress, as a result of its ongoing
effort to expand its customer base and increase its coverage of
piped gas fuel.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group achieved piped
gas fuel sales of 265.90 million cubic meters (“m3") in total,
representing a growth of 24.44% over the corresponding period
of last year. Among the total sales, 50.72 million m* were made to
the household customers, which represented a growth of 39.15%
over the corresponding period of last year, and 215.18 million m?
were made to the industrial and commercial customers, which
represented a growth of 21.42% over the corresponding period
of last year. A comparison of the Group's sales of piped Gas Fuel
among 2010 to 2012 is shown in Graph 1.

1. BIEABRBEREAFEMNT [BIEME] RIERE
BILIIMESRR IR RIRIERFPR]EER
(FBEALBREPRFILER])

2. HEBEBRE DRYNEX | R [RIEZ]

3. HMEEHIEEMBA RIEEHR]-
F 7% ol B

HEEEMRRER
HEEEMREFEARENTERT 1B
RTAEENEZRARIR —HIAK K&K
BEBARNBBEZBRTMRRER  [EAM
HERAFPFRIBEAFHETEMR A H
THA AEEBHARAFPFEE RSERB
MRBEX BMETBRRHOBR-

HE2012F3A03MBEFE - AEBEERE
BEMRAHEE265908 7 ([m3]) ®EF
FHERIEIN24.44% - HF - mERBFHEEMRR
5,0728m3 - B A F R HFIE IN39.15% : M IRy
EAFHEEMRT21,5188m3 » B & F 7 B i1
21.42% ° LE82010-2012F EAEBEBMER
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)
RBEERE 2

Graph 1: Comparison of sales of piped Gas Fuel for the latest 3 years

x— HWBA=FEBRRHES

("0,000 m3)
(B HK)
30,000
26,590
25,000 A
21,367 1,518
20,000 [ 1 Total sales of piped Gas Fuel
' 17,486 7,722 EERENEEE
15,000 — 4,414 M Commercial & industrial customers
EEES)=
10,000 —— Household customers
EBERAF
5,072
5,000 —— 3,072
0 Financial Year
2010 2011 2012 MERFE

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group had an addition B E201263A318 ILFF - NE B HEK
88,620 units of household customers and 449 units of commercial JE R A F88,620F  #i%# 5 T ig 3 F B 449
and industrial customers. As at the end of the reporting period, F-ZREHRA AEBERAERERARP
the Group had an accumulated number of connected household 4652107 2t ERIEERAF,3311P 9
customers of 465,210 units and commercial and industrial P& E 1% K23.53%HM15.69% ° tLE2010-
customers of 3,311 units, representing an increase of 23.53% and 202FEAEB 2 EBREREHITLREE
15.69% respectively as compared to the corresponding period of K-

last year. A comparison of the accumulated number of connected

customers of the Group among 2010 to 2012 is shown in Graph

2.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)
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Graph 2:  Comparison of accumulated number of connected units for the latest 3 years
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During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group recorded an
income of approximately HK$787,951,000 from the provision of
piped Gas Fuel, representing a growth of 31.75% as compared with
the corresponding period of last year, accounting for approximately
70.41% of the Group’s annual turnover. Gross profit margin
maintained at around 30% to 32%. The stable gross profit margin
was mainly due to the increased sales of Gas Fuel which generates
stable and longer term income stream, compared with one-off
connection fee that generating higher gross profit margin.

Transportation, distribution and retail of bottled
liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG"”) business

The business of transportation, distribution, and retail of bottled
LPG has achieved swift development and become one of the
principal businesses of the Group since its official commencement
in 2007. During the reporting period, the Group continued
exploring its LPG business in various regions to increase its LPG
market shares, which bring about the acquisitions of 49.90%
and 20.12% equity interest in Pan River Gas (China Southwest)
Co., Ltd. (“Southwest Panva”) and Panva Gas (Yunnan) Co.,
Ltd. (“Yunnan Panva”) respectively. Meanwhile, the Group
invested in the establishment of Hongjiang Zhongmin Gas Co.,
Ltd. (“Hongjiang Zhongmin”) and Huitong Zhongmin Gas Co.,
Ltd. (“Huitong Zhongmin”). Such acquisitions and investment
resulted in the expansion of the Group’s LPG market shares
in the Southwest region and Hunan Province. In particular,
benefiting from the synergy effects as a result of the acquisitions
of Southwest Panva and Yunnan Panva, the Group enjoyed a
dominating position in the LPG markets in Yunnan and Guizhou,
which significantly enhanced the Group’s brand influence.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2012, sales of LPG by the Group
reached 36,993 tons in total, representing an increase of 2.11%
over the corresponding period of last year. The Group realised a
total income from sales of LPG of approximately HK$330,619,000,
representing an increase of 29.26% over the corresponding period
of last year. Income from the transportation, distribution and
retail of bottled LPG accounted for approximately 29.55% of the
turnover. A comparison of the Group's sales of LPG between 2010
to 2012 is shown in Graph 3.
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Graph 3: Comparison of sales of LPG for the latest 3 years
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Lottery agency sales business

On 13 June 2011, the Company entered into an agreement
with Yongheng Development Corporation Limited (“Yongheng
Development”, the former controlling company of Shenzhen Le
Cai), pursuant to which, the Company has conditionally agreed
to purchase the remaining 60% equity interest in Shenzhen Le
Cai for a total consideration of approximately HK$380,568,000.
Shenzhen Le Cai is a company invested and established in
Shenzhen, the PRC, which exclusively engaged in the lottery-
related businesses. In particular, Shenzhen Le Cai is principally
engaged in the commissioned sales of “Keno Games Lottery”
(PR3 ) and China Welfare Lottery (including but not limited to
“Shenzhen Feng Cai” RYIER) , “Shuang Se Qiu” (ZE3k) ,“Qi
Le Cai"(t£%£%) ,"3D" etc.). Details of the acquisition have been
set out in the Company’'s circular dated 12 August 2011. Upon
the completion of the transaction, Shenzhen Le Cai has become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)

On 27 November 2011, the launching ceremony of “Keno
Games Lottery”, a sort of China Welfare Lottery, was officially
commenced in Shenzhen. Upon the launching of “Keno Games
Lottery”, a complex lottery distributing approach was adopted
at various betting stations/lottery betting stores. Under the
approach, the distribution of “Keno Games Lottery”, China
Welfare Lotteries and paper-based instant lotteries (such as Gua
Gua Le) have been available in every lottery betting stations/
stores. As at the date of this report, Shenzhen Le Cai has set up
4 lottery betting stations and 23 lottery betting stores across the
Shenzhen City. All of these lottery betting stations/stores have
already commenced its business, locating in Futian District (with
1 lottery betting station and 6 lottery betting branches), Nanshan
District (with 1 lottery betting station and 4 lottery betting stores),
Longgang District (with 1 lottery betting station and 4 lottery
betting stores), Bouan District (with 3 lottery betting stores), Lowu
District (with 1 lottery betting station and 2 lottery betting stores)
and Guangming New District (with 4 lottery betting stores). These
regions are all benefited from its intense commercial activities and
high population density. Moreover, 10 more stores are currently
under preparation of construction, where business will also be
commenced soon. “Keno Games Lottery”, being a brand-new
type of lottery, requires certain period of marketing development.
Starting with being newly introduced, it takes time to be accepted
by the vast base of bettors. In response to this, Shenzhen Le Cai
has adopted a rather prudent operating approach during the
initial stage, by slowing down its investment in the establishment
of new stores. At present, lottery bettors have understood the
rules of “Keno Games Lottery” to a certain extent, and accepted
this quick-resulted and high-odds lottery type. In view of this,
Shenzhen Le Cai will scale up the stores-opening progress, in
order to increase its store-coverage in Shenzhen District. Through
the increased advertising efforts aimed to boost our sales and
the promotion across the regions outside Shenzhen, the Group
will accomplish its expected goal in lottery business. In addition,
the Group will devote itself in exploring different types of new
lotteries and businesses. Shenzhen Jin Cai has been granted with
the “Value-added Telecom Service Operation License” by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology. The income mix
of the Group among 2011 to 2012 is shown in Graph 4.
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS (Continued)

Graph 4: Income Mix of the Group
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NEW PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

Acquisition of 49.90% equity interest in Southwest
Panva

On 25 March 2011, Beijing Zhonglian Huaan Investment Co.,
Ltd. (“Zhonglian Huaan”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, acquired 49.90% of equity interest in Southwest Panva
through a bid auction, at a total consideration of RMB35,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$43,012,000). The transaction
was completed in October 2011. Southwest Panva is a company
established in 1998, which is principally engaged in wholesaling
and retailing of LPG in Guizhou Province, the PRC. Given that
LPG is the dominant Gas Fuel used in Guizhou region where
natural resources are in lack, Southwest Panva enjoys a relatively
significant market share in the region. As Guizhou Zhongmin Gas
Co., Ltd. (“Guizhou Zhongmin”, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group) is currently in progress of relocation and construction, the
acquisition will be beneficial for the future business development
of Guizhou Zhongmin, in respect of the bargaining power over
the purchase of gas resources, market expansions as well as the
company presence and brand reputation. The acquisition has also
enlarged the Group’s LPG market share in the Southwest region.
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NEW PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

Acquisition of 20.12% equity interests in Yunnan Panva

On 9 June 2011, Zhonglian Huaan acquired 20.12% of equity
interest in Yunnan Panva through a bid auction, at a total
consideration of RMB26,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$31,951,000). The transaction was completed in February
2012. Yunnan Panva is principally engaged in wholesaling and
retailing of LPG in the Yunnan Province. Given that LPG is the
dominant Gas Fuel used in Yunnan region where natural resources
are in lack, Yunnan Panva enjoys a relatively significant market
share in the region. Following the establishment of Yunnan
Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.("Yunnan Zhongmin”) in the Yunnan
Province for operating LPG business, the Group will further
strengthen its LPG business scope upon the acquisition, benefiting
Yunnan Zhongmin from economies of scale and synergy effects.
Hence, the Group will enjoy a dominating position in the LPG
market in Yunnan and will gain further advantages in respect of its
bargaining power over the merchandising of gas source.

Investment in the establishment of Huaihua Gas
Appliances, Hongjiang Zhongmin and Huitong Zhongmin

During the year, the Group invested to establish three joint
venture companies in Huaihua City, Hongjiang City and Huitong
county of Hunan Province, namely Huaihua Zhongmin Gas
Appliances Installation Co., Ltd. (“Huaihua Gas Appliances”),
Hongjiang Zhongmin and Huitong Zhongmin, in which the Group
holds respectively 19% of each of their equity interests. The
principal business scope of the these companies involves: sales
and installation of Gas Fuel equipment; sales of the components
and spare parts; contracting for Gas Fuel constructions; sales of
LPG; steel cylinders; transportation of dangerous stock; and sales
of chemical products. Investment in form of share participation
allows the Group being entitled to participate in the operations
of these enterprises with less fund contributions, and realising
the “Four Standardisations” (i.e. the standardisation of resources
supply, the standardisation of brands and of services, the
standardisation of management and the standardisation of safety
regulations). Thus, enhancement of overall corporate efficiency
and extension of corporate presence are assured.
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NEW PROJECTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

DISPOSAL PROJECT DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
Disposal of an associate — Zhongmin Zai Xian

Based on the strategic need of the Group as a whole, in addition
to the fact that the lottery business of Shenzhen Le Cai is
launched and is running well currently, the Group disposed 40%
of its equity interest in Zhongmin Zai Xian (Beijing) Technology
Development Limited (“Zhongmin Zai Xian”), an associate owned
by the Group, at a cash consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to
HK$1) to an independent third party. The Group has discontinued
recognition of its share of losses of this associate since the
Group's share of losses in this associate has exceeded its interest
in associates. The gain of HK$1 contributed by the disposal will
not materially affect the result of financial position of the Group.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Gross profit

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group's business
realised a gross profit of approximately HK$293,244,000 (2011:
approximately HK$229,749,000), representing an increase of
27.64% as compared with the corresponding period of last year.
The overall gross profit margin was 26.21% (2011: 26.91%).

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2012, the total assets of the Group was
approximately HK$2,730,973,000, and current liabilities, non-
current liabilities, equity attributable to owners of the Company
and non-controlling interests amounted to approximately
HK$443,368,000, HK$457,332,000, HK$1,748,513,000, and
HK$81,760,000, respectively.

As at 31 March 2012, the Group's cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$349,734,000 (2011:
approximately HK$262,763,000), and the total borrowings
were equivalent to approximately HK$284,555,000 (2011:
approximately HK$216,668,000). The debt-to-capitalisation ratio,
representing the ratio of total borrowings to borrowings and
owners’ equity, was 14.00% (2011: 16.69%).

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital
amounted to approximately HK$161,624,000, representing an
increase of 23.28% from the last year.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES (Continued)

Net cash used in investing activities amounted to approximately
HK$187,489,000, representing a decrease of 10.71% from the
last year.

Net cash generated from financing activities of approximately
HK$29,165,000 representing an increase of 17.40% from the last
year.

BORROWINGS STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2012, the total borrowings of the Group
were approximately HK$284,555,000 (2011: approximately
HK$216,668,000), which mainly comprised domestic bank
borrowings denominated in Renminbi of the project companies
in the PRC. The borrowings, which carried interest at fixed rates
or the interest rates announced by People’s Bank of China, were
applied to gas pipeline construction, as general working capital
and for operating expenses. Apart from the borrowings with an
amount equivalent to approximately HK$238,674,000 which were
secured by certain assets with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$20,374,000, others were unsecured. Short-term borrowings
amounted to approximately HK$66,920,000, while others were
long-term borrowings due after one year. Details of the capital
commitments and pledge of assets are set out in Notes 42 and 43
to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The Group’s long-term capital comprised owners’ equity and
borrowings, which was confirmed by the sound debt-to-
capitalisation ratio stated in the section headed “Liquidity and
capital resources” above.

EXPOSURE TO FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK

All of the Group’s operations are carried out in the PRC and
substantially all of its incomes and expenses are denominated
in RMB. During the year ended 31 March 2012, the exchange
rate of RMB had shown small-scale fluctuations. The Group will
closely monitor the market exchange rates and make appropriate
adjustment when necessary.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2012, the Group's capital commitments amounted
to approximately HK$182,115,000, mainly attributable to
running district gas pipeline construction and for the purpose of
investment in Zhonghua Yongbaofu. Please refer to Note 42 to the
consolidated financial statements for further details.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had approximately 2,000
employees, most of them were stationed in the PRC. The
employees’ salary are determined with reference to their duties
and responsibilities with the Group, the Group’s business
performance, profitability and market conditions. In addition to
pension funds, individual employees may be granted discretionary
bonus and share options as rewards for their outstanding
performance.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REPURCHASE OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the reporting period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or repurchased any of the
Company’s listed securities.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 23 May 2012, the Group signed a constitutional documents
for setting up Shenzhen Cai Cai Le Electronic Entertainment
Technology Development Limited. Its registered capital is
RMB18,000,000 in which the Group holds 100% equity interest.
It is engaged in the development of intelligent electronic game
software technology and equipment.
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PROSPECTS
Piped Gas Fuel business

The natural gas industry in the PRC achieved a swift development
in recent years. The proven reserve of domestic natural gas has
recorded a rapid growth, with an annual increase of proven
reserves remained at 400 billion — 500 billion m*. The natural gas
consumption structure is optimising continuously, resulting in a
balanced and diversified development among various industries
gradually. As the consumption growth of Compressed Natural
Gas (CNG) vehicles is specifically drastic, the consumption rate of
natural gas power generation has also raised greatly. The natural
gas industry achieved a swift development in 2011, with apparent
consumption rate of 129.0 billion m?3, increased by 20.6%. Among
this, the amount of import reached 31 billion m* which increased
by 82.3%. During the period under the execution of the plan
of “Twelfth Five Year”, the PRC government will aggressively
commit itself on the application of natural gas. As expected, the
percentage of natural gas will raise from 4% to 8% in the energy
consumption by the end of “Twelfth Five Year” (2015), resulting
in an annual production of natural gas of 260.0 billion m3. The
natural gas supply capacity will continuously grow in a rapidly
and there will be diversified sources of supply. It is estimated that
the natural gas productivity in the PRC will reach 222.1 billion
m? in 2020. Meanwhile, the PRC has implemented favourable
financial and taxation policies to support the development of
unconventional natural gas resources such as coal-bed methane
gas and shale gas, with a view to utilise them as an effective
supplement to domestic conventional natural gas resources. By
importing more external resources, four importing pathways
(which mainly consist of the Sino-Asia, the Sino-Myanmar, the
Sino-Russian overland gas pipelines and coastal LNG) have been
formed. The PRC also explore the overseas segment through
proactive overseas merges and acquisitions in order to secure
domestic demand of gas consumption. Under the nation’s policies
of encouraging both private and foreign capital to engage in
the field of petroleum and natural gas construction through co-
operation with state-owned enterprises, there will be diversified
gas sources and diversified gas supply enterprises among the
domestic natural gas market in the future. The Group will
definitely follow the trend and seize the opportunities. Among the
regions where our piped gas fuel business is located, the Group
will solidify and explore the markets, with our further enhanced
service standard. It is believed that the piped gas fuel business of
the Group will step forward during the upcoming years.
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PROSPECTS (Continued)
LPG business

Currently, the gas market in the PRC mainly comprises of
three parts, namely LPG, natural gas and town gas. Due to its
requirements of complicated technology, huge investment and
high risk, the development of town gas is limited. Therefore,
LPG is the major supplemental energy of natural gas. After
experiencing the rapid growth since 1990, the LPG market of the
PRC has formed a market operation of approximately 24.0 million
tons, being the second largest global LPG consumption market
which is weaker than the United States only. The LPG market in
the PRC is staying at the developing stage, which was far from
mature. Following the promotion of the domestic natural gas
prices reform, the prices of natural gas shall be raising and getting
in line with the international market. This situation implies that
the price margin between natural gas and LPG will be narrow
in the future. Hence, there will be a new LPG development
opportunities. The Group will seize the opportunities to expand
its market presence by intensively focusing on the construction of
retailer market, expansion of retailer networks, and perfection of
service quality.

Lottery agency business

According to the statistics published by the Ministry of Finance
of China, the nationwide lottery sales in 2011 exceeded RMB200
billion and reached RMB221.6 billion, rose by RMB55.3 billion
or 33.3%, of which the welfare lottery sales increased by
RMB31.0 billion or 32.0% to RMB127.8 billion. Meanwhile,
the Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Civil Affairs and
State General Administration of Sports jointly announced the
“Implementing Rules for the Regulations on the Administration
Lotteries”. Following the implementation of the “Regulations
on the Administration Lotteries” in July 2009, it is another
significant success in legalising the construction and regulating
the management of lotteries in the PRC, which provides the
development and management of lotteries in the PRC with a
significant systematic protection. The lottery business of Shenzhen
Le Cai has been commenced with a positive market respond. With
the expanding scope of sales of Shenzhen Le Cai, the Group will
capture the great opportunities arising from the fast-growing
lottery market in the PRC and explore the market share with our
best effort. As we believed, the prospects of the Group’s lottery
business will be very broad in the future. Lottery business will
definitely generate sufficient cash flow and great investment
returns for the Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

Looking ahead, the Group will continue to maintain the constant
development of the piped Gas Fuel business, explore the LPG
market with active progress, boost the development of various
lottery businesses aggressively and expand the market share with
our best effort, and proactively develop software development
businesses, aiming to maximise the investment returns for the
shareholders and investors as a whole.

Mr. Jin Song
Co-Managing Director and Executive Director

Beijing, 29 June 2012
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Xu Ruixin, aged 71, is the honourable chairman of our board
of directors (“Board”) and an executive director, he joined our
Company since 11 April 2005. Mr. Xu is currently the chairman
of the China Association of Social Workers. Mr. Xu was a vice
minister and committee member of the Ministry of Civil Affairs
of China. Mr. Xu is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Yang Songsheng, aged 50, is the executive chairman
of our Board and an executive director. Mr. Yang joined our
Company since 19 December 2011. He is currently a director and
a shareholder of Yongheng Development Corporation Limited
(“Yongheng Development”), a substantial shareholder of the
Company; the Chief Executive Officer of FEEKEEZEE S (The
Chinese Yongheng Charitable Foundation); the Deputy Chief
Secretary of the China Association of Social Workers; the President
of magazine (4t @ B /A z5) (Society and Public Welfare?); a
member of Standing Executive Committee of Lottery of the China
Association of Social Workers. Mr. Yang is also a director of the
major subsidiaries of the Group that engage in lottery agency
business. Mr. Yang has extensive knowledge in lottery business
as well as rich experiences in business management of a large
corporation. Mr. Yang and Mr. Yeung Paak Ching, a director of our
Company, are brothers. Mr. Yang is not appointed for a specific
term with our Company but is subject to retirement and re-
election in the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance
with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Dr. Mo Shikang, aged 54, is the chairman of our Board and
an executive director, Dr. Mo joined our Company since 30
April 2004. Dr. Mo is currently the chairman of our Nomination
Committee and a member of our Remuneration Committee, the
chairman of the board of Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd., a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company and acts as director posts
in certain principal subsidiaries of the Group. Dr. Mo holds a
Bachelor degree in Sciences from Tianjin Education University, a
Master degree in Economics from Tianjin University of Finance
and Economics and a Doctor degree in Economic from Nankai
University in the PRC. He is currently a part-time professor of
the Faculty of Statistics of People’s University of China, and
a supervising tutor of master degree students. Dr. Mo has
substantial experiences in the development and management
of natural gas projects in the PRC. Dr. Mo is not appointed for
a specific term with our Company but is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in the forthcoming annual general
meeting in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-
laws.
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EEZREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng, aged 58, is a deputy chairman of our Board
and an executive director, he joined our Company since 21 March
2005. Mr. Zhang is currently a member of our Remuneration
Committee. Mr. Zhang holds a MBA degree from the La Trobe
University in Australia. In late 1980s, Mr. Zhang joined the initial
financial securities industry in the PRC, he has been engaged in
provision of securities company businesses relating to securities
and financial investment; securities brokerages; investment
banking; financial research and analysis for Wanguo Holdings
Limited, Guotai Securities Company Limited and Guotai Junan
Securities Company Limited and acted as senior operation officer.
Mr. Zhang has extensive experiences in financial and capital
markets. Mr. Zhang is not appointed for a specific term with our
Company but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Yeung Paak Ching, aged 48, is our co-managing director
and an executive director. Mr. Yeung joined our Company since
19 December 2011. Mr. Yeung is currently a director and a
shareholder of Yongheng Development. He is also a director of the
major subsidiaries of the Company that engage in lottery agency
business. Mr. Yeung has extensive knowledge in lottery business
as well as rich experiences in business management of a large
corporation. Mr. Yeung and Mr. Yang Songsheng, a director of our
Company, are brothers. Mr. Yeung is not appointed for a specific
term with our Company but is subject to retirement and re-
election in the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance
with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.

Mr. Jin Song, aged 41, is our co-managing director and an
executive director, he joined our Company since 11 April 2005.
Mr. Jin is currently a director and president of Beijing Civigas Co.,
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company and he also acts
as director posts in certain principal subsidiaries of the Group.
Mr. Jin holds a MBA degree from Oklahoma City University in
United States. Mr. Jin has substantial experiences in investment
banking as well as merger and acquisition of gas enterprises in the
PRC. He was engaged in marketing and project management by
Shenzhen Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd., and worked for years in
investment banking business with Guangzhou Security Company
Limited and Huatai Securities Co., Ltd. Mr. Jin is not appointed
for a specific term with our Company but is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in the forthcoming annual general
meeting in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-
laws.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus, aged 48, is appointed as our
executive director of Company since 1 December 2008. Mr.
Chu was graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a
Master degree in Business Administration. Mr. Chu is a fellow
practising member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, associate member of Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. Mr. Chu has over 23 years of professional
experiences in auditing, accounting and financial management
for both private and listed corporations. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Eyang Holdings (Group)
Co. Limited (stock code: 00117); Flyke International Holdings Ltd.
(stock code: 01998); Huayu Expressway Group Ltd. (stock code:
01823); China AU Group Holdings Ltd. (“China AU") (stock code:
08176) and China Vehicle Components Technology Holdings
Limited (stock code: 01269). Mr. Chu resigned as independent
non-executive director of Sustainable Forest Holdings Limited
(stock code: 00723) on 31 August 2010. All of the shares of
the above companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) except China
Au the shares of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market
(“GEM") Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chu is not appointed
for a specific term with our Company but is subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election in the forthcoming annual general
meeting in accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-
laws.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Liu Junmin, aged 62, is our independent non-executive
director, Dr. Liu joined our Company since 11 April 2005. Dr. Liu
is currently a member of our Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Dr. Liu holds a Bachelor
degree, a Master degree and a PhD degree in Economics from
Nankai University in the PRC, in which Dr. Liu is a professor of
the School of Economics and an officer of the Virtual Economics
and Management Research Center. Dr. Liu was appointed as
independent director of China-Baoding Tianwei Yingli New Energy
Resources Co., Limited from June 2008. After completion of the
service term, Dr. Liu was resigned as an independent director of
Tianjin Faw Xiali Automobile Co. (stock code: 000927), a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in June 2008. Dr. Liu has
awarded “Sun Yefang Economics Prize” ([#)R B4 mE48]) . Dr.
Liu has entered into a service contract with our Company for three
years but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(Continued)

Mr. Tan Qinglian, aged 74, is our independent non-executive
director, he joined our Company since 11 April 2005. He is
currently a member of our Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. He is the member of
the 10th National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference and President of China Civil Engineering
Society. He was the vice minister of the Ministry of Construction
of China. Mr. Tan has entered into a service contract with our
Company for three years but is subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the provision of our Company’s
Bye-laws.

Mr. Sin Ka Man, aged 45, is our independent non-executive
director, Mr. Sin joined our Company since 23 December 2006 and
he is also the chairman of our Audit Committee and Remuneration
Committee and a member of our Nomination Committee,
respectively. Mr. Sin has over 20 years of professional experiences
in auditing, accounting and financial management for both private
and listed corporations. Mr. Sin is an associate member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow
member of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
and a certified practicing accountant of the CPA in Australia.
Mr. Sin is currently an vice-president of Huayu Expressway
Group Limited (stock code: 01823) and is responsible for the
accounting and financial management. Mr. Sin holds a Bachelor
degree in Social Sciences from the University of Hong Kong, a
Master degree in Finance from the University of Strathclyde in the
United Kingdom and a Master degree in accounting from Curtin
University of Technology in Australia. Mr. Sin is an independent
non-executive director of PNG Resources Holdings Limited (stock
code: 00221); China Motion Telecom International Limited (stock
code: 00989); Xtep International Holdings Limited (stock code:
01368); Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (stock code: 01106) and
Fornton Group Limited (stock code: 01152), all of the shares of
the above companies are listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Sin
has entered into a service contract with our Company for three
years but is subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
the forthcoming annual general meeting in accordance with the
provision of our Company’s Bye-laws.
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to
present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the
"Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND SUBSIDIARIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in the sale and distribution of natural gas
and liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") (collectively referred to
as "Gas Fuel”) in the People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC")
including the sales of LPG in bulk and cylinders, the provision of
piped Gas Fuel, construction of gas pipelines, the operation of
city gas pipeline network and lottery agency sales. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012 are set out in
note 49 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income of this annual
report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movement in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in
notes 17 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movement in the share capital of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2012 are set out in note 35 to
the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movement in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in page 63 and note 47
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report
respectively.
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Report of the Directors

EEEHRSE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2012, the Company did not have any distributable
reserves.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers taken together accounted for 6.6% and 19.1% of the
Group's total turnover for the year.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the aggregate purchase
attributable to the Group's largest supplier and the five largest
suppliers taken together accounted for 15.6% and 62.0% of the
Group's total purchase for the year.

None of the Directors, their respective associates or, so far as the
Directors are aware, any shareholder who owns more than 5% of
the issued share capital of the Company has any interest in any
of the said top five customers and suppliers of the Group for the
year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date
of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)

Mr. Yang Shongsheng (Executive Chairman)
(appointed on 19 December 2011)

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Paak Ching (Co-managing Director)
(appointed on 19 December2011)

Mr. Jin Song (Co-managing Director)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman)
(resigned on 16 November 2011)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Dr. Liu Junmin

Mr. Tan Qinglian
Mr. Sin Ka Man
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page 23 to
page 26 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT AND ROTATION

Each of the independent non-executive directors has entered into
a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years but
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance
with the Company's Bye-laws.

In accordance with Bye-Laws 99 of the Company, Dr. Mo Shikang,
Mr. Jin Song and Mr. Sin Ka Man will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting but, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

Besides, in accordance with Bye-Law 102(B) of the Bye-Laws,
Messrs. Yang Songsheng and Yeung Paak Ching, who were
appointed as executive director of the Company on 19 December
2011, will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

Other than disclosed above, none of the Directors has entered or
has proposed to enter into any service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not expiring or determinable
by the employing company within one year without payment of
compensation other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENT

Details of Directors’ emoluments on a named basis are set out in
note 11(a) to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.

ANNUAL CONFIRMATION FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company had received written confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive directors of their independence
pursuant to the rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) and the Board considered all independent non-
executive directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

EEREO HERORESHZ
B

As at 31 March 2012, the interests of the Directors in the shares,

underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the

Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) (the “Associated

Corporations”) as recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise

notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
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Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) were as follows:

Long position in the shares of the Company

ERrERGBPZHER

Percentage

of aggregate

Number of interests to

underlying total number

Number of shares shares held of shares

B #A under equity in issue *
derivatives ERam
Personal Family Corporate BERALTE HEBRTRH
interests interests interests IAEEZ Total BAEZBDL *

Name of Director B BA#R FRER AEER HERGHE ay %

Mr. Yang Songsheng BIELE - - 1,727,729,582 7,500,000 % 1,735,229,582 29.87
("Mr. Yang") ([HRERAE]

Dr. Mo Shikang RitFEEL 427,841,375 3 - - 750,000 2 428,591,375 7.38

("Dr. Mo") ([B8L))

Mr. Zhang Hesheng RANAE LA 227,788,793 3 - - 7,500,000 2 235,288,793 4.05

Mr. Yeung Paak Ching BESLE 600,000 - 1,727,729,582 ' 5,000,000 % 1,733,329,582 29.83
("Mr. Yeung") ([BEERE]D

Mr. Jin Song FNEE - - - 7,500,000 ? 7,500,000 0.13

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus RERLE - 9,840,000 * - 9,000,0002 18,840,000 0.32

(“Mr. Chu") ([REE]D
Dr. Liu Junmin ABREBL = = - 2,700,0002 2,700,000 0.05
Mr. Sin Ka Man ERELE - - - 2,700,000 2 2,700,000 0.05



DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OR DEBENTURES (Continued)

Notes:

1. This represents interests legally, beneficially and equally held by Mr. Yang and
Mr. Yeung through Yongheng Development Corporation Limited (“Yongheng
Development”) in which 2,297,654,321 shares were charged to the Company
as a security for the performance of the profit guarantee by Yongheng
Development, details of which may refer to the circular of the Company
dated 12 August 2011. Mr. Yang and Mr. Yeung are brother and directors of
Yongheng Development.

2. This represents interests in share options held by the relevant Directors as a
beneficial owner to subscribe for the relevant underlying shares granted by
the Company under the Share Option Scheme, details of which is set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme”.

3. This represents interests held by the relevant Directors as beneficial owner.

4, This represents interests legally and beneficially held by Ms. Woo Sau Kuen,
she is the spouse of Mr. Chu.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2012 (i.e. 5,809,954,136 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, none of the
Directors had any other interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
Associated Corporations which had been entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party and in which
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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EEEHRSE

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2012, the number of outstanding option shares
granted by the Company under the 2006 Share Option Scheme
(defined under section headed “Share Option” below) for the
Directors to subscribe the shares of the Company, as recorded in
the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the section headed
“Share Option” under Directors’ Report of this annual report.

Apart from the aforesaid, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2012, the interests of those persons (other than
the Directors) in the shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of
the SFO were as follows:

EERERORES Z2ER

1201238318 RIEFEF K BAEKHIZE352
EARRRFE ZECMAATREE B IRIZAE
SFRIZERE AN A KBS AT - AN A AR #2006
FHRRETE (EERTXBEBRE] —&R)
ERESREURBARGRG 2 RITEBER
BHEEBEERATRETSHRS [BRE] —

fie

B bt SN RAFEERERE AQF - B
BAR - ERRME QRS E R DRI &EET
MR REE BUEE S A EBE AR QBN
HANAE 2 Bt sk (B 55 M 2k o

RRAFAREARZzZEERER

R201293 8318 ' RIEEH KB EKHE336
BERNBFFEEZETSM ZEAL(BRES
INBEEARRBRGD ZEROT

Approximate
% of the issued
share capital*

Nature of Number of e
Name Capacity Interest shares held BITRAE
=x g4 ERME BERMGHE BMABEDE*
Yongheng Development Beneficial owner Corporate 1,727,729,5822(L) 29.74%
KiEEE EREBA NG

(L) = long positiontf &



SUBSTANTIAL INTERESTS IN THE SHARE CAPITAL
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of Yongheng Development is legally,
beneficially and equally owned by Mr. Yang and Mr. Yeung. They are brother
and directors of Yongheng Development.

2. 297,654,321 shares were charged to the Company as a security for the
performance of the profit guarantee by Yongheng Development, details of
which may refer to the circular of the Company dated 12 August 2011.

* The percentage has been adjusted based on the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2012 (i.e. 5,809,954,136 shares).

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2012, the Company had
not been notified of any interests and short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which had been recorded
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICTS

None of the Directors or substantial shareholders of the Company
or any of their respective associates has engaged in any business
that competes or may compete with the business of the Group or
has any other conflict of interests with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
as at the date of this annual report and within the knowledge
of the Directors, there was sufficiency of public float of the
Company’s securities as required under the Listing Rules.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s
Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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SHARE OPTION

On 3 October 2006, the shareholders of the Company approved
the adoption of a new share option scheme (the “2006 Share
Option Scheme”). On 27 September 2007 and 29 August 2011,
the shareholders of the Company approved the resolution for
refreshment of 10% limit on the grant of options under the
2006 Share Option Scheme, respectively. On 28 August 2008,
the shareholders of the Company approved the resolution for
the amendments to the terms of the 2006 Share Option Scheme,
details of which may refer to the circular of the Company dated
31 July 2008.

As at 31 March 2012 and up to the date of this annual report,
201,600,000 option shares were outstanding under the 2006
Share Option Scheme.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the 2006
Share Option Scheme:

Provide incentives to the eligible persons to contribute
to the Group, to enable the Group to recruit and retain
quality employees to serve the Group on a long-term
basis and to attract human resources that are valuable to
the Group.

Purpose

Eligible person include any executive, employee (whether
full-time or part-time), Director (including non-executive
director and independent non-executive director),
consultant, adviser, partner, joint-venture partner,
service provider, customer and/or agent of the Company
or any of its subsidiary or any person, who in the
absolute discretion of the Board, has contributed or may
contribute to the Group at the time when an option is
granted to such person (Note).

Participants

BB

7200610838 A A A 2 B E L EF K —
BB R EET B ([2006F B AEETE]) - R
2007498278 K&201148H298 AR Al R &
2 BIBLAEE 72006 F B AR AT B3R KB IR 2
10%0PR 88 2 )R &% 22 - )A2008F8 H28H * AR
AR AL A RT2006F BB AR HE AT BIE TR Z R 3
= HIBAI2MARQAI2008F7A318 2@
K o

R2012F3A31HREBZARAFHRAB H - BRI
2006 F EE R BB E 2CHERESNA
201,600,00013 R 1T »

X AL20064F & At 8 2 £ B HRK:

=: 1) SEEEBRALTRAKE
ELER B AEER
ErBEFREEUNRY
AR5 AN SR B AN O 5| # AR £
BMAEEEZANER-
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REALEERMHBRARZ
TRATHBRAB -EE (1T
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Price of Shares

Total number of
shares available
for issue and the
percentage of
the issued share
capital that it
represents as at
the date of this
annual report

Determined by the Board and shall at least be the
highest of:

(a) the nominal value of the share of the Company;

(b) the closing price of the share of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations
sheet on the date of offer, which must be a
trading day; and

(c) the average closing price of the share of the
Company as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of offer.

408,222,455 shares, being approximately 7.03% of the
issued share capital of the Company.
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Maximum
entitlement of
each participant

Period within
which

the securities
must be taken up
under the option

Minimum period
for which

an option must
be held before
it can be
exercised

Amount payable
on acceptance

Period within
which
calls/loans must
be made/repaid

Remaining life of
the scheme

Not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company
in issue in any 12-month period.

Subject to the discretion by the Board (Note).

Not applicable (Note).

No amount is payable on acceptance of an
offer.

Not applicable.

The scheme will be valid and effective until 5
October 2016, after which no further options
will be granted, but in all other respects the
provisions of this scheme shall remain in full
force and effect in respect of any option
granted prior to the termination of this
scheme and any such option shall continue to
be exercisable in accordance with their terms
of issue.

Note:  This term has been revised in the 2008 annual general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION (Continued) BRE &)

Movements of the option shares, which were granted under the BIE EMARRISE17.071&  REE201293 431
2006 Share Option Scheme, during the year ended 31 March 2012 HIEFEREBE2006F MR 211 1 2 AR E

are listed below in accordance with rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules: ZEEFBENT
During the year
R
Granted/
(exercised)/
reclassification* Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant Asatih Bt/ (7F) cancelled* As ati price’ period
£5 REAH 01.04.2011 V22T S V43 -l 31.03.2012 TR g
HKS
ke
Directors
Bz
Mr. Yang® 15.10.2007 ? = 2,500,000%° (2,500,000) - 0.514 01.05.2008-
BIRERLE 14.04.2011
29.11.2010 ¢ - 7,500,000% - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
7,500,000
r. Mo 15.10.2007 2 660,000 - (660,000) - 0.514 01.05.2008-
2t 14.04.2011
29.11.2010 ¢ 750,000 - - 750,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
750,000
Mr. Zhang Hesheng 15.10.2007 2 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 0514 01.05.2008-
ML A 14.04.2011
29.11.2010 ¢ 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
7,500,000
Mr. Zhu Peifeng® 15.10.2007 ? 2,500,000 = (2,500,000) - 0.514 01.05.2008-
AER LA 14.04.2011
29.11.2010 ¢ 7,500,000 (7,500,000)* - - 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Mr. Yeung® 29.11.2010 ¢ - 5,000,000%° - 5,000,000 0.28 01.12.2010-
BRELE 30.11.2013
Mr. Jin Song 15.10.2007 2 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - 0514 01.05.2008-
LY 14.04.2011
29.11.2010 ¢ 7,500,000 - - 7,500,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013

7,500,000
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During the year
FR
Granted/
(exercised)/
reclassification* Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant Asatih Bt/ (7F) cancelled* As atit price’ period
g3 RiEAH 01.04.2011 JER* kM Ee 31.03.2012 TEE &S
HK$
BT
Mr. Chu 15.10.2007 2 2,000,000 - (2,000,000) - 0.514 01.05.2008-
A& 14.04.2011
12.04.2010°3 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
11.04.2013
29.11.2010 4 7,000,000 - - 7,000,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
9,000,000
Dr. Liu Junmin 15.10.2007 900,000 - (900,000) - 0.514 01.05.2008-
HHRAEL 14.04.2011
29.11.2010 ¢ 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
2,700,000
Mr. Sin Ka Man 15.10.2007 2 900,000 - (900,000) - 0.514 01.05.2008-
EREEE 14.04.2011
29.11.2010 ¢ 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
2,700,000
Subtot\al 49,610,000 7,500,000 (14,460,000) 42,650,000
NGt
Continuous Contracts 15.10.2007 2 32,290,000 - (32,290,000) - 0.514 01.05.2008-
Employee 14.04.2011
BESNNES
02.11.2007 ? 700,000 - (700,000) - 0.632 10.05.2008-
01.05.2011
04.1.2008 2 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - 0.382 17.07.2008-
03.07.2011
12.04.20103 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
11.04.2013
29.11.2010 4 77,000,000 (5,000,000)* — 72,000,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 131,990,000 (5,000,000) (52,990,000) 74,000,000

N
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SHARE OPTION (Continued) BRE )
During the year
ER
Granted/
(exercised)/
reclassification* Lapsed/ Exercise Exercise
Category Date of grant Asatih Bt/ (7F) cancelled* As atit price’ period
E3 BB 01.04.2011 Ve LS Va1 31.03.2012 RE il d
HK$
BB
Consultants 15.10.2007 2 18,750,000 (2,500,000)*>¢ (16,250,000 - 0.514 01.05.2008-
BA 14.04.2011
12.04.2010°3 23,000,000 - - 23,000,000 0.385 12.04.2010-
11.04.2013
29.11.2010 ¢ 34,700,000 - - 34,700,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 76,450,000 (2,500,000) (16,250,000) 57,700,000
It
Agents 15.10.20072 8,740,000 - (8,740,000 - 0.514 01.05.2008-
\8:3 14.04.2011
29.11.2010° 18,250,000 - - 18,250,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 26,990,000 - (8,740,000 18,250,000
bt
Advisors 15.10.20072 4,690,000 - (4,690,000 - 0.514 01.05.2008-
BHAA 14.04.2011
29.11.2010° 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000 0.282 01.12.2010-
30.11.2013
Subtotal 13,690,000 - (4,690,000 9,000,000
bt
Total 298,730,000 - (97,130,000) 201,600,000
st
Notes: Bt 3 -
1. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in the case 1. BREZITEEATRBEHRRIARFTHER AR
of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company's share RZHMBUES T AAE-
capital.
2. The vesting period is six months from the date of acceptance of the offer. 2. FEBMAREMAF L BHRAHEA-
3. The share option is vested immediately on the date of acceptance and the 3. RERENENBBNESRE RN ZEBERE

closing price of the shares immediately the date on which the options were
granted was HK$0.395.

B HaE A2 KT ERE#0.3957T
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SHARE OPTION (Continued)

Notes:

4.

The share option is vested immediately on the date of acceptance and the
closing price of the shares immediately the date on which the options were
granted was HK$0.290.

Mr. Yang and Mr. Yeung were respectively appointed as director of the
Company on 19 December 2011 and then their options were re-classified
from the categories of Consultants and Continuous Contracts Employee,
respectively, to the Category of Directors on the same day.

Mr. Zhu Peifeng was resigned as director of the Company on 16 November
2011 and then his options were re-classified from the category of Directors to
the category of Consultants on the same day.

BRE )

GEE

4.

AERENERB NS RE  MRNN R EERE
B BHAE B Z KM ERER0.2907T
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PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of
contributions to Hong Kong's Mandatory Provident Fund and the
PRC statutory public welfare fund respectively.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Company did not have any connected
transactions which were subject to the requirements of the Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions are set out in note 40 to
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole and any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Board adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time.
All Directors have confirmed their compliance with the required
standard set out in the Model Code during the year ended 31
March 2012.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold, or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2012.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Details of significant events occurring after the reporting period as
set out in note 44 to the consolidated financial statements of this
annual report.
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CHANGES IN THE INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in
the information of Directors of the Company since the date of
Company’s 2011 Interim Report are as follows:

Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus, being an executive director of our
Company, was appointed on 19 October 2011 and 5 March
2012 as an independent non-executive director of China Vehicle
Components Technology Holdings Limited (Stock code: 01269)
and China AU Group Holdings Limited (Stock code: 08176),
respectively.

AUDITOR

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited (the “SHINEWING") will retire
and, being eligible offer, offer themselves for re-appointment in
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. A resolution
for the re-appointment of SHINEWING as auditor of the Company
is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Jin Song
Co-managing and Executive Director

Beijing, 29 June 2012
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has committed to perform a high standard of
corporate governance practices in enhancing the confidence of
shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and business partners
and also the growth of its business. The Company’s corporate
governance practices are based on the principles and the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) as set out in the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices, amended from time to time (the
“CG Code”) contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”). As far as the
CG Code is concerned, during the year and up to the date of this
annual report, the Company complies with all aspect of the Code
Provisions.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) acknowledge their
responsibility for preparation and the true and fair presentation
of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements required by the Listing Rules and Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, amended from time to time. This
responsibility includes designing, implementing and maintaining
internal control relevant to the preparation and the true and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the
circumstances.

(a) Directors’ securities transactions

Adoption of Model Code

The board of directors (the “Board”) has adopted the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers, amended from time to time (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Confirmation on Compliance

Specific respectively enquiry has been made to all the
Directors regarding any non-compliance with the Model
Code during the year ended 31 March 2012 and up to the
date of this annual report, they all confirmed that they
have fully complied with the required standard set out in
the Model Code during the year and up to the date of this
annual report.
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(a)

(b)

Directors’ securities transactions (Continued)

Written Guideline for Relevant Employees

In addition, the Company has also adopted provisions of the
Model Code as written guidelines for relevant employees in
respect of their dealings in the securities of the Company.
Such relevant employees shall abide by the provisions of the
Model Code.

The Board

Composition

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills
and experiences appropriate to the requirements of the
businesses of the Company and to the exercising of
independent, Other than Mr. Yang Shongsheng and Mr.
Yeung Paak Ching are brothers, none of the members of the
Board is related to one another.

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Xu Ruixin (Honourable Chairman)

Mr. Yang Songsheng (Executive Chairman)
(appointed on 19 December 2011)

Dr. Mo Shikang (Chairman)

Mr. Zhang Hesheng (Deputy Chairman)

Mr. Yeung Paak Ching (Co-managing Director)
(appointed on 19 December 2011)

Mr. Jin Song (Co-managing Director)

Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus

Mr. Zhu Peifeng (Deputy Chairman)
(resigned on 16 November 2011)

Independent non-executive directors:
Mr. Tan Qinglian

Dr. Liu Junmin

Mr. Sin Ka Man

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on page
23 to page 26 of this annual report.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

Number of Meetings Held and Attendance

The Board normally has four (4) scheduled meetings a year
and meets at other times as and when required to review
financial, internal control, risk management, company
strategy and operating performance of the Group. During
the year ended 31 March 2012, a total number of fourteen
(14) Board meetings, two (2) Audit Committee meetings
and three (3) Remuneration Committee meetings were
held. Minutes of these meetings are kept by the Company
Secretary of the Company and are open for inspection by the
Directors.

The individual attendance records of each Director, on a
named basis, at the meetings of the Board, Audit Committee
and Remuneration Committee during the year ended 31
March 2012 are set out below:
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Attendance/Number of
meetings entitled to attend

HER EREEEZEZHE
Audit Remuneration

Board Committee Committee
Name of Directors EEpgg e EREEE FMZEES
Number of Meetings SR8 E 14 2 3
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Xu Ruixin TRImF L 13/14 - -
Mr. Yang Songsheng® BARE A 11 - -
Dr. Mo Shikang Rt ERIE+ 14/14 - 3/3
Mr. Zhang Hesheng oR A A S A 14/14 - 3/3
Mr. Yeung Paak Ching™ BETEED 1/1 = =
Mr. Jin Song AL £ 14/14 - -
Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus RERFE 14/14 = =
Mr. Zhu Peifeng®? RIBR AP 12/12 - -
Independent Non-executive BIYFHITES

Directors

Mr. Tan Qinglian EERLA 14/14 2/2 3/3
Dr. Liu Junmin FHREL 14/14 212 3/3
Mr. Sin Ka Man TR E 14/14 2/2 3/3
Notes: B 2 -

(1) Mr. Yang Songsheng and Mr. Yeung Paak Ching were appointed as

director of the Company on 19 December 2011.
(2) Mr. Zhu Peifeng resigned as director of the Company on 16 November
2011.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

Responsible of the Board

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the
Board and delegated to the management. The Board
provides leadership and approves strategic polices and
plans with a view to enhance shareholders’ interests while
the day-to-day operations of the Company are delegated
to the management. The Board has full support of the co-
managing Directors and the management to discharge its
responsibilities.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular
those may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters.

Responsible of the Directors

Each executive Director is delegated individual responsibility
to oversee and monitor the operations of the specific
business unit and to implement the strategies and polices
set by the Board. Each Director may seek for independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expenses, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company are delegated to the co-managing Directors
and the management. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered
into by the above mentioned officers.

Annual Confirmation from Independent Non-Executive
Directors

The Company has received, from each independent
non-executive Directors, an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Board considers all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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(b) The Board (Continued)

(c)

Terms of Non-Executive Directors

Each independent non-executive Directors of the Company
has entered into a services contract with the Company for
specific term of 3 years, but subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Role of Chairman

The Company fully supports the division of responsibility
between the Chairman of the Board and the co-managing
Directors, who perform similar role as chief executive officer,
to ensure a balance of power and authority. The respective
responsibilities of the Chairman and the co-managing
Directors are clearly defined and set out in writing. The
Chairman provides leadership and is responsible for the
effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practice. With the support
of the management, the Chairman is also responsible for
ensuring that the Directors receive adequate information and
appropriate briefing on issues arising at Board meetings. The
position of the Chairman is held by Dr. Mo Shikang.

Role of Chief Executive Officer

The managing Director focuses on implementing objectives,
policies and strategies approved and delegated by the
Board. He is in charge of the Company’s day-to-day
management and operations. The managing Director is also
responsible for developing strategic plans and formulating
the organizational structure, control systems and internal
procedures and processes for the Board’s approval. The
position of the managing Director is currently co-held by Mr.
Yeung Paak Ching and Mr. Jin Song, Mr. Yeung and Mr. Jin is
responsible for lottery agency business and gas fuel business,
respectively.
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(d) ¥HEES

(d) Remuneration Committee

The Board has established a remuneration committee (“RC")
with written terms of reference (amended from time to time)
as suggested under the Code Provision under the Code. The
RC comprises the following five members:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman of RC (Independent Non-
executive Director)

(i) Dr. Mo Shikang (executive Director)

(iii)  Mr. Zhang Hesheng (executive Director)

(iv)  Mr. Tan Qinglian (independent non-executive Director)
(v)  Dr. Liu Junmin (independent non-executive Director)

The RC meets at least once a year to determine the
remuneration policy for the Directors and senior
management. During the year ended 31 March 2012, a
total number of three (3) meeting were held to determine
the remuneration policy, bonus and/or share option for the
Directors and/or senior management. The attendance records
of the RC, on a named basis, are set out under section of
“Number of Meetings Held and Attendance” under the
Corporate Governance Report, on page 45, of this annual
report.

The RC has primary responsibility for making recommendations
on and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and senior
management to the board of Directors (“the Board"”) after
consultation with the Chairman/co-managing Director and
accessed to professional advice, at the Company’s expenses,
when necessary. The major responsibilities of the RC are:

(1) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing remuneration policy;

(2) to review and approve the management'’s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board’s corporate goals
and objectives;
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(d) Remuneration Committee (Continued)

3)

(8)

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive
Directors and senior management; which include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration of non-executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management for any
loss or termination of office or appointment to ensure
that it is consistent with contractual terms and is
otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate; and

to ensure that no director or any of his/her associates is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the year, the Board approved all the recommendations
of the RC. Details of the amount of Directors’ emoluments
during the year ended 31 March 2012 are set out in note
11(a) to the consolidated financial statements of this annual
report.
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(e) Audit Committee (e) BEXZEE

The Board has established an audit committee (“AC") with
written terms of reference (amended from time to time) as
suggested under the Code Provision under the Code. The
AC comprises the following three members, all independent
non-executive Directors:

(i)  Mr. Sin Ka Man, chairman of AC
(i) Mr. Tan Qinglian
(i)~ Dr. Liu Junmin

The AC meets at least twice a year to review and approve
the Group's financial reporting process and internal control
system. During the year ended 31 March 2012, a total
number of two (2) meetings were held. The attendance
records of the AC, on a named basis, are set out under
section of “Number of Meetings Held and Attendance”
under the Corporate Governance Report, on page 45, of this
annual report.

The duties of the AC are:
Relationships with the Company’s auditor

(1) to be primarily responsible for making recommendation
to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and
removal of the external auditor, and to approve the
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and to consider any questions of resignation or
dismissal;

(2) to review and monitor the external auditor’s
independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable
accounting standards;

(3) to discuss with the external auditor before the audit
commences, the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations;

(4) to ensure co-ordination where more than one audit
firm is involved;
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(e) Audit Committee (Continued)

(5) to develop and implement policy on the engaging of an
external auditor to supply non-audit services.

Review of the Company'’s financial information

To monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
significant financial reporting judgements contained in them.
In reviewing these reports before submission to the Board,
the AC shall focus particularly on:

(1) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(2) major judgemental areas;

(3) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(4) going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(5) compliance with accounting standards; and

(6) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal
requirements in relation to financial reporting.
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(e) Audit Committee (Continued)

In regard to the above:—

(i)  members of the AC should liaise with the Board,
senior management and the AC must meet, at
least twice a year with the Company’s auditor;
and

(i)  the AC shall consider any significant or unusual
items that are, or may need to be, reflected
in the report and accounts, it should give due
consideration to any matters that have been
raised by the Company's staff responsible for the
accounting and financial reporting, compliance
officer or auditor, as well as the Company’'s
procedures;

Oversight of the Company’ s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures

(1

(2)

to review the Company’s financial controls, internal
control and risk management system;

to discuss the internal control system with
management to ensure that management has
performed its duties to have any effective internal
control system. The discussion should include the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function;

to consider major investigation findings on internal
control matters as delegated by the Board or on its
own initiative and management’s response to these
findings;

where an internal audit function exists, to ensure co-
ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and to ensure that the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing
within the Company, and to review and monitor its
effectiveness;

to review the Group's financial and accounting policies
and practices;

to review the external auditor's management letter, any
material queries raised by the auditor to management
about accounting records, financial accounts or
systems of control and management'’s response;
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(e) Audit Committee (Continued)

@)

(11)

(12)

to ensure that the Board will provide a timely
response to the issues raised in the external auditor’s
management letter;

to report to the Board on the matters set out herein
and, in particular, the matters required to be performed
by the AC under the Code;

to consider other topics, as defined by the Board,;

to review arrangements employees of the Company
can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or
other matters, and to ensure that proper arrangements
are in place for fair and independent investigation of
these matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
Company’s relations with the external auditor; and

to discuss problems and reservations arising from
the interim and final audits and any matters the
auditor may wish to discuss (in the absence of the
management where necessary).

Independence of external auditor

(1

(2)

to consider all relationships between the Company and
the audit firm (including non-audit services);

to obtain from the audit firm annually, information
about policies and processes for maintaining
independence and monitoring compliance with
relevant requirements, including those for rotation of
audit partners and staff;

to meet with the auditor, at least annually, in the
absence of management, to discuss matters relating to
its audit fees, any issues arising from the audit and any
other matters the auditor may wish to raise;

to agree with the Board the Company’s policies
on hiring employees or former employees of the
external auditor and monitoring the application of
these policies. The AC shall then be in a position to
consider whether there has been or appears to be any
impairment of the auditor’s judgment or independence
for the audit;
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(e) Audit Committee (Continued)

(e)

to ensure that an external auditor’s provision of non-
audit services does not impair its independence or
objectivity. When assessing the external auditor’s
independence or objectivity in relation to non-audit
services, the AC may wish to consider:—

(1)  whether the skills and experience of the audit
firm make it a suitable supplier of non-audit
services;

(2)  whether there are safeguards in place to ensure
that there is no threat to the objectivity and
independence of the audit because the external
auditor provides non-audit services;

(3) the nature of the non-audit services, the related
fee levels and fee levels individually and in total
relative to the audit firm; and

(4) criteria for compensation of the individuals
performing the audit.

Review of the continued connected party transactions of the
Group as disclosed in the annual report and confirm that
those transactions entered into by the Group were:

(1

(2)

3)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

on arm’s length basis, on normal commercial terms
and on terms that are fair and reasonable as far as the
shareholders of the Company are concerned; and

in accordance with the terms of the agreements
governing such transactions.

The Group's annual results for the year ended 31 March
2012 have been reviewed by the AC.
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(e) Audit Committee (Continued) (e) BEXZEEE (&)
Auditor’s Remuneration BREMM S
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the fee paid/payable HZE201263A31H IEFE - gtz &AM
to auditor in respect of audit service and non-audit services RNE&EEIR M 2 ZE R K IEZ EURTE FT
provided by the auditor to the Group were as follows: XNz BRHEINMT
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
Nature of services AR & BET T BT T
Audit for the year FEEZ 2,090 1,900
Other Hth, 360 -
2,450 1,900
Nomination Committee (f) REZES

(f)

The Board established an nomination Committee (“NC")
with terms of reference as suggested under the Code
provision under the Code on 1 April 2012. The NC comprises
the following four members. Major of them are independent
non-executive Directors:

(i)  Dr. Mo Shikang, Chairman of NC (executive Director)

(i)

Dr. Liu Junmin (independent non-executive Director)

(iii)

Mr. Tam Qinglian (independent non-executive Director)

(iv)

Mr. Sin Ka Man (independent non-executive Director)
The duties of the NC are as follows:—

(1) review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
at least annually and make recommendations any

proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board
members and select or make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors; and
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Corporate Governance Report
EREIBHRS

(f)

(9)

(h)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

(4) make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for directors in particular the
chairman and the chief executive.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibilities for the system of
internal controls of the Company and for reviewing its
effectiveness. The Board is committed to implementing an
effective and sound internal controls system to safeguard
the interests of shareholders and the assets of the Group.
During the year, the Board, through the AC, has reviewed
the implementation of the system of internal controls and
reviewing of all relevant financial, operational, compliance
controls and risk management functions. A review will be
conducted at least annually on the effectiveness of the
system of internal controls.

Investor Relation

The Company is committed to maintain an open and
effective investor relation policy and to update investors
on relevant information/developments in a timely manner,
subject to relevant regulatory requirements. Briefings
and meetings with institutional investors and analysts are
conducted from time to time. The Company also replied the
enquiries from shareholders timely. The Directors host the
annual general meeting each year to meet the shareholders
and answer their enquiry.

The Company’s website at www.681hk.com contains
important corporate information, biographical details
of Directors, organisation structure, annual and interim
reports, major historical developments with comprehensive
and user-friendly information about the Group, as well as
announcements and circulars issued by the Company in
order to enable the Company’s shareholders and the investor
community to have timely access to updated information
about the Company and the Group.

(f)

(9)

(h)

REZEE (#)
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SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
43/F., The Lee Gardens

fekspda

Shine‘ZOan

33 Hysan Avenue
Causeway Bay, Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CHINESE PEOPLE HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chinese
People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 59 to 167, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 March 2012, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BB RS

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a
true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March
2012 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Pang Wai Hang

Practising Certificate Number: P05044

Hong Kong
29 June 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeZEBAER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & ZE2012F3A318 L FfE

2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Turnover EER 7 1,119,002 853,868
Cost of sales and services HE MRS A A (825,758) (624,119)
Gross profit FEAH 293,244 229,749
Other operating income H b 48 A 9 19,764 15,601
Administrative expenses TEAX (198,496) (136,626)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - BE L&A RTER
plant and equipment and ez =
prepaid lease payments 422 52,720
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEAHITESMEE ZEE
financial assets - (64,426)
Equity-settled share-based payments iR AR D RBER 2T - (16,618)
Share of results of associates i Rl/NI E 10,086 137
Finance costs B 75 AR 12 (5.277) (4,017)
Re-measurement of interest in an REBEHFKE SRR 2 E
associate to fair value on business HIZARNBEENGT=
combination 38 235,663 -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRR 2K 39 - 1,361
Impairment loss recognised in respect =@t E 5 M H i JE U 5k 1B #E R
of trade and other receivables 2 REEE (6,250) (6,406)
Profit before tax B 156 A 4 A1 349,156 71,475
Income tax expenses i8R 2 13 (43,728) (23,832)
Profit for the year NF [E % A 10 305,428 47,643
Other comprehensive income KEEHME2EKA (BX)
(expense) for the year
Exchange differences arising on BRESRIINEBEXZERE
translation of foreign operations % 36,583 33,453
Exchange reserve realised HEME R RRZIRER # B
on disposal of subsidiaries - (584)
Loss on fair value changes of At EsmEEARBEY
available-for-sale financial assets g} (2) (1,929)
Release of investment valuation HEAHRBESREEZIRE
reserve upon disposal of 1l (B & AR BR
available-for-sale financial assets - 64,348
Other comprehensive income for REFEMDEEA
the year 36,581 95,288
Total comprehensive income for AEEETEKRABE
the year 342,009 142,931




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FeRZEARE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

2012 2011
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 5E BT T BT T
Profit for the year attributable to: THI ML 2 R E R -
Owners of the Company VN/NEIEZ RSN 296,815 45,639
Non-controlling interests FEER 8,613 2,004
305,428 47,643
Total comprehensive income TH MGz 2 AR ABEE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RAGHEA A 329,828 138,282
Non-controlling interests RS 12,181 4,649
342,009 142,931
HK cents HK cents
AL ol
Earnings per share T W& A

- basic and diluted —E AR #E 16 5.84 1.12




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FeEMBRRER

At 31 March 2012 7201243 HA31H

2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 BET T BT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment W BB k&G 17 884,260 738,370
Investment properties wWEME 18 26,825 8,621
Prepaid lease payments ENEE 19 49,870 27,916
Goodwill Bk 20 138,301 95,114
Intangible assets mVEE 21 869,980 101,714
Interests in associates REEE R AR 22 38,811 89,733
Available-for-sale financial assets AN ECHEE 24 83,961 6,746
Deposit paid for acquisition of WERHAKREENIES
long-term investment 24 - 41,489
Deposit paid for acquisition of EEME BB R&ENA
property, plant and equipment LEMHEeEMIES
and prepaid lease payments 24,912 20,104
2,116,920 1,129,807
Current assets mENEE
Inventories "E 25 47,854 34,777
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E bW FE 26 168,265 230,085
Other loan to a shareholder of an HENRIRE CHMER
associate 27 - 43,050
Amount due from a joint venturer R —EEERE
/&I HIA 28 - 24,230
Amount due from an associate JE U — R B 28 B RUE 22 1,032 474
Prepaid lease payments FEREE 19 1,224 767
Held-to-maturity investments FHEZIHEE 29 40,554 35,562
Pledged bank deposits BHEFEITER 30 5,390 8,228
Bank balances and cash RITHEB KRR ® 30 349,734 262,763
614,053 639,936
Current liabilities nEEaE
Trade and other payables B 5 K E b 58 31 316,650 277,575
Tax liabilities MIBBE 55,936 55,313
Amount due to a director R —RESHNIEAE 32 3,833 -
Amount due to a joint venturer ERN—EEERE
G %A NIE 28 28 12,885
Amounts due to associates FE éﬁ*é’& FRIA 22 1 11,851
Amount due to a shareholder of e — é"ﬁ‘é’& Az
an associate —%Hx%mlﬁ 27 - 23,708
Bank borrowings — due within —FREHZRITES
one year 33 66,920 21,693
443,368 403,025
Net current assets mEEEFE 170,685 236,911

2,287,605 1,366,718




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

& B35 K &

At 31 March 2012 7201243 HA31H

2012 2011
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
M =E BEET T BT T
Capital and reserves AR A K 7% 1
Share capital % S 35 406,697 285,756
Reserves G 1,341,816 797,750
Equity attributable to owners of KRARHRE AEGER
the Company 1,748,513 1,083,506
Non-controlling interests IR = 81,760 71,049
Total equity HARE A 1,830,273 1,154,555
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings — —FRIBZBITEE
due after one year 33 217,635 192,604
Amount due to a director i —REEHRIE 32 27,714 -
Deferred tax liabilities EIETIE B 34 211,983 19,559
457,332 212,163
2,287,605 1,366,718

The consolidated financial statements on pages 59 to 167 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29
June 2012 and are signed on its behalf by:

Dr. Mo Shikang
Director

EtEEL
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RREBE:

Mr. Jin Song

Director
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At 1 April 2010

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

Appropriations

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Contribution from non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payments

Effect on share options lapsed

At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive (expense)
income for the year

Total comprehensive (expense) income
for the year

Issue of consideration shares
(Note 38)

Appropriations

Dividends paid to non-controlling
interests of subsidiaries

Effect on share options lapsed

At31 March 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HeEQEDR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

Retained  Attributable
Surplus profits to owners Non-
Share Share Capital ~ Contributed reserve Capital compensation Exchange  (accumulated ofthe  controlling
capital  premium reserve surplus fund  contribution reserve losses) ~ Company interests Total
REEH ADTREA
RE  ROER  KABR  MABR BRARE ARG Eifif (RHER)  BERE  FERER i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
BT BETR BETn BT #ETr BETR BT BETn EETr BEfn AETR
(Note 3) (Note b) (Note )
(Wita) (M) (Mo

285,756 615,523 2,182 89,800 20,017 7482 107,004 (172,493 928,606 64,041 992,647
- - - - - - - 45,639 45,639 2,004 47,643

- - - - - - 30,224 - 92,643 2,645 95,288

- - - - - - 30,224 45,639 138,282 4,649 142,931

- - - - 8,867 - - 88) - - -

- - - - - - - - - (1,245) (1,245)

- - - - - - - - - 3,604 3,604

- - - - - - - - 16,618 - 16,618

- - - - - - - 90 - - -
285,756 615,523 2,182 89,800 28,884 7482 2 137,228 (106,702) 1,083,506 71,049 1,154,555
- - - - - - - 296,815 296,815 8,613 305428

- - - - - - (i 33,015 - 33013 3,568 36,581

- - - - - - (i 3015 29815 329828 12,181 342,009
120,941 214,238 - - - - - - 335179 - 335179
- - - - 20,920 - - (20,920) - - -

- _ - - N - - - - (1,470) (1,470)

- - - - - - - 6,260 - - -
406,697 829,761 2,182 89,800 49,804 7482 1 170,243 175453 1,748513 81,760  1,830273




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GeEREDE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

Notes:

(a)

The amount represents a revaluation surplus which was recognised as a
result of the acquisition of an additional interest in Xin Hua Resources
Investment Limited (“Xin Hua”) (previously an associate) which resulted in
Xin Hua becoming a subsidiary. Xin Hua was deregistered in year 2006 and
its assets and liabilities were transferred to the Company.

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between
the nominal value of the Company’s share capital issued as consideration in
exchange for the nominal value of the issued share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired at the time of the Company’s listing in 1997.

As stipulated by the relevant laws and regulations for foreign investment
enterprises in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"), the Company’s
PRC subsidiaries are required to maintain a statutory surplus reserve fund
and a discretionary surplus reserve fund, which are non-distributable.
Appropriations to such reserves are made out of profit after taxation of
the statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries while the amount
and allocation basis are decided by their board of directors annually. The
statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up their prior years
losses, if any, and can be applied in conversion into capital by means of
capitalisation issue.

B EE

Z & FEERUWHEXin Hua Resources Investment
Limited ([Xin Hual) (REEER ZEE AR))5E
SMER (B EXin Huabk A% BB A R]) iR
2 EfE AR - Xin HuaD A 2006F 518l  HEENME
BEEEBEAQA-

REBZHBABKERRARAUEARERER
1997F E MR FTIREE 2 M B A R 2 B #4TIRAM
BOIZARRRAEE BZEWNBLAEEHTR
REBEZERE

M E ARKME ([FE])IIEDEZBEE
BREPIFMBRE AR B Z BB R RAERE
TEEBAEEREIZREARIAES (BTADIK) -
ZERBBARE T BB R RAESBHRET
ZBBREN  MeE ko REERRZEHEL
REEEEFEE - ACRBRAES U REMREZ
EHBEARBEFEZER(MA) YAEEE
AeBETEBRRBRA -



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ﬁ' iﬂﬁlllb;i

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & ZE2012F3A318 L FfE

2012 2011
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT
Operating activities RETE
Profit before tax B ¢ A 4 A 349,156 71,475
Adjustments for: HTHIEEEHAE:
Re-measurement of interest in F%ﬁ%/\fﬁﬁﬁi—rﬂ? /N d
an associate to fair value on Ex= E’&fﬂﬁi%ﬁﬁ%
business combination 38 (235,663) -
Share of results of associates FE(RE & N R ¥EE (10,086) (137)
Interest income FLEMA (5,855) (5,541)
Dividend income &% B A (198) (491)
Gain on fair value changes of REMEIREEH W
investment properties (2,036) (1,281)
Reversal of impairment loss ERE S R EMEKFKIE
recognised in respect of trade MR 2 R EE B
and other receivables (399) (146)
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE- JFﬁbE%& 5 A K2
plant and equipment and AN S W
prepaid lease payments (422) (52,720)
Amortisation of intangible assets BiEEEEE 20,887 4,300
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BERRETE
equipment 33,336 24,170
Impairment loss recognised ERE 5 & E &K KIE
in respect of trade and other R ZBEGE
receivables 6,250 6,406
Finance costs B 7% B AN 5,277 4,017
Amortisation of prepaid lease BiEENEe
payments 826 719
Impairment loss recognised in ERFERRZBEEIE
respect of inventories 551 654
Loss on disposal of HEAHTESHEE Y
available-for-sale financial assets 18 - 64,426
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENBRE 2 Wa=E 39 - (1,361)
Equity-settled share-based NEREERD RER 2
payments (NS - 16,618
Operating cash flows before LEEEHH o LERD
movements in working capital mE 161,624 131,108
Increase in inventories FEHEM (12,681) (7,499)
Decrease (increase) in trade and é’%&ﬁ@ﬁ’%%?ﬂﬁﬁ??
other receivables (1&n) 204,362 (66,198)
(Decrease) increase in trade and B 5 &AM EMRIE
other payables OB A ) 18 (61,979) 83,896
Cash generated from operations KEEBREARS 291,326 141,307
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EMSH (49,909) (23,074)
Net cash generated from operating KEEBEARS FHE

activities 241,417 118,233




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ﬁ' iﬂﬁlllb;i

For the year ended 31 March 2012 EZE2012F3A318-FE

2012 2011
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 BETT BT
Investing activities BREEH
Purchase of property, plant and BEVE BELKE
equipment (136,377) (109,511)
Payment for acquisition of TR ESREE
available-for-sale financial assets (33,959) (41,489)
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEWME BELEZEREN
property, plant and equipment and e ke
prepaid lease payments (22,288) (19,906)
Purchase of prepaid lease payments BEBEMES (19,580) (532)
Purchase of held-to-maturity investments & = 1 8 & 5| 5i4% & (15,976) (35,562)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FEDHEMRITER (5,077) -
Purchase of investment properties BEREME (230) -
Dividend income RN 198 491
Proceed from disposal of property, HEWE  BE REHBBRIA
plant and equipment 933 184
Interest received 2 B 5,855 3,400
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits 2 HU 2 # R 1717 7K 8,217 176
Mature of held-to-maturity investments #5748 = 2| #11% & FI| HA 12,289 -
Net cash inflow from acquisition of WENBAREEZRERA
subsidiaries peixaEl 38 18,506 -
Net cash outflow from disposal of HEMB AR ZR &KL FE
subsidiaries 39 - (13,134)
Increase in investment in an associate B A E] 2 R E 1 0 - (23,695)
Advance to an associate i RNETE - (474)
Proceed from disposal of PEAHEESREEMS
available-for-sale financial assets FKIB - 30,074
Net cash used in investing activities WEEETARESFHE (187,489) (209,978)
Financing activities BMEEE )
New bank borrowings raised FrElSHIBITER 84,487 151,672
Advance from a joint venturer BEPEGETBX 25,119 12,885
Dividends paid to non-controlling NFIERREERER 2
interests of subsidiaries Az 2 (1,470) (1,245)
Repayment of other loans EBEEMER (2,433) (3,743)
Repayment to a joint venturer BETFTHeERESZEH
Z A (13,330) -
Interest paid 2 F 8 (16,767) (13,820)
Repayment of bank borrowings EERITER (22,093) (148,680)
(Repayment to) advance from a —MEE A —BREZ
shareholder of an associate (BR) 2R (24,348) 23,708
Contribution from non-controlling B AR FEIERERTE
interests of subsidiaries - 3,604
Advance from associates BN R Z B - 462
Net cash generated from financing MEETHEERS FE
activities 29,165 24,843
Net increase (decrease) in Be MR & FEAE BN
cash and cash equivalents () F58 83,093 (66,902)
Cash and cash equivalents at FMHReRBESFEIER
beginning of the year 262,763 316,191
Effect of foreign currency rate changes 4MNEE[E R &2 8 57 £ 3,878 13,474
Cash and cash equivalents at FHRASRESFEIER
end of the year, represented by BiR1T#E R IR &
bank balances and cash 349,734 262,763




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

GENERAL INFORMATION

Chinese People Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
is an exempted company with limited liability incorporated
in Bermuda on 13 November 1996. On 24 April 1997,
the Company’s shares were listed on the main board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the section headed “Corporate Information” of the Annual
Report.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries principally engage in the sale and distribution of
natural gas and liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG") (collectively
referred to as “Gas Fuel”) including the sale of LPG in bulk
and in cylinders, the provision of piped LPG and natural
gas, construction of gas pipelines, the operation of city gas
pipeline network and lottery agency sales in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC").

The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) is Renminbi
("RMB"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise
indicated. The reason for selecting HK$ as its presentation
currency is because the Company is a public company
incorporated in Bermuda with the shares listed on the Stock
Exchange, where most of its investors are located in Hong
Kong.
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MANBEHRBRESMR L AEREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and revised standards, amendments and interpretations
("new and revised HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
that are mandatorily effective for the Group's financial year
ended 31 March 2012.

Amendments to HKFRSs Improvements to HKFRSs

issued in 2010

Amendement to HKFRS 1 Limited Exemptions from
Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time
Adopters

Hong Kong Accounting Related Party Disclosures
Standards ("HKAS") 24 (as
revised in 2009)

Amendment to HK(IFRIC) —
Interpretations (“Int”) 14

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement

HK(IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial
Liabilities with Equity

Instruments

Except as described below, the application of the above new
and revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material
effect on the Group's financial performance and positions
for the current or prior accounting periods and/or disclosures
set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements (as part of improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2010)

The amendments to HKAS 1 clarify that an entity may
choose to disclose an analysis of other comprehensive
income by item in the statement of changes in equity or in
the notes to the financial statements. In the current year, for
each component of equity, the Group has chosen to present
such an analysis in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Such adoption had no impact to the disclosures in
these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business Combination
(as part of improvements to HKFRSs issued in
2010)

As part of improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010, HKFRS
3 was amended to clarify that the measurement choice
regarding non-controlling interests at the date of acquisition
is only available in respect of non-controlling interests
that are present ownership interests and that entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net assets in
the event of liquidation. All other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition-date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required by other
standards.

Such amendments to HKFRS 3 have been applied in the
current year and have affected the accounting for the
acquisition of subsidiaries in the current year. The non-
controlling interests were measured at their acquisition-date
fair value at the date of acquisition of those subsidiaries.

HKAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (as revised in
2009)

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has been revised on the
following two aspects: (a) HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) has
changed the definition of a related party and (b) HKAS 24
(as revised in 2009) introduces a partial exemption from the
disclosure requirements for government-related entities.

The Company and its subsidiaries are not government-
related entities. The application of the revised definition of
related party set out in HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) in the
current year has not resulted in the identification of related
parties that were not identified as related parties under the
previous standard.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendment to HKFRS

Amendment to HKFRS 1

HKFRS 1 (Revised)

Amendments to HKFRS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 7

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12
HKFRS 13

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 12
HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)

Annual Improvements 2009 —

2011 Cycle*

Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-time Adopters'

First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting
Standards*

First-time Adoption of Hong
Kong Financial Reporting
Standards — Government
Loans*

Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets’

Disclosures — Offsetting
Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

Mandatory Effective Date
of HKFRS 9 and Transition
Disclosures®

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial
Statements*
Joint Arrangements*

Disclosure of Interests in
Other Entities*
Fair Value Measurement*

Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive
Income?®

Deferred Tax — Recovery of
Underlying Assets?

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial
Statements*
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011) Investments in Associates and
Joint Ventures*

Offsetting Financial Assets
and Financial Liabilities®

Stripping Costs in the
Production Phase of a
Surface Mine*

Amendments to HKAS 32

HK(IFRIC) — Int 20

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
E Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

The directors of the Company ("Directors") anticipates that
the application of the new and revised HKFRSs, other than
set out below, will have no material impact on the results
and the financial position of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 7 Disclosures — transfers
of financial assets

The amendments to HKFRS 7 increase the disclosure
requirements for transactions involving transfers of financial
assets. These amendments are intended to provide greater
transparency around risk exposures when a financial asset
is transferred but the transferor retains some level of
continuing exposure in the asset. The amendments also
require disclosures where transfers of financial assets are not
evenly distributed throughout the period.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the
amendments to HKFRS 7 will affect the Group's disclosures
regarding transfers of financial assets in the future.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 32 offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities and amendments to
HKFRS 7 Disclosures — offsetting financial assets
and financial liabilities

The amendments to HKAS 32 clarify existing application
issues relating to the offsetting requirements. Specifically,
the amendments clarify the meaning of “currently has a
legally enforceable right of set-off” and “simultaneous
realisation and settlement”.

The amendments to HKFRS 7 require entities to disclose
information about rights of offset and related arrangements
(such as collateral posting requirements) for financial
instruments under an enforceable master netting agreement
or similar arrangement.

The amended offsetting disclosures are required for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 and interim
periods within those annual periods. The disclosures should
also be provided retrospectively for all comparative periods.
However, the amendments to HKAS 32 are not effective until
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014, with
retrospective application required.

HKFRS 9 financial instruments

Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are within
the scope of HKAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement” are subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments
that are held within a business model whose objective is to
collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. All other debt investments and equity investments
are measured at their fair values at the end of subsequent
accounting periods. The Directors anticipate that HKFRS 9
that will be adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ending 31 March 2016, and the
application of the new standard may have an impact on
the amounts reported in respect of the Group's available-
for-sale investments which are currently stated at cost
less impairment and will be measured at fair value upon
adoption.

2.

BEBETTERE325% (BFTA) E &
THEENRSRAEREBUBRE
ERE7H (BRIRN)RE-EETH
EERERMEE

SRFERIFE325 (BRI A) BB EE
fﬁ%ﬁmﬁﬁﬁziﬁ*ﬁ_ﬁ%)ﬂﬁ% HAEms -
ZIERTES [RRHA AR LA &b
TeREREI RIREERRERE] 2&
e

BARVBRELENETR (BIIX)REE
RBEEAAARGIERIT IR —FRE
@R TR TAZRKE
B EE R E (ERmERR
E)BBZER-

H2013F 1 A1H Sk 2 % Fn < FE HH
FZEFERB P ERBREMAEEDL
1BETIRH IR FE - B E MBI B L&
BB PIEL - AT BB S ERIE32
R ({BETAN) ¥ 720145E1 B1 B 2 45
Wz FEBRMBITES BAERPIE
)EHO

BERMBHREENFINREMIA

RIBB BT ERE LD BREE
R EAFEIGR [ T A R KR
EIBBEAZBECHALHEE Hi%
HIRBHEKAK AR EFE - LHE &
FMERAFAEMEMNARBENEESR
EZEBRE UREAINAE RKE
BARGHEBZENRSRECEBHBERE
— R RE B S 5T B AR RS R S K
RErE-FBEMEBKIRE KRR EY
REZSHHHERBIZARBEFE &
LR BB REERFSF AL
EEHZE2016F3A831BILFE 2G40
TETRER P ERAN - LA N FRRZ FT £ R A RE
MAEEZAHEEREMERIESHE
EREE  ZeEEREEAARR AR
MRARREBZRARETE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

HKFRS 9 financial instruments (Continued)

The most significant effect of HKFRS 9 regarding the
classification and measurement of financial liabilities relates
to the presentation of changes in the fair value of a financial
liability (designated as at fair value through profit or loss)
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability.
Specifically, under HKFRS 9, for financial liabilities that are
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the amount
of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability's credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability's credit risk are not
subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Previously, under
HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the fair value
of the financial liability designated as at fair value through
profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of HKFRS 9
in the future may have significant impact on amounts
reported in respect of the Group's financial assets and
financial liabilities. However it is not practicable to provide a
reasonable estimate of that effect until a detailed review has
been completed.

New and revised standards on consolidation, joint
arrangements, associates and disclosures

In June 2011, a package of five standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures was issued,
including HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2011) and HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011).
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

Key requirements of these five standards are described
below.

HKFRS 10 replaces the parts of HKAS 27 “Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements” that deal with consolidated
financial statements and HK(SIC)-Int 12 “Consolidation
— Special Purpose Entities”. HKFRS 10 includes a new
definition of control that contains three elements: (a) power
over an investee, (b) exposure, or rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee, and (c) the ability
to use its power over the investee to affect the amount of
the investor’s returns. Extensive guidance has been added in
HKFRS 10 to deal with complex scenarios.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 “Interests in Joint Ventures”
and HK (SIC)-Int 13 "Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-
Monetary Contributions by Venturers”. HKFRS 11 deals
with how a joint arrangement of which two or more parties
have joint control should be classified. Under HKFRS 11,
joint arrangements are classified as joint operations or joint
ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the
parties to the arrangements. In contrast, under HKAS 31,
there are three types of joint arrangements: jointly controlled
entities, jointly controlled assets and jointly controlled
operations.

In addition, joint ventures under HKFRS 11 are required to
be accounted for using the equity method of accounting,
whereas jointly controlled entities under HKAS 31 can
be accounted for using the equity method of accounting
or proportionate accounting. HKFRS 12 is a disclosure
standard and is applicable to entities that have interests
in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and/or
unconsolidated structured entities. In general, the disclosure
requirements in HKFRS 12 are more extensive than those in
the current standards.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and
HKAS 28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11
and HKFRS 12.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and revised standards on consolidation,
joint arrangements, associates and disclosures
(Continued)

These five standards are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013. Earlier application
is permitted provided that all of these five standards are
applied early at the same time.

The Directors anticipate that these five standards will be
adopted in the Group’s consolidated financial statements for
the annual period beginning 1 April 2013. The application
of these five standards will have significant impact on
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements.
The application of HKFRS 11 will result in changes in the
accounting of the Group's jointly controlled entities that are
currently accounted for using proportionate consolidation.
Under HKRFS 11, those jointly controlled entities will be
classified as a joint operation or joint venture, depending
on the rights and obligations of the policies to the joint
arrangement. However, the Directors have not yet performed
a detailed analysis of the application of these standards and
hence have yet quantified the extent of the impact.

HKFRS 13 fair value measurement

HKFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for
fair value measurements and disclosures about fair value
measurements. The standard defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value, and requires disclosures
about fair value measurements. The scope of HKFRS 13 is
broad; it applies to both financial instrument items and non-
financial instrument items for which other HKFRSs require or
permit fair value measurements and disclosures about fair
value measurements, except in specified circumstances. In
general, the disclosure requirements in HKFRS 13 are more
extensive than those in the current standards. For example,
quantitative and qualitative disclosures based on the three-
level fair value hierarchy currently required for financial
instruments only under HKFRS 7 “Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” will be extended by HKFRS 13 to cover all assets
and liabilities within its scope.
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSS") (Continued)

HKFRS 13 fair value measurement (Continued)

HKFRS 13 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The Directors anticipate that HKFRS 13 will be adopted
in the Group's consolidated financial statements for
the annual period beginning 1 April 2013 and that the
application of the new standard may affect the amounts
reported in the consolidated financial statements and result
in more extensive disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 presentation of items of
other comprehensive income

The amendments to HKAS 1 retain the option to present
profit or loss and other comprehensive income in either
a single statement or in two separate but consecutive
statements. However, the amendments to HKAS 1
require additional disclosures to be made in the other
comprehensive income section such that items of other
comprehensive income are grouped into two categories: (a)
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or
loss; and (b) items that may be reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss when specific conditions are met. Income tax
on items of other comprehensive income is required to be
allocated on the same basis.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2012. The presentation of items
of other comprehensive income will be modified accordingly
when the amendments are applied in the future accounting
periods.

Amendments to HKAS 12 deferred tax - recovery
of underlying assets

The amendments to HKAS 12 titled “Deferred Tax: Recovery
of Underlying Assets” mainly deal with the measurement
of deferred tax for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model in accordance with HKAS 40
“Investment Property”.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 deferred tax - recovery
of underlying assets (Continued)

Based on the amendments, for the purposes of measuring
deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment
properties measured using the fair value model, the carrying
amounts of the investment properties are presumed to be
recovered through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted in
certain circumstances. If the presumption is not rebutted, the
Directors anticipate that the application of the amendments
to HKAS 12 may have material impact on deferred tax
recognised for investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model.

Had the amendments been adopted for the year ended
31 March 2012, the deferred tax liabilities for investment
properties as at 31 March 2012 would have increased by
approximately HK$2,210,000 (2011: HK$1,615,000).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments and investment properties that are measured
at fair values as explained in the accounting policies set out
below. Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
the consideration given in exchange of assets.

Principal accounting policies are set out below.
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from
its activities.

2.

ERAHIREBTEBMBR
HEA(ERYBHREED])
(%)

EBGHERNFE12F (BFTX)EE
BIE-WEHBEE (&)

REZEFEFTA RERAABEEAE
ZEREMEEERBABERELEREAER
EME RFREEE THERARER B
A REMEBREERTAEBLER
B fiREAWER AEFEHERE
BEETERE125 (BRTA) AT A
AAEEAFEZRRENERRZE
ERMBAELERTE -

HELZE 201293 A31 B L FERMZEZE
A1 R2012F3A3MHIEME ZIBELR
TH B F %38 hn 4978 #2,210,0007T (2011
& #H1,615,0007T) ©

FTESTHE

RIFEMBRRNVRRBREEGANAE
B2 BRI REERRBEL - LS K
REMBHRREEBMES LWRA
(TEMRAN) REEDQBHEOIRE 28
PR FE °

AR AVBEBRRTIRIBELRAEER
2HETEMTAMBEMENRAA
B E TSI BT o B SR
—RERBRREESANREZAAR
o

T2 BEEMMT -
REREEXE

ARAVBHRRBEARBRAREFR
2Hl 2B (EMBAR) 2MBHMEK-
ARABERNEE —HERZMBERE
EHRRAERHTISEMNE  AEEA
Bz



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition
or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein.

Allocation of total comprehensive income to non-
controlling interests

Total comprehensive income and expense of a subsidiary is
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. Prior to 1 April 2010,
losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in excess
of the non-controlling interests in the subsidiary’s equity
were allocated against the interests of the Group except to
the extent that the non-controlling interests had a binding
obligation and were able to make an additional investment
to cover the losses.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised
in profit or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or
assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below); and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over
the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-
assessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of
the acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquire (if any),
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase gain.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date
when the Group obtains control), and the resulting gain or
loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where such treatment
would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost less any accumulated impairment losses, if any, and
is presented separately in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period,
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit, and then to
the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment
loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of
an associate is described below.

Investments in subsidiaries

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
accumulated impairment loss. The results of the subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividends
received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investors has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an
interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those
policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of the associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associate.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or
excess its interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group's
new investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf
of that associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities of an associate recognised at the date
of acquisition is recognised as goodwill which is included
within the carrying amount of the investment.

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine
whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with
respect of the Group’s investment in an associate. When
necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value-in-use
and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any
impairment loss recognised forms part of carrying amount
of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is
recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the extent that
the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently
increases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

Upon disposal of an associate that results in the Group
losing significant influence over that associate, any
retained investment is measured at fair value at that date
and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition as a financial asset in accordance with HKAS
39. The difference between the previous carrying amount
of the associate attributable to the retained interest and
its fair value is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group
accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the
same basis as would be required if that associate had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a
gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive
income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or
loss on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the
Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or
loss (reclassification adjustment) when it loses significant
influence over that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses resulting from the transaction with
the associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of interests in the
associate that are not related to the Group.

Interests in joint ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the
Group and other parties undertake an economic activity that
is subject to joint control (i.e. when the strategic financial
and operating policy decisions relating to the activities of the
joint venture require the unanimous consent of the parties
sharing control).

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over
the economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly
controlled entities.

The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled
entities using proportionate consolidation. The Group’s share
of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses of the
jointly controlled entities are combined with the Group's
similar line items, line by line, in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & ZE2012F3A318 L FfE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Interests in joint ventures (Continued)
Jointly controlled entities (Continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the jointly controlled
entities recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill. The goodwill is presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of the Group's
interest in a jointly controlled entity is accounted for in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy for goodwill
arising on the acquisition of a business or a jointly controlled
entity.

Where a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled
entity of the Group, profits or losses are eliminated to the
extent of the Group's interest in the jointly controlled entity.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purpose (other than construction in progress)
are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation
and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is provided to write-off the cost of item of
property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each of the reporting date.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the assets.
Any gain or loss arising on disposal and retirement of an
item of property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measure at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditures. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values using the fair value model. Gains or losses arising
from changes in the fair value of investment property are
included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item
is derecognised.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Intangible assets (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their fair
values can be measured reliably. The cost of such intangible
assets is their fair values at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with finite
useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for
intangible assets with finite useful lives is provided on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
the recognised in profit or loss in the period when the asset
is derecognised.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating lease is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leasehold land for own use

When a lease includes both land and building elements,
the Group assesses the classification of each element as
a finance or an operating lease separately based on the
assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have
been transferred to the Group. Specifically, the minimum
lease payments (including any lump-sum upfront payments)
are allocated between the land and the building elements
in proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold
interests in the land element and building element of the
lease at the inception of the lease. When the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, the entire lease is generally classified as a finance
lease and accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease
payments” in the consolidated statement of financial
position and is amortised over the lease term on a straight-
line basis.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to
sell and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows
have not been adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets other than goodwill (see the accounting
policy in respect of goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised as an expense immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised as income immediately in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and
short-term deposits with a maturity of three months or less.
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term
deposits as defined above.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method.
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the
three categories, including loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets.
The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial
recognition. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis
for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans
and receivables (including trade and other receivables, other
loan to a shareholder of an associate, amount due from
a joint venturer, amount due from an associate, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less
any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on
impairment loss on financial assets below).

FESHBE(£)
SRTH (&)
TREE

AEEzZEREEANDB/AT =
BIE RV ER — R BREER KRR
RE FEZIPRERAHEESRE
E-NBEDNBEBESREEZHEERBNM
EH BRI ERRETE - FAERBE
HHEZEREE  BXHH 2 ELER
RATHER LEBEIHECEREE
EERBMS R IGRE AL —RAR
NETEERNZEMEERER -

B EZE

BRI S RAE 2 R
RIZEEREES RIS MA 2T A B
RIE T3t BRE S WA (REFES
SRR T A BB Rl 2 B A - X
SRR R E A BRI B BMAE Y
EE R KBRS (A E) B
BT M ) B WS 2 SRR 2
kS

BB TAZABWARERA R E LR

B R ERFE

ERREBERELS TR RIER TS
P {8 T B 75 B E 3 AT A8 0E 15 R 2 3R AT
HEEMEE -NBERERER BERREK
FB(BREES R EMEUKIR B R
ARRZEMEN BR—HEELES
BHFEER—RBERRFE 2K
MIRITERARBITESNRS)ERE
R M) 2R O o 8 5 A AN R A 1) BT A RN 2 R
EBERIK(Z2RTXEREREERE
BERZEFHR) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & ZE2012F3A318 L FfE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities that the Group’s management has the positive
intention and ability to hold to maturity. The Group designed
investments in a structured deposit as held-to-maturity
investments. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method, less any identified impairment
losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial
assets below).

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are
not classified as loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period. Changes in fair value are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in investment valuation reserve, until the financial asset
is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which
time, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised and
accumulated in investment revaluation reserve is reclassified
to profit or loss (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period. (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).

Impairment loss on financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment
at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are
considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence
that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after
the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated
future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment below
its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
counterparty; or

. breach of contract, default or delinquency in interest
and principal payments; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

° disappearance of an active market for that financial
market because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the
number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the credit
period of 30 to 90 days (extending to 180 days for major
customers), as well as observable changes in national or
local economic conditions that correlate with default on
receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of
impairment loss is measured at the difference between
the assets’ carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market
rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment
loss will not be reversed in subsequent periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & ZE2012F3A318 L FfE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with
the exception of trade and other receivables, where the
carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance
account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance
account are recognised in profit or loss. When trade and
other receivables are considered uncollectible, it is written
off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through
profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of
the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in the profit or loss in subsequent
periods. Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment
loss is recognised directly in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of
a financial liability and equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting all
of its liabilities.

The Group’s financial liabilities are generally classified into
other financial liabilities.

FESHBX (£)
SWMIA(E)
TREE (&)
PBEAEREEE ()

MESREEZREEREEENER
BEZEFERETELIR HEE S KEM
FEURIR Z FREE R & & BB ERED
R - BERAZREEZESENERD
MR- B8 S hEMEKFIARE S TR
Y a5 - L AS A B R BR R B o 2 BT E
OV RIAIE R - S E R A o

PIREHA AR ERMEEM S - HR
BEEBRBENERIEABMRL  MARRK
LERB LEBRRRERELEZENE
B4 RIStAl O MR 2 RER B EBER
TABR  EZEERNRERERNERZ
REENSBARERRER 2D H#H
AN

AHEENRAKRENREBEE TS
RIATR BFR FE B e B [0 - 1 AR RE SRR (B S
BERORAZEA2AEENNE M2 E
WABREALNKREEGFHERRAT-

TREERRETR
SEERZETHNERABREETIAT

REARZHNEE RS R A A MAE
TEMEERNE-

RETEDERNAEEINRAE AE
BeBEETHAENGES ZERNAR -

AEEzERBE-REIBELSEME
BmAE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & ZE2012F3A318 L FfE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
amounts due to associates, amount due to a joint venturer,
amount due to a director and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and
the cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income because
it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years, and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates and interest in jointly controlled entities, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which
the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax
rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case, the current and deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold and services rendered in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Sales of Gas Fuel (including natural gas and LPG) and gas
appliances are recognised when goods are delivered and title
has passed at which time all the following conditions are
satisfied:

o the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

o the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

° it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

° the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior
to meeting the above criteria on revenue recognition are
included in the consolidated statement of financial position
under current liabilities.

Service income is recognised when the services are rendered.
Gas connection revenue is recognised upon completion of

pipeline construction which according to industry practice in
the region coincides with the “fire ignition ceremony”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Commission income from lottery sales is recognised on
an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the
relevant agreement. Income from lottery business including
lottery ticketing service and other related services is
recognised in the accounting period in which the service is
rendered.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
period of the relevant lease terms.

Dividend income from investments including available-for-
sale financial assets is recognised when the shareholders’
rights to receive payment has been established.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or
loss for the period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 & ZE2012F3A318 L FfE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their
income and expenses are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity (the exchange reserve).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal of
joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of segment
influence over an associate include a foreign operation or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
are treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period. Exchange differences arising are
recognised in the exchange reserve.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Government grants

Government grants are not recorded until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Other government
grants are recognised as revenue over the periods necessary
to match them with the costs for which they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants
that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are charged as
expenses when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees in an equity-
settled share-based payment arrangement

The fair value of services received determined by reference
to the fair value of share options granted at the grant date
is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
with a corresponding increase in equity (“Share-based
compensation reserve”).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to share-based
compensation reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share-based compensation
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are
still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to consultants, agents and
advisors in equity-settled share-based payment
arrangement

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services
are measured at the fair values of the goods or services
received, unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured,
in which case the goods or services received are measured by
reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The
fair values of the goods or services received are recognised
as expenses, with a corresponding increase in equity (share-
based compensation reserve), when the Group obtains the
goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in Note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on the historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the entity’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recongised in the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognised revenue in respect of the connection
and construction of gas pipeline upon the construction of
pipelines for users and connection of such pipelines to the
Group’s existing gas pipeline network, which is concurrent
with the “fire ignition ceremony”.

Held-to-maturity investments

The Directors have reviewed the Group's held-to-maturity
investments in the light of its capital maintenance and
liquidity requirements and have confirmed the Group’s
positive intention and ability to hold those assets to maturity.
The carrying amount of the held-to-maturity investments
was approximately HK$40,554,000 (31 March 2011:
HK$35,562,000). Details of these assets are set out in Note
29.

Legal titles of certain land and buildings

As stated in Notes 17 and 19 respectively, the titles of
certain buildings and a parcel of land were not transferred
to the Group as at 31 March 2012. Despite the fact that
the Group has not obtained the relevant legal titles, the
Directors determine to recognise those buildings and land
use right as property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease
payments, respectively, on the grounds that they expect
the transfer of legal titles in future should have no major
difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling those
buildings and that parcel of land.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments

The Group tests annually whether property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payments have suffered any
impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 3. The recoverable amounts have been determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of estimates such as the future revenue and
discount rates. As at 31 March 2012, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and prepaid lease payments
are approximately HK$884,260,000 (2011: HK$738,370,000)
and HK$51,094,000 (2011: HK$28,683,000).

Estimated impairment of goodwill or intangible
assets

Determining whether goodwill or intangible asset is impaired
requires an estimation of the value-in-use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated or
the intangible asset belongs. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31 March 2012,
the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets are
approximately HK$138,301,000 (2011: HK$95,114,000) and
HK$869,980,000 (2011: HK$101,714,000) respectively. No
impairment loss was recognised for goodwill or intangible
assets in both years.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
and amortisation of intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over their estimated useful lives and after taking
into account the estimated residual value. Intangible assets
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives. The determination of the useful lives and
residual values involve management'’s estimation. The Group
assesses annually the residual value and the useful lives of
the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
and if the expectation differs from the original estimates,
such differences from the original estimates will impact the
depreciation and amortisation in the year and the estimates
will be changed in the future period.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment loss (reversal impairment loss)
recognised in respect of trade and other receivables

The Group makes impairment of trade and other receivables
based on an assessment of the recoverability of receivables.
Impairment loss are applied to trade and other receivables
where events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
balances may not be collectible or when the net present
value of the receivable is less than the carrying amount of
the receivable. The identification of impairment loss requires
the use of judgements and estimates. Where the expectation
on the recoverability of trade and other receivables is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of trade and other receivables
and the impairment in the periods in which such estimate
has been changed. As at 31 March 2012, the carrying
amount of trade and other receivables is approximately
HK$168,265,000 (2011: HK$230,085,000) (net of
impairment losses of trade receivables and other receivables
approximately HK$11,401,000 (2011: HK$6,820,000) and
HK$23,458,000 (2011: HK$25,542,000) respectively). Details
of movement in impairment on trade and other receivables
are set out in Note 26.

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of unlisted available-for-sale financial assets

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the
Group takes into consideration the estimation of future cash
flows. The amount of the impairment loss is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows. As at 31 March
2012, the carrying amount of unlisted equity securities
included in available-for-sale financial assets is approximately
HK$83,907,000 (2011: HK$6,690,000) (net of accumulated
impairment loss of approximately HK$6,796,000 (2011:
HK$6,556,000)).

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of interests in associates

Interests in associates are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable. Value-in-use calculations
are used for assessing the recoverable amount of these
interests. These calculations require use of judgements and
estimates.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment loss recognised in respect
of interests in associates (Continued)

Management judgement is required for assessing impairment
particularly in assessing: (i) whether an event has occurred
that may indicate that the related carrying value of interests
may be not recoverable; and (ii) whether the carrying
value of the interests can be supported by the recoverable
amount. Changing the estimates used by management in
assessing impairment could materially affect the recoverable
amount used in the impairment test and as a result affect
the Group’s consolidated financial position and results of
operations. As at 31 March 2012, the carrying amount of
interests in associates is approximately HK$38,811,000
(2011: HK$89,733,000) (net of accumulated impairment
loss of nil (2011: HK$8,397,000)). No impairment loss is
recognised in respect of interests in associates in both years.

Impairment loss on inventories

The management of the Company reviews the inventories
listing on a product-by-product basis at the end of each
reporting period and makes allowance for slow moving
inventory items. As at 31 March 2012, the carrying
amount of inventories is approximately HK$47,854,000
(2011: HK$34,777,000) (net of allowance approximately
HK$1,205,000 (2011: HK$654,000)). The management
estimates the net realisable value for such items based
primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for certain taxable
temporary differences. Significant management judgement is
required to determine the amount of deferred tax liabilities
that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future planning
strategies. Further details of which are disclosed in Note 34.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, including
bank borrowings, other loans as disclosed in Note 33 and
Note 31 respectively, cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves as disclosed in Note 35 and
the consolidated statement of changes in equity respectively.

The Directors review the capital structure regularly. As part
of the review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and
the risks associated with each class of capital. The Group
monitors capital through the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as total debt divided by total debt and capital.
Total debt includes bank borrowings (including current and
non-current bank borrowings as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position) and other loans. Total capital
includes equity attributable to owners of the Company. The
Group aims to maintain the gearing ratio at a reasonable
level.
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 5. EXEBER(#£)
The gearing ratios at the end of the reporting period were as MERRCERNBELRET :
follows:
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Bank borrowings (Note 33) BITEE (H3:E33) 284,555 214,297
Other loan (Note 31) E B (FE31) - 2,371
Less: Bank balances and cash B RITER MRS (349,734) (262,763)
Net debt FAfE (65,179) (46,095)

Equity attributable to owners and total BEARGERRERRE

capital 1,748,513 1,083,506
Total net debt and capital FRERELRBE 1,683,334 1,037,411
Gearing ratio ERBELE (3.9%) (4.4%)
6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. TETH
(a) Categories of financial instruments ) eMIBEZ9E
The carrying amounts of each of the following NTEENeREELRSRBER
categories of financial assets and financial liabilities at MEMRZEEERNT

the end of the reporting period are set out as follows:

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Financial assets EWMEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AT EEmEE 83,961 6,746
Held-to-maturity investments BFAEZIHIEE 40,554 35,562
Loans and receivables (including Bk ERFIE (BE
cash and cash equivalents) HehIBeEEER) 418,047 479,427
542,562 521,735
Financial liabilities o=
Other financial liabilities stated L SH PR B BR 2

at amortised cost HEthomaE 457,908 378,166
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TRIITHA#E

b) EREABEEERERKRE

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
available-for-sale financial assets, held-to-maturity
investments, trade and other receivables, other loan
to a shareholder of an associate, amount due from
a joint venturer, amount due from an associate,
trade and other payables, amount due to a joint
venturer, amounts due to associates, amount due
to a shareholder of an associate, amount due to a
director, bank borrowings, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances and cash. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (interest rate risk, other price risk and
currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate on other loan (Note 31), other
loan to a shareholder of an associate (Note 27) and
held-to-maturity investments (Note 29). The Group
currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary action when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily
to variable-rate bank deposits (Note 30), and variable-
rate bank borrowings (Note 33). It is the Group's
policy to keep its bank deposits and bank borrowings
at floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair
value interest rate risk.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments at the end of the reporting
period. For variable-rate borrowings, the analysis is
prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding
at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 basis point (2011: 50 basis
point) increase or decrease in interest rate is used
when reporting interest rate risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2011: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax profit for the
year ended 31 March 2012 would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$265,000 (2011: HK$213,000).
This is mainly attributable to the Group's exposure to
interest rates on its variable rate bank deposits and
bank borrowings

Other price risk

The Group was exposed to equity price risk through
its investment in listed equity securities for the years
ended 31 March 2012 and 2011. The management
manages this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk and return profiles. The
Group's equity price risk is mainly concentrated on
equity securities operating in industry sectors quoted in
the Stock Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at the
reporting date.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TWMIHE &)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cRIEAKEEEEREEK (£)

policies (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued) HiEERR (&)

Increase (decrease)
in investment valuation reserve

REMERMEEMNRD)

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT
If equity prices had been 10% WA ABIRE ER10%
higher (2011: 10%) (20114 10%) 5 6
If equity prices had been 10% WA AEIEE TIE10%
lower (2011: 10%) (20114 : 10%) (5) (6)
Currency risk E¥ER
Currency risk refers to the risk associated with B R ThiE ENEE R F B 1E A
movements in foreign currency rates which will affect BT EREE MBEERER
the Group's financial results and its cash flow. As at BB Z B R2012F R20114
31 March 2012 and 2011, certain bank balances of 3A31H - AEEE TRITHEHBRUR
the Group are denominated in foreign currencies other SEER2EEE (MARKE) B
than the functional currency of the group entities, SN HNBE BB EHE o AN & B I fE AT
i.e. RMB. The Group does not have a foreign currency A FNEE SR B - ST - IR B BT
hedging policy. However, the management monitors SNES R BB - WHRETER
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging EREHEBR ZINE R

the significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

6.

EWMITHEH &)

(b) cRREBEEEEREE (&)

Currency risk (Continued) E¥ER (&)
Assets
BE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
HK$ B 49,331 79,136
United States dollars (“USD") ESACEFAD 19,857 19,587
Sensitivity analysis BRESN

The Group is mainly exposed to HK$ and USD.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a
5% (2011: 5%) increase and decrease in the functional
currency of the relevant group entities, RMB, against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2011: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and
represents management'’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currencies denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% (2011: 5%) change in foreign currency rates.

A positive number below indicates an increase in profit
for the year where the respective functional currency
(RMB) weakens 5% (2011: 5%) against the relevant
foreign currency (HK$ or USD). For a 5% (2011: 5%)
strengthening of respective functional currency (RMB)
against the relevant foreign currency (HK$ or USD),
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
profit for the year and the balances below would be
negative.

AEETEZEHEBREXTZAE

B o

TRFINAAESEHEHEEETLE
e EE (ARE) BN E
B2 (E5% (20114 : 5% ) Z SRk
J€°5% (201149 : 5% ) BRI £
TERABREINERRFTERBZ
BREMNE TREEEREYESR
ARE A BB 2T - WBREDN
EBEEUIINEFE 2R FERER
HE WHRREBHRFAREL TR
[ SNEEFE R 2 5% (20114 1 5% )

£8)-

THESERRHIEFEENEER
(AR®) HARREINE (BHEHETT)
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

FReMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31HLF/E

6. €E@MIT R (%)

(b) cREBEEEEREE (£)

policies (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRESN (&)
usb HK$
EYH B
2012 2011 2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B¥gTT BT BE¥TR BETT
Increase (decrease) in post-tax FERERT
profit for the year #mCRd)
— if RMB weakens against -WARBAINEEE
foreign currencies 745 735 1,850 2,968
— if RMB strengthens against -WARBANEHE
foreign currencies (745) (735) (1,850) (2,968)
Credit risk EERR

As at 31 March 2012, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group trades only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. The Group's trading terms
with its industrial and commercial customers in Gas
Fuel are mainly on credit, except for new customers
where payment in advance is normally required. The
normal credit period is generally for a period of 30
days to 90 days and extending up to 180 days for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control
over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group's
trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk. Further quantitative data in respect of the
Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade and
other receivables are disclosed in Note 26.

R2012F3A31H EX B H F R
EETECMERAEE LIRS M
EBETRANEERBINLE IS
MABMEKASZEHEREHNEECR
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on other loan to a shareholder of an
associate, amount due from a joint venturer and an
associate is limited as the counterparties are enterprises
with strong financial position as at 31 March 2012 and
2011.

The credit risk on liquid fund is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit rating.

The Group’'s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations is mainly in the PRC, which
accounted for 100% (31 March 2011: 100%) of the
total trade receivables as at 31 March 2012.

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group reviews the
level of cash and cash equivalents to ensure their
adequacy to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows. The
Group also reviews the utilisation of borrowings and
ensures the compliance of loan covenants. The Group
relies on bank borrowings as a significant source of
liquidity.

Due to the capital intensive nature of the Group’s
business, the Group ensures that it maintains sufficient
cash and credit lines to meet its liquidity requirements.
The Group finances its working capital requirements
through a combination of funds generated from
operations and bank borrowings.

6.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. TWMIHE &)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) cRIEAKEEEEREEK (£)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBRERARE (£)
The following table details the Group’s remaining TRESNIZRIGE 2 BEER A
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial EEFTESRBENBENINE
liabilities based on the agreed repayment terms. The ZEIE e MR TR BN AN & E Al g2
table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted XPRERNH A eHAEGEZ
cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest RMBEReREMBE - LEXBRE
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The MERRSHEERE M2 AZF
table includes both interest and principal cash flows. BAEFE ARG RSBSRE
To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the MEBRZFN KA RETE -
undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate
curve at the end of the reporting period.
Total
Within ~ Withinthe ~ Withinthe ~ Withinthe ~ Within the Over undiscounted Carrying
oneyear secondyear  thirdyear  forthyear  fifthyear  fiveyears  cash flow amount
ARERE
-Ej #£IER #ZER EmER $EER BBIE RESE BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEfr  B%fr  BEfr  B%fr B4Tr BEfr BETR BETR
At 31 March 2012 2012934318
Trade and other payables 25 REMERE 141,777 - - - - - 14,777 141,777
Amount due to a joint venturer B —BAELEASFFE 28 - - - - - 28 2
Amount due to a director Eif-%E23% 4301 4301 4301 4301 4,301 21,507 43,012 31,547
Amounts due to associates ERBERATE 1 - - - - - 1 1
Bank borrowings Bk 81,553 26,306 3492 36,626 B9 140604 356206 284555
227,660 30,607 39,223 40,927 40,4% 162,111 541,024 457,908
At 31 March 2011 R2011F3A31H
Trade and other payables BHREMERFE 115,425 - - - - - 115,425 115,425
Amount due to a joint venturer BRI -THAELEAERHE 12,885 - - - - - 12,885 12,885
Amounts due to associates ERBERAFE 11,851 - - - - - 11,851 11,851
Amount due to a shareholder of ~ EF—HEELE 2
an associate —&RETE 23,708 - - - - - 23,708 23,708
Bank borrowings RITEE 32,781 28,501 23,329 31,641 33,284 121,597 271,139 214,297
196,656 28,501 23,329 31,641 33,284 121,597 435,008 378,166
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
with standard terms and conditions and traded in
active liquid markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices respectively.

The fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities is determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow
analysis.

The Directors consider that the fair values of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised
cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their corresponding carrying amounts
due to their immediate or short-term maturities.

The Directors consider the carrying amounts of the
long-term bank borrowings and amount due to a
director approximate their fair values as they are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 1 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market for
identical assets or liabilities.
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£
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TURNOVER

Turnover represents the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and for goods sold and services
provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes. An analysis of the Group's turnover
is as follows:

EERBEEUERREZARERE
REREMBEF O REERBERRRNA
FEHBART2EEEmAERHERS
JEWRIR - AREBZ EXBOMWT

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Provision of piped Gas Fuel HETBEBRR 590,618 421,655

Pipelines construction B3 R RVE B AR 197,333 176,429

Transportation, distribution By DEMIERE

and retail of bottled LPG LA HR 330,619 255,784
Commission income from welfare BRI EHEE 2AS KA

lottery sales 432 -

1,119,002 853,868

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group's operating segments, based on information
reported to the Directors, being the chief operating decision
maker (“CODM") for the purpose of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focus on types of goods
or services delivered or provided.

During the year, the Group acquired the entire equity
interest in Grand Destiny Group Limited (“Grand Destiny”)
for consideration of approximately HK$380,568,000. Grand
Destiny and its subsidiaries namely Shenzhen Yongheng Le
Cai Technology Development Limited (“Shenzhen Le Cai”)
and Shenzhen Yongheng Jin Cai Technology Development
Limited (“Shenzhen Jin Cai”) are engaged in the lottery
agency sales. Details of this acquisition had been set out
in the Company’s circular dated 12 August 2011 and Note
38. The segment of “Lottery agency sales” is regarded as
new business segment of the Group upon the completion of
acquisition.

7 EHE R
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8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments under HKFRS 8

are as follows:

1. Provision of piped Gas Fuel — construction of gas
pipeline networks, provision of piped natural gas and

LPG;

2. Transportation, distribution and retail of bottled LPG —
the sale of LPG in bulk to wholesale customers and the
retail of bottled LPG to end user households, industrial

and commercial customers; and

3.  Lottery agency sales — agent to operate and sell lottery

8. ZDHEEHR (#)
AR AEEREFBHVEHREEL
%Sﬁz HoERAT
1. HEEEMR-HEERREES
i HEEERARMBICA MR

2. E#-p

HEMEZTE R A M

R-MEBRCOBRTHERTPR

MET
LRBEEPZ&EERE R

3. XERAE#HE

CEREAEMRTER  T%

—RAERITRIEEE

tickets in Shenzhen. RRIEFRE-
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and UNTAAEEZEHRS LI EZWAR
results by reportable segment. EEDHN -
Transportation,
distribution and
Provision of piped Gas Fuel retail of bottled LPG Lottery agency sales Consolidation
For the year ended 31 March En MHRALTE
HE3BNALER HEEERS BLRAR YEREHE &
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 201
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
E8Tn A% fr  BETrn EEfr BMTn BEfr B¥Tn BETR
Turnover %8 781,951 598,084 330,619 255,784 32 - 1,119,002 853,868
Seqment profit (loss) AEER (E8) 136,116 111,955 12,73 57,554 (29,518) - 119,330 169,509
Unallocated income AARUA 8,167 5231
Unallocated corporate expenses AAMLERR (18.813) (19,702)
Re-measurement of interest in an associate  NEBFAHEABELE Y
to fair value on business combination BRENABERNHE 235,663 -
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HEARNESRAE VB
financial assets - (64,426)
Equity-settled share-based payments WEREERDBER AR - (16,618)
Share of results of associates EEBELTEE 10,086 137
Finance costs A (5.217) (4,017)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBATNEA - 1,361
Profit before tax BH AT 349,156 71475
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. oHER (&)
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the EWMHO B G BE AN AIME RN ER
same as the Group's accounting policies described in Note EETBERMER - 9 3EFIE S H ZBEER
3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each Zom A HENE AR S B ERTT R B A - EoA
segment without allocation of bank interest income, other KERA - FRITBEAY EFEME R
operating income, central administrative expenses, Directors’ EBENRRBEARCERIEARE
emoluments, re-measurement of interest in an associate EFTE2 LEMBRAR KD HETH
to fair value on business combination, gain on disposal of HESRMEECER UBREERNA
subsidiaries, loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial ERE 2 S RS AR DA K R (G B R R
assets, equity-settled share-based payments, finance costs FE - WM ERPEERBFTEAEE
and share of results of associates. This is the measure EERREESWMZFAETR
reported to CODM for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.
Segment assets and liabilities PTHMEEREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and NTAAERZERSHLIEZEER
liabilities by reportable segments. BEDH-
Segment assets PHEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEEBEMR 1,207,696 934,514
Transportation, distribution B H2HEEREZEREA
and retail of bottled LPG H R 124,871 203,154
Lottery agency sales TEREHE 827,236 -
Total segment assets DEEERE 2,159,803 1,137,668
Unallocated AOE 571,170 632,075

3
o)
e
mt

Consolidated assets

2,730,973 1,769,743
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8.

allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other
than investment properties, interests in associates,
available-for-sale financial assets, deposit paid for
acquisition of long-term investments, held-to-maturity
investments, other loan to a shareholder of an
associate, amount due from a joint venturer, amount
due from an associate, bank balances and cash and
assets used jointly by reportable segments.

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than tax liabilities, amount due to a shareholder of an
associate, amount due to a joint venturer, amounts
due to associates, amount due to a director, bank
borrowings, deferred tax liabilities and liabilities for
which reportable segments are jointly liable.

R

- KBEREDE-R

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) DEER (&)
Segment liabilities PMEE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel HEETBEBRR 286,953 245,757
Transportation, distribution B DHERAETE
and retail of bottled LPG BAL A HE R 26,225 29,102
Lottery agency sales HEREHEE 606 -
Total segment liabilities NEBEEE 313,784 274,859
Unallocated RO 586,916 340,329
Consolidated liabilities maafl 900,700 615,188
For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and RABERSHBERRERDHE S EE
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

Provision of piped  distribution and retail of

8.

Transportation,

DEWER (#)

H

Lt BMER

Gas Fuel hottled LPG Lottery agency sales Unallocated Consolidation
ER ARREE
For the year ended 31 March HZ3BNBLER HETERT ZEMILAAR YEREHE 3R &8
2012 2011 2012 201 2012 201 2012 201 2012 2011
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
BETn EETr AMTr ANTr BETr EETn BETn A¥Tn  B%Tn EETx
Amounts included in measure of HESHENSI HEE
segment profit or segment assets Bithzeg
Depreciation ik 23,689 17,524 3,941 3,870 818 - 4,888 2,776 33,336 24,170
Loss (gain) on disposal of property, plantand ~ H1&E4% HERRABME
equipment and prepaid lease payments BRfer (BB)Ya (326) 1,645 1 (54416) - - (97) 51 @220 (52,720)
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BEARS 631 482 195 237 - - - - 826 719
Amortisation of intangible assets BRENEE 4,537 4,300 - - 16,35 - - - 20,887 4,300
Impairment loss recognised in respect of BHEARAMENGE
trade and other receivables BAZHERR 6250 6,406 - - - - - - 620 6406
Reversal of impairment loss recognised BREARAMEYGUERRL
in respect to trade and other receivables BEEERE (399) (146) - - - - - - (399) (146)
Impairment loss recognised in respect of EREERIZRERR
inventories (included in cost of sales) (BABERS) 551 654 - - - - - - 551 654
Capital expenditure in respect of prepaid lease ~ AERNTEEZEAHT
payments 22,188 532 - - - - - - 22,188 532
Capital expenditure in respect of property, EBNE BERREL
plant and equipment BRRX 134243 117251 10,808 1844 3,685 - 380 510 149,116 124,205
Deposits paid for property, plant and ARENF BERREIR
equipment and prepaid lease payments BB ffke 18676 19,511 6,236 593 - - - WM 20,104
Deposit paid for acquisition of a long-term WERHRARG BES
investments - - - - - - - 41,489 - 41,489
Re-measurement of interest in associate to REBEHREREAD 2 BRR
fair value on business combination NBEFHE - - - - (235,663) - - - (235663) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEHBARKE - - - - - - - (1360) - (1.361)
Amounts regularly provided to the EHREFEIELERRER
CODM but not included in the measure of st EABRAAIHEER
segment profit or segment assets i 610k 3.
Interests in associates REERAER - - - - - - 3881 89733 38811 89733
Share of result of associates [l N+ - - - - - - (10,086) (137)  (10,086) (137)
Gain on fair value changes of REMFZAAERDRE
investment properties - - - - - - (2036)  (1281)  (2,036)  (1281)
Bank interest income RAMEHA (1328) (0000 (1,440) (388) (208) - (628) (1,012 (3,604) (3400
Finance costs Eipss 3607 3,6% m 361 w - m B V1 B V]
Income tax expenses FERAx M40 14918 6,373 8,914 (4,067) - - - B8 2383
Geographical information it & & H

The Group's business is principally carried out in the PRC
and the Group's non-current assets are substantially located
in the PRC. Accordingly, no geographical information is

presented.

AEBEZEBITERNFTEETHAEE
FRBEEHTBMNPE - FHitt - WE

25 mEF -
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8.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8.

Information about major customers

No information about major customer is presented as no
single customer contributed over 10% of the total turnover
of the Group during the years ended 31 March 2012 and

DEWER (#)
EHREIREEFZEH

AR E £20129F K20114F3H31H IEF
EHEE - XFRAAEBEEB10% 2
REHETE BMWEZTEPRTERFCE

2011. % -
OTHER OPERATING INCOME 9. H&&EWA
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank interest income RITA B A 3,604 3,400
Other loan interest income E B SRFEWA 428 2,141
Gain on fair value changes of REWE R BB WS
investment properties 2,036 1,281
Exchange gain, net fE X Yz - 5 2,151 1,883
Dividend income % B0 A 198 491
Interest income from held-to-maturity BEZHHIEZF B WA
investments 1,823 -
Repair and maintenance income e REREWA 1,143 -
Rental income from investment wEMERSWA - BT
properties, net of outgoings (Note a) (Kfsxa) 238 249
Other rental income, net of EmAeBA - R H
outgoings (Note b) (KtsEb) 1,730 269
Government grants (Note c) BFmBE (MsEc) - 4,109
Sales of gas appliance: HEMRRA:
— Income — A 3,228 4,807
— Cost of sales —HER A (2,645) (4,304)
583 503
Storage management fee income FEEEEAKRA 2,720 -
Reversal of impairment loss recognised ERE 5 &AM EKKIE
in respect of trade and other receivables  #ER2 B {E &5 18 & [ 399 146
Others Hity 2,711 1,129
19,764 15,601
Notes: Bt 5

(a) The amount represents net rental income generated from investment
properties after deducting direct operating expenses of approximately

HK$26,000 (2011: HK$15,000).

(b) The amount represents net rental income generated from other
assets after deducting direct operating expenses of approximately

HK$3,361,000 (2011: HK$72,000).

(c) For the year ended 31 March 2011, the amount represented
unconditional grants from the PRC government specifically for
encouraging the Group's business development in the PRC and one-off
government grant for the Group’s enlarged investment in a subsidiary.

(a) ZEERINBRAE26,0007T (20114 : B
15,0007 BB ERZBRBIREME M
WA FE -

(b)  ZEFEEMBRLBY3,361,0007T (20114 :
FE#572,00070) B S ERS AR EMEE
ZHe WA FE -

(0 HZE201MF3A3MBILFE ZEeBEPEHRK
MENABBASEETRHERMKAETEN
EmE Tz EEERES  AREEAEEE
AMBRARREZ X EBRTHEE -
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10. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging

10. AFEEF

AEEEMD MR (FFA) THEERE:

(crediting):
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Staff costs, including Directors’ and EIRA BIEEEASNE
senior management’s emoluments BEMWE
— Salaries, wages, allowances and e IT& ZHEX
benefits in kind %7/ p kN 89,212 59,349
— Retirement benefits scheme — R IREFFT B
contributions 3,656 3,465
— Equity-settled share-based —UREREERND B
payments B2 - 9,254
92,868 72,068
Cost of inventories recognised as BRERI 2 HFERAE
expenses 776,161 571,925
Auditor’s remuneration Z B BN & 2,090 1,900
Depreciation of property, Y- WEREZETE
plant and equipment 33,336 24,170
Impairment loss recognised in REFERRZBEEE
respect of inventories (included in (Bt ASEEKA)
cost of sales) 551 654
Equity-settled share-based NEmEERD RER
payments (Note) R E) - 7,364
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments BiETENES 826 719
Amortisation of intangible assets BiHEEEE 20,887 4,300
Share of tax of associates (included in AR E RARBIE (5 A
share of results of associates) FEAGES & A RIZELE) (5,543) 1,532
Note: The amounts represented the fair value of consultancy and advisory MEE: ZEfIEEE201MF3A31HIEFEREEE

services provided to the Group during the year ended 31 March 2011.

RUBALBERRE 2 RAE
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11.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The remuneration of the Directors for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is analysed as

follows:

1. EEREREEERNS

(a)

EEHE

BETRAREERRGAIZE161
GATBEE ARREERAFEZ
et T :

Salaries,  Retirement
allowances benefits Equity-settled
and benefits scheme  share-based Total
Directors' fee in kind contributions payments emoluments
NERLEE
HE RER BREN RoAE®R
EzHe BENAE BE 5 FAVE: ame
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
For the year ended ElZ201243A31H
31 March 2012 ILFE
Executive directors: RITES:
Xu Ruixin Rims - - - - -
Mo Shikang Rt - 1,675 32 - 1,707
Zhang Hesheng oR A4 - 1,659 44 - 1,703
Jin Song g - 972 30 - 1,002
Chu Kin Wang Peleus KR - 1,290 12 - 1,302
Yang Songsheng (“Mr. Yang") BIRE([BEE])
- appointed on —R201ME
19 December 2011 12A198
EZf - 707 6 - 713
Yeung Paak Ching - appointed 51T ~12011E
on 19 December 2011 A19BEZRT - 205 - - 205
Zhu Peifeng - resigned on RIER K201
16 November 2011 1MA16RET - 1,048 29 - 1,077
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Liu Junmin AER 130 - - - 130
Tan Qinglian EEE - - - - -
Sin Ka Man KR 130 - - - 130
260 7,556 153 - 7,969
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S 11. EERENEBEEME &)
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) (a) EEME (&)

Salaries,  Retirement

allowances benefits Equity-settled

and benefits scheme  share-based Total

Directors' fee in kind contributions payments emoluments
NEREE

He 2ER BUEN  BORER
Exwe  BWAE  HERR FALE BHe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ARTR  BETT  BETT  ARTT  ARTR

For the year ended EZ201143A31H
31 March 2011 IHFE
Executive directors: RITESE:
Xu Ruixin Rims - - - - -
Mo Shikang Rt - 1,686 31 225 1,942
Zhang Hesheng oR F A - 1,670 45 587 2,302
Zhu Peifeng R - 1,670 45 587 2,302
Jin Song EEA - 889 29 587 1,505
Chu Kin Wang Peleus KR - 1,110 12 767 1,889
Independent non-executive BUFHTES:
directors:
Liu Junmin AER 130 - - - 130
Tan Qinglian EEE - - - - -
Sin Ka Man KR 140 - - 211 351
270 7,025 162 2,964 10,421
None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any EENENEXREREEMLAE
emoluments paid by the Group. No emoluments was BX 2% 8220124 2011
paid to the Directors as an inducement to join or upon FIANHLEFE AR ERE
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office EXFNEAMES  EAERFEEMA
during the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011. REB SR MARE B K2 £2E) 5k

BEBR 2 HE-
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11.

12.

13.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments,

1. EEREREEENE (&)

(b) EfUERSHMAL

A HSHMALZE0 (20114

all (2011: all) are Directors whose emoluments are 2V AEEE EMEERAWE
disclosed in Note 11(a). 1) #E 55 -
FINANCE COSTS 2. MBEHRAE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Interest on other loans wholly repayable AREFANBHEEL
within five years (Note 31) HJ‘E%T?KZ%'J 8 (MIzE31) - 457
Imputed interest for amount due to BRI FEREBERZ
a director wholly repayable after ER—RESZEHTE
five years (Note 32) (FF7E32) 788 -
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable AREFANBHEEL
within five years RITERA B 4,489 3,101
Interest on bank loans wholly repayable ARAFERA %Zf% B2
after five years |ITERFE 12,739 10,262
18,016 13,820
Less: amount capitalised in W ERIRENMESE
construction in progress (Note) (B#E) (12,739) (9,803)
5,277 4,017

Note: The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a rate of 5.31% to

5.76% per annum (2011: 5.19% to 6.87%).

MisE: EERADIREF5.31%%55.76% (20114 ¢
5.19%%6.87% ) 2 BEKEAXR -

INCOME TAX EXPENSES 13. IEBMAX
2012 2011
HK$000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Current tax: BOHEARA IR -
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax —EF‘ B> ZEFTIER 46,084 20,688
— Under (over) provision in prior years BEFERETR
(FBEE ) 2,163 (1,640)
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 34): FEEFREEE (HE34)
— Current year —KFE (4,519) 4,784
43,728 23,832
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made since
the Group had no assessable profit for the years ended 31
March 2012 and 2011.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law"”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
certain PRC subsidiaries of the Company are still subject to
the entitlement of summarised tax holidays (including two-
year exemption and three-year half rate) under the then
existing preferential tax treatments, the summarised tax
holiday is allowed to be carried forward to 2008 and future
years until their expiry. However, if an entity has not yet
commenced its tax holiday due to its loss position, the tax
holiday is deemed to commence from 2008 onwards.

According to the EIT Law, the profits of the PRC subsidiaries
of the Company derived since 1 January 2008 will be subject
to withholding tax at a rate of 5% upon the distribution of
such profits to foreign investors incorporated in Hong Kong,
or at a rate of 10% for other foreign investors. During the
years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, no deferred tax has
been recognised for withholding taxes of such profit of
approximately HK$211,275,000 (2011: HK$122,764,000)
that would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the
Group's subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion of
the Directors, the Group is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute their earnings accrued
after 1 January 2008 in the foreseeable future.

13. FREBAEX (&)

R AN EBEE FE20124 K20114F3 A31
B FEWET A ERTRH - R EE
AT B RS T -

REFBECEMBRA(EXMER
E]) REEMRBBUEE GG & B E
NAIREMEFEZHEB25% °

BRIBREMEBEERER  ARRI2ET
FEBARNAEERERZHKE
SHEZHELACHB(BEME =R
F) - [ELRR T HR] 8K £20084F KKK
FE EEHRERALL-AM WER
EHEREERLT S AREARKELE A%
THIE IR AT B2008F R -

RIBREMGRE AR EBFMAL 2
BOMGEESNEMBIMEEE D RAR
B BB 2 A 200841 A 1H A2 BEEL
2 i F B 0 ZE 5 Bl B 5% K 10% 2 T 40
Mo MELZE2012F R2011F3A31HIERF
& WEst AN BN P B S B AR R
i K #4978 #211,275,0007T (20114F : 36
#122,764,00070) B TEN R < B A
Al RELABF MERELERE - ESR
Ao AREBE ARG R D 2R L
ZEWBLRRARARARAREDRZER
2008F1AVB ZBTEERF 2 e
7&0
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13.

14.

15.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued) 13. FifSHiBAxX (&)
The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to FREEHERARKZEMNERFEE 2
the profit per the consolidated statements of comprehensive SRAXHERNAT :
income as follows:
2012 2011
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BEET T BT T
Profit before tax B B A 5 349,156 71,475
Tax calculated at the statutory tax BIETEME25%
rate of 25% (2011: 25%) (20114F:25% )st&E 2
s 87,289 17,869
Tax effect of share of results of DL ERAREE L
associates B (2,522) (34)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBTBA 2 RIEFE
tax purpose (59,523) (9,547)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TRz g2
for tax purpose 8,305 20,262
Tax effect of deductible temporary AERTMREFERE 2
differences not recognised MG 3,153 1,601
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised ATHRMBEBERZ NG E 7,980 2,450
Tax effect of 50% income tax relief W E QR ERS0% TS ERE
granted to subsidiaries ZRETE (1,752) (7,404)
Effect of different tax rate of WEBRARTRKER ZZE
subsidiaries (1,365) 275
Under (over) provision for prior years MEFEREDE (B
i) 2,163 (1,640)
Income tax expenses for the year REEFERSHFZ 43,728 23,832
Details of deferred taxation are shown in Note 34. EIERIE 2 F I H A M 5E34 -
LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE 14. XRAREEAEBLEE
COMPANY
Loss attributable to owners dealt with in the statement of KRAaZHEBAREAREZHEE AR

comprehensive income of the Company is HK$21,958,000

(2011: HK$95,266,000).

DIVIDEND

15.

No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 31
March 2012 (2011: nil), nor has any dividend been proposed
since the end of the reporting period (2011: nil).

(G518 A 21,958,0007T (20114 4
#95,266,0007T ) °

g =\

REE2012F3 A31HILFEE R &

SEFEXMKRE QONEF &) BHE
IR DA R 7 4 52 % ST (A AR (2011

FE) -
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16. EARNINGS PER SHARE 16. SREF
The calculation of basic earnings per share attributable to RRRHEEANEBEERERBFITER
owners of the Company is based on the profit for the year RABBEARLFEEENRRFANEE
attributable to owners of the Company and the weighted TEBIR 2 INETFHEGTE -

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are BRERRIERN TR TIIEIETE
based on the following data:

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Earnings & F
Profit for the year attributable to RRAFER ANENER N
owners of the Company 296,815 45,639
Number of shares
RGEE
Shares Bz 4
Weighted average number of ordinary FEERERREERT
shares in issue during the year used in FRfE Rz £ A 81T
the basic and diluted earnings per share @A hnkE T
calculation 5,082,985,951 4,082,224,554
The computation of diluted earnings per share does not BREERN  HETBRRRERARAZ
assume the exercise of the Company's share options because BRERTE RZEEREZITRES
the exercise price of those share options were higher than RARBRBREZE2012F %2011F3 A
the average market price of the Company's share for years BMTAEFEZFAME BREARES
ended 31 March 2012 and 2011. The basic and the diluted B AR -

earnings per share are the same.
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. ¥ -BERRE

Buildings
in the PRC Furniture,
for own fixtures Plant,
useunder  Leasehold  and office ~ machinery Transportation Construction
medium lease improvements  equipment and pipeline vehicles in progress Total
PHAEET EUS BE-
URATEZ HE %ER BER
HREgT NERE  BLERE gE EREH HRIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BB BETT BETT BETT BETT BETR
Cost BA
At 1 April 2010 1201054418 56,954 427 6,885 483,567 37,195 140,191 725,219
Exchange realignment B EE 2,283 - 262 19,551 1,407 5,241 28,744
Additions NE 11,349 355 2,901 19,833 6,723 83,044 124,205
Transfer B3 4,455 - - 61,914 - (66,369) -
Disposals e (1123) (427) (302) (2,483) (241) (18,433) (23,009)
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 12011434318
R2011E4R18 73,918 355 9,746 582,382 45,084 143,674 855,159
Exchange realignment EHHE 2,712 - 348 21,370 1,562 5,254 31,246
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 38) WK B AR (FiFE38) 367 - 504 - 2,911 - 3,782
Additions nE 3,881 - 2,568 14,167 13,304 115,196 149,116
Transfer ELE 11,098 - - 95,301 - (106,399) -
Disposals e (186) - (93) (256) (1342) - (1,877)
At 31 March 2012 1201243 A31H 91,790 355 13,073 712,964 61,519 157,725 1,037,426
Accumulated depreciation and R MERAERE
impairment loss
At 1 April 2010 1201054418 4,99 361 2,253 72,090 10,151 - 89,849
Exchange realignment E L 243 - 157 3,255 494 - 4,149
Provided for the year REREER 1,677 73 2,587 14,463 5,370 - 24,170
Eliminated on disposal HERHH (14) (377) (208) (608) (172) - (1,379)
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 20114534318
R2011F4R18 6,900 57 4,789 89,200 15,843 - 116,789
Exchange realignment 3 271 - 178 3,407 551 - 4,407
Provided for the year rEEHE 3,113 7 1,667 21,885 6,600 - 33,336
Eliminated on disposal HERHH (96) - (45) (125) (1,100) - (1,366)
At 31 March 2012 1201243 A31H 10,188 128 6,589 114,367 21,894 - 153,166
Carrying values REE
At 31 March 2012 R201263A318 81,602 227 6,484 598,597 39,625 157,725 884,260
At 31 March 2011 R201143A318 67,018 298 4,957 493,182 29,241 143,674 738,370

At 31 March 2012, the Group’s property, plant and
equipment amounting to approximately HK$2,410,000
(2011: HK$5,205,000) were pledged to secure bank loans
granted to the Group (Note 43).

MR2012F3A318 AEBEME -FE X
& 2,410,0007T (20114 - B
5,205,00070) B THBIEAE TAEE
IRITE R ZER (H7H43) ©
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The official property title certificates for certain of the
Group’s buildings with carrying amounts of approximately
HK$5,588,000 (2011: HK$9,470,000) in aggregate have not
yet been issued by the relevant local government authorities.
The Directors are of the opinion that the Group's right and
interest in such buildings will not be therefore severely
prejudiced.

On 19 March 2011, Guizhou Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.
("Guizhou Zhongmin™), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and an independent third party,
Guiyang Railway Construction Co., Ltd. (“Guiyang Railway
Construction”) entered into an agreement pursuant to which
Guizhou Zhongmin should dispose of certain property, plant
and equipment and prepaid lease payments to Guiyang
Railway Construction (the “Disposal”). The Disposal was
a result of the municipal construction of the Guiyang City
Rail Freight Centre and therefore Guizhou Zhongmin had
to surrender the land back to the government authority
by way of the Disposal. The consideration was arrived at
after making reference to the valuation conducted on the
assets disposed of by an independent valuer in the PRC
mutually appointed by Guizhou Zhongmin and Guiyang
Railway Construction. The carrying values of the Group's
buildings, plant, machinery and construction in progress
amount to approximately HK$1,083,000, HK$198,000 and
HK$18,433,000 respectively were disposed to Guiyang
Railway Construction.

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per
annum:

Buildings Over the shorter of 40 years or
the operation period of the
relevant company

Leasehold improvements  Over the shorter of the terms of
the leases, or 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 20%

office equipment

Plant, machinery and

pipeline

Transportation vehicles

2.5% - 20%

12.5% - 20%

17. D% -BERSKE (£)

AEBBRBMES HK4/8%5,588,0007T
(20114 : 5 %9,470,00070) 2 & T F
TMAREEB T BT EEAZE T EX W
BEE-BEERE AEERZSEEFZ
A EE T AT EREEE-

M2011F38198 A RAGIMEREEZE
EMBRARIBEMNTPRRRBERAF ([E
MERDEBIE=ZHEGHKER
RAR ([EREEERD LG B
o EMPREES TWE  BE M&HE
UERFEANEES FTEGERESR (HES
H]|) - HEFHEIIEE ™ E ok = 8
EERL MEBEEMELS WEMFR
BEBHEFERL 1 FHAFIM - K
BN2EHEMNFPRREGHEKER L
BZABLHEMREEEEMGEM T
NET - AEEZEF HE HBRERE
BEIRZERAED R 47%E 1,083,000
JC 75 #198,000 T & & # 18,433,000
T EHETEGEEER-

Eig RS R EEE DU EERE
TFE R

BT 40F A BERFIZ
K HABR (LABAE
HEMERE A& HIBR k5
(AR E A%)
R -EKER 20%
MR ERE

BE -HENEE 25%%20%

1% 5 B 12.5%Z20%
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18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. REYW=
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Investment properties, stated at RAanBEIBECHREDE
fair value
At 1 April R4R1H 8,621 7,024
Addition NE 15,839 -
Exchange realignment ME 3, 8 2 329 316
Increase in fair value N EE 2,036 1,281
At 31 March M3A31H 26,825 8,621
Details of geographical locations and REWMEZHWEBEUE R
tenure of investment properties were: FHFBOT:
PRC — investment properties held under FE-FHEEETZ
medium-term leases WEME 26,825 8,621

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
March 2012 and 2011 have been arrived at on the basis of a
valuation carried out on that day by Asset Appraisal Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer not connected
with the Group. Asset Appraisal Limited is a member of
The Hong Kong Institutes of Surveyors, and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of
similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuation,
which conforms to International Valuation Standards, was
arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the same locations and
conditions.

The Group leases out certain investment properties under
operating leases, for an initial period of three to eight years,
with an option to renew on renegotiated terms. All of the
Group’'s property interests held under operating leases
to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are
measured using the fair value model and are classified and
accounted for as investment properties.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the gross
rental income from investment properties amounted to
approximately HK$264,000 (2011: HK$264,000).

M2012F F20115E3A31H  AEEKRE
MEZARBIREBLAEREEMY
ERBEETEBMERAR (BAEEH
WERE)EZAETZHESTL -EE
FEEMBERATATEIZMEY
B WEAFHBEER RIS G
S EUMERTHEZER - REFA
BB EERBEITZEE  TTREEMR
HRZ MK RARZHUMEZRS
BRZMBEEESH -

AEERBEEHELEETRED X
RNHRA3FESF I E A EEREN
BRGTEY AEEMBEALERER
AR A URBE S RASEEREER
BZYMERBEARAABERAGE LD
BRAREMEAR-

REZE2012F3A831HILFE KEKRE
MEZBEBRS WAL AE264,0007T
(20114F : 5%264,0007T ) °
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19. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

19. AEE

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost R A
At 1 April R4H1H 32,352 34,092
Exchange realignment ME W B 1,189 1,280
Additions = 22,188 532
Disposal & - (3,552)
At 31 March M3A31H 55,729 32,352
Amortisation and impairment i RREEE
At 1 April RA4R1H 3,669 3,900
Exchange realignment ME W B 140 134
Charge for the year REF R 826 719
Write back £ ol - (1,084)
At 31 March M3A31H 4,635 3,669
Carrying values REE 51,094 28,683
Analysed for reporting purposes as: LR E B DT
Current portion BIEAER 1,224 767
Non-current portion JERNEREF & 49,870 27,916
51,094 28,683

The amounts represented medium-term land use rights in
the PRC and are amortised over the terms of the respective

land use rights on a straight-line basis.

On 19 March 2011, Guizhou Zhongmin entered into
an agreement to disposal of certain property, plant and
equipment and prepaid lease payment to Guiyang Railway
Construction. The details of Disposal are disclosed in Note 17.

The Group’s prepaid lease payments with carrying values
of approximately HK$8,106,000 (2011: HK$5,943,000)
represent interest in land use rights in respect of which
official land use certificate have not yet been issued by
relevant local government authorities. The Directors are of
the opinion that the Group’s rights and interest in respect of

such land lots will not be therefore severely prejudiced.

At 31 March 2012, the Group's prepaid lease payments
amounting to approximately HK$10,336,000 (2011:
HK$8,206,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted

to the Group (Note 43).

ZECHEENMINPEZ P LER
- WA B #RORIZ AR T 4 (5 A #E 2 F 1
T oA

R2011F3 8198 MNP RETIL sk
NWHEETYE BELSEULEMSE
S TEBEKER LESEZFBERH
17 E o

A& EEREEX B S,106,0007T (2011
& B#85,943,00000) 2 AN HEER KR
b (E A 2 s FRRE M 5 B HERE D
REYEBEERN T HFERAEZ - TEER
B REBENZEMBE 2 EMNRER TS
ASZHBREEE-

R2012%3 8310 AEB Z2BENHEE Y
B #10,336,0000T (20114 - B #
8,206,000y E THIMIEAK T AEH
IRITERZER (MI5E43) -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ReMBERRME

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #%2012F3A31H L F/E

20. GOODWILL 20. HE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Carrying value REE
At 1 April R4H1H 95,114 93,113
Exchange realignment HE 5, 8 B 1,886 2,001
Goodwill arising from acquisition of WENBARIEEZEE
subsidiaries (Note 38) (KTsE38) 41,301 -
At 31 March M3A31H 138,301 95,114
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more REBEGFRAPERE  HiNEIRE
frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be TRER e A - BIE SBE BORRE ©
impaired.
The management considers each subsidiary and jointly EEERE HEEFEINANS X
controlled entities represents a separate cash-generating unit MEBARRAEREHEEBRR—EB
("CGU") for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing. CHeEEBEM([REEELEM]) - KB
At the end of the reporting period, the carrying value WERKR HEZEONETEZEAKET
of goodwill mainly represents goodwill arising from the DB AR R EEEH EEEE 2 E
acquisitions of following subsidiaries and jointly controlled
entities:
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Provision of piped Gas Fuel RHEERR
Fujian Province An Ran Gas BRELAMREREAR
Investment Co., Ltd. and its Na R EKTE A A
subsidiaries (“Fujian An Ran Group”) (TRELAEE]) 85,516 83,939
Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd. EFPRAR[EBRE LA 8,680 8,373
Long Yan City Changning Gas Co., Ltd EEMEEMRRERAA 2,804 2,802
97,000 95,114
Lottery agency sales FEREHE
Grand Destiny Group Limited RESBEERAR ([AE])
("Grand Destiny”) and its subsidiaries MEKBAF (HiE38)
(Note 38) 41,301 -

138,301 95,114
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20. GOODWILL (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined
from value-in-use calculations with reference to a valuation
performed by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent
qualified valuer not connected with the Group. The value-in-
use calculation uses cashflow forecast of the relevant CGUs.
The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations are
those regarding the discount rates and expected changes to
selling price and direct costs during the period. Management
estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect
current market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the CGUs. Changes in selling prices and
direct costs are based on past practices and expectation of
future changes in the market.

Provision of piped Gas Fuel

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the management of the
Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period. The financial budgets are estimated
according to the stage of each operation with reference
to the development curve of the natural gas industry in
the PRC region. The pre-tax discount rate has been used
in discounting the cash flow forecast for CGUs is 15%
(2011:15%).

Lottery agency sales

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the management of the
Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by management covering
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period
are extrapolated using estimated declining growth rates of
16% to 4% (2011: nil) which does not exceed the long-term
growth rate for lottery game industry in the PRC and a pre-
tax discount rate of 21% (2011: nil).

20.
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21. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

21. BLEE

Exclusive
rights of Exclusive
Exclusive  operations rights of
rights of of piped operation of
purchase Gas Fuel lottery sales Total
BEREBRR BREEHE
BREBER REREF RERER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT
(Note a) (Note b) (Note ¢)
(Ffizta) (PHEDb) (FfiFEc)
Cost &N
At 1 April 2010 M2010F4A81H 12,614 102,440 - 115,054
Exchange realignment i X, 38 % 462 4,227 - 4,689
At 31 March 2011 and R201ME3A31H &

1 April 2011 2011454 H1H 13,076 106,667 - 119,743
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BBt B A 7

(Note 38) (Fff&£38) - - 781,646 781,646
Exchange realignment BE A B 435 3,980 3,899 8,314
At 31 March 2012 72012%3A31H 13,511 110,647 785,545 909,703

Amortisation B
At 1 April 2010 720104418 1,035 12,036 - 13,071
Charge for the year RNEEZ M 526 3,774 - 4,300
Exchange realignment fE 5 A 55 603 - 658
At 31 March 2011 and R2011F3A318 K&

1 April 2011 201144A18 1,616 16,413 - 18,029
Charge for the year REEMR 555 3,982 16,350 20,887
Exchange realignment IE 3,2 63 647 97 807
At 31 March 2012 720126 3A31H 2,234 21,042 16,447 39,723

Carrying values REE
At 31 March 2012 M20129F3H31H 11,277 89,605 769,098 869,980
At 31 March 2011 M201143A31H 11,460 90,254 - 101,714
Notes: B 3 -
a) It represented the exclusive rights of purchase of natural gas explored a) BEATHERE —EEMNEN A BFERR

in Yanji Basin, which is located in Yanji, Long Jing and Long City of
Yan Bian Korean Nation Autonomous Area in the eastern part of Jilin
Province, from an ex-associate — Yan Bian Hua Xin Oil Exploitation
Company Limited, for a period of 10 to 60 years.

The Group has performed annual impairment tests for the exclusive rights
by comparing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which it belongs to
its carrying amount and concluded that there is no indication that it needs
to be impaired as at 31 March 2012. The recoverable amount of the
CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations with reference to a
valuation performed by Asset Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified
valuer not connected to the Group. The value-in-use calculations use cash
flow projections based on a five-year financial budget approved by the
management of the Group. A pre-tax discount rate of 15% has been used
in discounting the projected cash flows for the impairment test as at 31
March 2012 (2011: 15%).

REYEE BN EMEREPILED KA
JAMIEE I RER TS RMFAEZRA
RRHI0E60F 2 BREMWHET o

AEEBRAEBBESELEM 2T WESHE
HEMBE2REEYBREBERNGETFE
SHAERN R, - W HEE R 2012463 A3 1B PR
FERE - ReELEN 2 ATRESEERE
AEEFEET K2 BASETERE
ZEUEEREEM(EETEEMARAR
A FTT 2 BE - FEREEFEERERAE
SEEREMEZSFVBEE RS REHR
Bl e gk 201243 A31 B 2R &8I 5 85 3R 7858
BenelREFERABATREIRE15% (20114 -
15% ) ©
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued) BILEE (&)

b) It represented the exclusive rights to operate in gas pipeline b) EEREETHM 2T BT RTEERR
infrastructure and provision of piped Gas Fuel granted by local EEERSBRIBEREERAZBREN &
government in various cities in the PRC for a period of 10 to 60 years. HBA10ZE60%F ©
The Group has performed annual impairment tests for the exclusive AEERALBBESEEELN 2 AT WE S E
rights by comparing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which HEMB REBEYSBRCEENETFE
it belongs to its carrying amount and concluded that there is no WERE  WHETER201263A31B Y TR
indication that it needs to be impaired as at 31 March 2012. The HERE REELBEM 2 ATRESEERE
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use REBEFHET K2 MEREE T EEE
calculations with reference to a valuation performed by Asset Appraisal ZRMNAERGEM(AETEBRBAERA
Limited, an independent qualified valuer not connected to the Group. AT E - EREEFEERERNAE
The value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on a EEEREEHEZSFHREECRERER
five-year financial budget approved by the .management of the Group Al ghA201243 A31 8 2w B 85 85 3R 88
A pre-tax discount rate of 15% has been used in discounting the RenBREEAMNATRIRE15% (20114 :
projected cash flows for the impairment test as at 31 March 2012 15% ) °
(2011: 15%).

) It represents the license of operating lottery business in Shenzhen, Q) R BRI TS E R R E 2 $R o R %
the PRC. On 1 August 2011, Shenzhen Le Cai and Shenzhen Welfare FERIITRBAERETPONR2011F871
Lottery Issuing Centre entered into a framework agreement in relation BEISZ 2 ER G Bt RN RANERE
to the appointment of Shenzhen Le Cai by Shenzhen Welfare Lottery THROBEZRERNER R RINGED \?Q;Kr/
Issuing Centre as its sole agent to distribute Keno Games Lottery and ZME—RIEB RS HEET %ﬁ%‘;‘%ﬁﬁ HAPR 720
as its agent to distribute Welfare Lotteries in Shenzhen for a term of 20 Fo
years.

The Group has performed annual impairment tests for the exclusive AEEBRALBBESEEEMN 2 AT WESE
rights by comparing the recoverable amount of the CGU to which HEMB REEYBRECEENETFE
it belongs to its carrying amount and concluded that there is no BER,  WHETER201263A31B Y TR
indication that it needs to be impaired as at 31 March 2012. The HERE REELBM 2 ATRESEENE
recoverable amount of the CGU is determined based on value-in-use AEEHEET K2 ZHERNEBEWERSE Y
calculations with reference to a valuation performed by Asset Appraisal NAEERGEM(BETEBERERAR)
Limited, an independent qualified valuer not connected to the Group. FTfT 2 ME -EREENECAEREEE
The value-in-use calculations use cash flow projections based on a five- EREECSFHREE 2 RS RETA
year financial budget approved by the management of the Group. Cash ABBESF Rz R e REEMGETHI6% T
flows beyond the five-year period are estimated declining growth rates [EE4%mERE (WERBAFETRTS
of 16% to 4% which does not exceed the long-term growth rates for REPERE)HEE - 3 R20126F3A318 2R/
lottery game industry in the PRC. A pre-tax discount rate of 21% has BEARMRABRARCRERCFERRAER
been used in discounting the projected cash flows for the impairment #21%

test as at 31 March 2012.

d) At 31 March 2012, the Group's exclusive rights of operations of d) M201263A31E  AEEBREBM AL
piped Gas Fuel amounting to approximately HK$2,238,000 (2011: EREF 48 %52,238,000T (20114 : B 1
HK$2,267,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted to the 2,267,0007) B F 1 9 £ 5 18 T 2 £ B 4R 77
Group (Note 43). B2 IR (Ki5E43) -

e) All of the exclusive rights of operations of piped Gas Fuel, lottery sales e) FEBREBRRLEE KEHELERRE
and purchases are amortised on a straight-line basis over the operation BREFMI0E60F 2 CE NN B FEEHR
period of 10 to 60 years. e

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 22. RFENEHER

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Cost of unlisted investments JEEMRE KA 8,905 66,767
Share of post-acquisition profits ik W B 18 a8 F1RLIR B
less dividend 21,824 10,677
Exchange realignment ME 3, 8 2 8,082 12,289
38,811 89,733
Amount due from an associate W — fE Bt R B 508
(Note 40) (FF7E40) 1,032 474
Amounts due to associates (Note 40) FEASEE 2 N A A (KTFE40) 1 11,851
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The amounts due from/to associates are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

Included in the cost of investment in associates is goodwill of
nil (2011: HK$8,397,000) arising on acquisition of associates
in prior years. The movement of goodwill is set out below:

22.

).

BMEDNTEES (&)

*

FEU B N R RIE R BB 28 K
/E\Eé%éjiﬁﬂé“i

N\

WEREERR ZIREKRAABIERE
BEFEWRBBHENRMEEAZEE
(20114 : 78 %8,397,0007T) - 2 & H)

T
HK$'000
BT T
Cost 5%
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011, 20104818 201143 A31H
1 April 2011 K2011F4/11° 8,397
Disposal & (8,397)
At 31 March 2012 201243 H31H -
Impairment WA
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011, M2010F4A1H 201193 A31H
1 April 2011 X2011F4/18 8,397
Eliminated on disposal 65 B 1 85 (8,397)

At 31 March 2012

Carrying values
At 31 March 2012 and 2011

7201293 A31H

BREE
MN20129F K20115E3A31H
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22. ABE DTSR (&)

Details of the Group's associates as at 31 March 2012 and

2011 are as follows:

PR2012%F M2011F38318 » REE 2
BNRFBIOT

Place of
Form of business establishment Class of ~ Group's effective
Name of company structure  and operation  shares held interest Principal activities
R R
ACEE EBRBEA BeEfmtEr HERHER  AREERER FTEXEHR
2012 2011
BLERAARARAF ([BLEZ]) Limited liability PRC  Contributed ~ 25% 25%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel and
(Dehua Guang An Natural Gas Co., Ltd.*) company # capital gas pipeline construction
("Dehua Guang An") AREMLAF EHER BERDEMARMEEERE
BMEREEEMRAERAR ([RRE]) Limited liability PRC  Contributed  25% 25%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel and
(Fuzhou An Ran Ju Pipeline Gas Co., Ltd.*) company HE capital gas pipeline construction
("An Ran Ju") BREFAT EHER BERDHMARMAEBRE
EMEZRRERAR ([ENER]) Limited liability PRC  Contributed ~ 25% 25%  Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel and
(Xiamen Jia An Gas Co., Ltd.*) company # capital gas pipeline construction
("Xiamen Jia An") ERERRT EHER HERDHMARMREBRE
TEES (AT RRERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed - 20% Fuel gas engineering investment and
(Zhongming Haiyou (Nanping) Gas company HE capital natural gas wholesale
Co., Ltd.*) BRERAH EHER RETRRERAARIRE
FREG (LR MRERERAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed o 40% Participate in supply video lottery
(Zhongmin Zai Xian (Beijing) Technology company HE capital operating system and equipment
Development Limited*) BREFAA EHER in the PRC
R BREREYERARE
RMKERTHBEREARAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed 409 Lotery agency sales
(TRIZ%]) company HE capital PEREBHE
(Shenzhen Yongheng Le Cai Technology BREFAT EHER
Development Limited*)
("Shenzhen Le Cai")
* For identification purpose only * EHER
# On 11 April 2011, the Group deregistered of Zhongming Haiyou # M0 F4R 118 RNREBFHFEEH (F

(Nanping) Gas Co., Ltd.

# On 4 July 2011, the Group disposed of its 40% equity interest in
Zhongmin Zai Xian (Beijing) Technology Development Limited, to an
independent third party for a consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to

HK$1).

i Shenzhen Le Cai became a subsidiary of the Group upon the step

acquisition during the year (Note 38).

FIRKRBRAF

i K201 EF7R4H  AEBENRBARE T
(FBERBB1T)  HEPRER (ER)BHY
BRBEBABL0%ZRIETFEIE=FH-

woORYIRT

RERZDEBREBRR AN EER

ZHEB AR (Hi3E38) °
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22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 22. R NAI R (#)
The summarised financial information in respect of the REEBENR CHBERB MO T -
Group’s associates is set out below:
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Total assets EERE 258,517 387,423
Total liabilities BEAR (103,273) (106,849)
Net assets BEFE 155,244 280,574
Group's share of net assets of & E EALEE AR
associates BEFE 38,811 89,733
Revenue WA 239,544 208,725
Profit for the year K FE i A 42,744 5,574
Group's share of results of NEEEALEE R
associates for the year NEEEE 10,086 137

The Group has discontinued recognition of its share of losses
of an associate since the Group's share of losses in that
associate has exceeded its interest in that associate. That
associate has been disposed to independent third party at a
consideration of RMB1 (equivalent to HK$1) during the year
ended 31 March 2012. The amounts of unrecognised share
of that associate, extracted from the relevant unaudited
management account of the Group's associate, both for the

year and cumulatively, are as follows:

AAEEEEBEATZEEDBAE
Rz EQRAMMEZ#D WASEDE
IEREEEZBERARZEBER B2
201263 A31HIEFEZEE R a B MR
BAREIT (HERBEIL)LETH
NEZH o AFERRFEEZEE AR
ZAEREE (Bta AL BB 22 R]H
AAEEZEERB)OT:

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Unrecognised share of losses of REEFRIEHERRZ
an associate for the year RIEREE - 244
Accumulated unrecognised share of ZETELBE AT 2
losses of an associate RIEREE - 941
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23. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 23. RAREHFHERZRE
ENTITIES
As at 31 March 2012, the Group had interests in the R2012%3 8318 REBR T EEH
following significant jointly controlled entities: EEH EBER
Place of Proportion of nominal
Form of establishment and Class of  value of paid-in-capital Paid-in-capital effectively
Name of company business structure operation shares held directly held by the Group held by Fujian An Ran Principal activities
HIR AEEERREL EEZABRSE
DAER EBERFA Befey  HERHER  CARAEERH ZEBHRA ITER
2012 2011 2012 2011
BRAZAMRREBRAA ([BRRA]) Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% - - Investment holding
("Fujian Province An Ran Gas Investment company # EHALT  (Note) (Note) REBR
Co., Ltd*") ("Fufian An Ran") EREEAH
DERRMRERAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Sha County An Ran Gas Co,, Ltd.*") company # ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
EREELT BEMSREZNEERR
BLEZRRABERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Jiangle County An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") company i EGER of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BREFAH BEMARERNREBRIE
ENREERAZREERAERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Fuzhou Development Area Futie An Ran company # E4ER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
Pipe Gas Co., Ltd.*") BREFAE EERIRERMRAEERS
BEZARRBRAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Nanping An Ran Gas Co,, Ltd.*") company # ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
BEREHELT BEMAREZNEEBRIE
REZAMEERAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Changle An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") company i EHER of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BREFAH BEMARERNREBRIE
XREREEMRARAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 46% 46% 90% 90%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Yong'an An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") company # E4ER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
BREEAR HERERERNREER
BETZARRARAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 13% 13% 26% 26%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Fuding City An Ran Gas Co., Ltd *") company # ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
BEREELT BEMAREZNEERR
EERAREERAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Long Yan An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") company i EGER of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
BREFAH BEMARERNREBRIE
ERZNEENRRERLA Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Luoyuan An Ran Pipeline Gas Co., company # E4ER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties

Ltd*") BREEAT HERARERAREERS
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23.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (Continued)

Place of

Form of establishment and

23. RAREFHERZRE (&)

Proportion of nominal
Class of  value of paid-in-capital Paid-in-capital effectively

Name of company business structure operation shares held directly held by the Group held by Fujian An Ran Principal activities
RIR AEEEREEL BEZABERE
ek EBRRRA fefts  BERGEE  CHRAEELA ZBHRE IBEH
2012 2011 2012 2011
BNHEERAREERAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Fuzhou Development Area An Ran Gas company # EHET of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
Co, Ltd*") EREELT BEMARERNEEER
ENZRRRERAT Limited liabilty PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Zhangzhou An Ran Gas Co., Ltd *") company mE ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
BREEAH HERERERNREERE
BIZRREERLA! Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Lianjiang An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") company # ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
BEREHLT BEMAREZNEEERE
HEBRARRARLR Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Minging Guang An Natural Gas company i EGER of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
Co, Ltd*") EREELT BEMARERNEEER
EEZARABRAT Limited liabilty PRC  Contributed capital 26% 26% 51% 51%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Ningde An Ran Gas Co., Ltd.*") company mE ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
BREEAH HERERERNREERE
ERRAMEERAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Zhangpu An Ran Gas Co,, Ltd.*") company # ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
BEREHLT BEMIRERNEERR
EARAMARRAA Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 51% 51% 100% 100%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Longhai An Ran Gas Co,, Ltd.*") company i EGER of Gas Fuel distribution facilities
EREELT BEMARERNEEER
EETMEZNAERAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 38% 38% 75% 75%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
(“Long Yan City Changning Gas Co., company mE ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
Ltd*") BREEAH HERERERNREERE
XEEBHMRRERARAR Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 38% 38% 75% 75%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Yongding Changning City Gas company # ERER of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
Development Co., Ltd.*") ERERLE BERIRRIMAEERS
EMERRARERAT Limited liability PRC  Contributed capital 38% 38% 75% 75%  Supply of Gas Fuel and installation
("Zhangzhou Long'an Gas Co., Ltd.*") company # EHET of Gas Fuel distribution facilties
EREELT BEMARERNREBRIE
# A subsidiary of Fujian An Ran RELZRZWEBRAR]
*  For identification purpose only * EHHER
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23. RAREFHERZRE (&)

Note: Fujian An Ran was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and during Mz BERARAEEZENBRR  REZE2010

the year ended 31 March 2010, the Group disposed of its 49% equity
interest in Fujian An Ran to an independent third party. Upon the
completion of the disposal, the Group holds 51% of the equity interest
of Fujian An Ran. According to the memorandum of association of
Fujian An Ran, 4 out of 7 directors of Fujian An Ran are appointed
by the Group. Further, 4 out of 7 shareholders’ representatives of
Fujian An Ran are appointed by the Group. Hence the Group controls
approximately 57% of the voting power in the board of directors
meeting and shareholders meeting. As all the major decisions make
in the board of directors meeting and shareholders meeting of
Fujian An Ran require at least 2/3 votes from all of the directors and
shareholders’ representative, Fujian An Ran is accounted for as a jointly

FIANBALFE AEERA—RBILFE=S
HEENBRER R Z49%M M - N & T &
% AEERAERERASI%EE REEZ
LARNEIR BREATREFTHf42mAE
BZE-BE BRELATERRERRKRE P45
MAEERE-FEt AEEZGEEEEH
MR EH LH57 %R ERE - AN RELRE
FegaBRREFE LI RRENT
ELEREZTNBRARBEHITAEL -
BERELRIIEHRZHEE -

controlled entity.

The summarised financial information in respect of the REERARAEHEB R s MEE
Group's interests in the jointly controlled entities which are BT AR B RS IR BlAR & AR - 8T
accounted for using proportionate consolidation with the (S N

line-by-line reporting format is set out below:

2012 2011

HKS$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

Current assets MENEE 141,836 117,826
Non-current assets EREBEE 667,283 544,117
Current liabilities MBBE 225,210 216,547
Non-current liabilities IERBEE 234,426 190,707
2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Income WA 340,403 210, 614
Expenses X 280,858 192,500
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24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS 24, AIHHESREE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Listed securities EHES
Securities listed in Hong Kong, REBLTMES
at fair value (Note 6(c)) AR E (5Ee)) 54 56
Unlisted securities FLEHES
Equity securities, at cost (Note) MEABE S TR (HI5E) 90,703 13,246
Impairment loss recognised B HERIAEEE (6,796) (6,556)
83,907 6,690
Total At 83,961 6,746

Note: The unlisted investment represents investment in unlisted equity
interests in private entities incorporated in the PRC. They are measured
at cost less impairment at the end of the reporting period because
the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant that the
Directors are of the opinion that their fair values cannot be measured
reliably.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the deposit paid
for acquisition of long-term investment was transferred to
available-for-sale financial assets upon completion of the

MisE: SELMBRERRPREEMAIZILAERZ
SEEMREZIRE  ARNAE AR BRI
ERA UBEERRERABE TR E
B MARREERENRRR AR E

g2

HZE2012F3A83MHILEE st B R
REENZeR TR WERDERET
HEESHMEE-

acquisition.
25. INVENTORIES 25. B8
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Welfare lottery tickets 'R E 1,029 -
Construction materials, spare parts BEYE - BHRERED
and consumables 41,053 26,657
Gas appliances MR EA 205 340
Gas Fuel, including natural gas MR (BERXARR
and LPG RAEAHR) 5,567 7,780

47,854 34,777
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 26. ES R HMEWKRE

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT T

Trade and bill receivables B 5 EREIE R ENEE 73,184 51,369

Less: Impairment loss recognised W ERMEZERKKIER

in respect of trade and bill R EBEERZ

receivables FEEE (11,401) (6,820)

61,783 44,549

Other receivables E 4th jE U 3008 129,940 211,078
Less: Impairment loss recognised in W B BLE M EUGRIE

respect of other receivables BHRZARAERIE (23,458) (25,542)

106,482 185,536

168,265 230,085

The Group allows its trade customers with credit periods
normally ranging from 30 days to 90 days and extending to
180 days for major customers. The Group does not hold any
collateral over the balances.

An aged analysis of the trade and bill receivables (net of
impairment loss recognised) as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

REBRTEESEFPEESH KA
30HZEOHTNE AT BEERFERSE
180H - AKBMZEEHR T EFE TN
M@ e

B S REWFIE N EWEE OB R 2R
BEEB)RRERRZERS T BiE%
FEHHHT:

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Current to 90 days ENEZE90H 41,862 29,531
91 days to 180 days 91H £180H 8,559 6,385
Over 180 days 180H M F 11,362 8,633

61,783 44,549
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the impairment loss recognised in respect
of trade receivables are as follows:

26. EZRHEHMBWRE &)

BME 5 M OR R B A
RN

2012 2011

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

At 1 April R4R1H 6,820 805

Impairment loss recognised R REEE 4,672 6,063

Amount written-off as uncollectible i 3E A AT W E RIE - (228)
Reversal of impairment loss ERBEFERER

recognised in previous years VEREN SRk (368) -

Exchange realignment ME 3, 8 2 277 180

At 31 March M3A31H 11,401 6,820

Included in the impairment loss recognised are individually
impaired trade receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$11,401,000 (2011: HK$6,820,000). The
individually impaired receivables mainly related to debtors
that are in financial difficulties or of poor credit history.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses a system
to assess the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers
are reviewed on a regular basis. Over 82% of the trade
receivables were neither past due nor impaired at 31 March
2012 (2011: 81%).

Aging of trade receivables which are past due but not
impaired:

ERERABEEERE@ANEREZES
FEUEIE - &R A A 11,401,0007T
(20114 : 8 #6,820,0007T) ° @B 2 A
BEEKGETZEMBYRRENEE
WETEZEFEABR-

EENERFTE LA AEBRE —ER
BRFHBEREP 2 EELEERATH
FEEEE -FPF2EZERBEeTHEZ -
RBEAEEMRAZEERS  R2012F
3A318 - B2 EURFKHB882% (2011
F:81% ) m AR KFE -

EEHE R ARREZ B S BUGRIARE |

2012 2011

HK$000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Within 90 days 90HIN 5,899 5,767
91 days to 180 days 91H £180H 37 468
181 days to 365 days 181H £365H 2,686 1,301
Over 365 days HBiE365H 2,759 1,145

11,381 8,681
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

At 31 March 2012, included in the Group's trade receivable
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$11,362,000 (2011: HK$8,633,000) which
are past due at the reporting date and aged over 180 days
for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
The average age of these trade receivables at 31 March 2012
is approximately 107 days (2011: 111 days).

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of independent customers that have a good
track record with the Group. Based on past experience,
management believes that no impairment loss is necessary in
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant
change in credit quality and the balances are still considered
fully recoverable.

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate
to a wide range of customers for whom there was no recent
history of default.

An analysis of the other receivables by nature (net of
impairment loss recognised) as at the end of the reporting
period is as follows:

26.

B REMBEYRE &)

M2012F3A318 AEE 2 & 5 R
EEAESBIEERAELHE 11,362,000
7C (20114F : #18,633,0007T ) 2 FE U BR
FORSEEFAREEHC AN REE
B180H » MAE B M REZFHRAFTE
WEEE -ZSE 5 ERFEIAR201243
A318 2 FHERER 4 A1078 (20114 ¢
1118) °

278 H (B i ROR (B 2 FE WOk IR B A TR
AEERBRENACBZBIEFPA
MoREpBELR EEEMRE ARE
EERWESAE - N EBB&ERTDH
BARAIERKD  HHFRAZSERIEL
&S -

MR RS RE ERRERS B R
B SRR SELEBRAH -

H il URIE O 2 R 2R ERE) R
BEHRZON REBEEWNT

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Prepayments TE IR 16,967 12,537
Deposit paid/payment in advance BEffike TANTHERZ
to suppliers RIB 71,970 59,619
Others H b 17,545 17,247
Amount due from a former JE L — i B Bt 2 8 R 3R
associate — Note(i) — B EEG) - 3,556
Consideration receivable for HEBEZEINRE-
assets disposal — Note (i) B 5% (i) - 76,634
Amount due from a shareholder el —REE AT 2
of an associate — Note (iii) — 2 P& 3R R TE — B (i) - 14,032
Interest receivables from other loan GE N FIRER 2 Mt E R
to shareholder of an associate PSS - 1,911
106,482 185,536

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

AEEYEREZFEHREMERRD -
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26. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The balance due from a former associate was unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand. The amount has been settled during the
year ended 31 March 2012.

(i) With reference to details had been disclosed in Note 17, the Group
has disposed of certain property, plant and equipment and prepaid
lease payments to Guiyang Railway Construction at a total cash
consideration of approximately RMB66,206,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$76,634,000) during the year ended 31 March 2011.
The amount has been settled during the year ended 31 March 2012.

(iii) The balance due from a shareholder of an associate was unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. The balance was disposed of
through disposal of subsidiaries (Note 39).

The movements in the impairment loss recognised in respect
of other receivables are as follows:

6. EFNRHMBUWRE &)

o

(i) FE—MATE S QR REA SR AEIRE - 28
FERERKER ZEBEREZE20124F3
B31A L FE&ET-

(ii) BT R B 2 5B BE201143A31
ALLFE AEEEHEETYE BERK
HEURBEMRAS TEREEKES HaRE
WM AR ¥66,206,0007T (FHER LB’
76,634,0007T) *#Z & FEE R B £201243A°
3TELEFELEM-

(i)  EH-—MEBERRZ -BRRABZERR
EIER 2 S EREREE ZEHREEBH
EMBAREE (M39) -

ERHEMERFARR ZREEBEZES
LI

2012 2011

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T M T T

At 1 April R4H1H 25,542 23,551

Impairment loss recognised BRI EREE 1,578 343

Amount written-off as uncollectible 885 71 AT W 1=l FRIE (4,576) -
Reversal of impairment loss ERiBTFERER

recognised in previous years Ve RIEYSEi=REAE (31) (146)

Exchange realignment ME 5, 8 B 945 1,794

At 31 March M3HA318 23,458 25,542

Included in the impairment loss recognised are individually
impaired other receivables with an aggregate balance of
approximately HK$23,458,000 (2011: HK$25,542,000). The
individually impaired receivables mainly related to debtors
that are in unexpected financial difficulty or of poor credit
history.

BERABEEBEE@ENE BERME
Wk IE - # 8 E R H B 23,458,0007T
(20114 : ##25,542,0007T) - @R 2
BEEKRFEETZEHME ER 228
BRSES EECH T EZEEABR-
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OTHER LOAN TO A SHAREHOLDER OF 27. BERNTBIRRZHMER BN
AN ASSOCIATE/AMOUNT DUE TO A —EBERAT 2z —BRRMKE
SHAREHOLDER OF AN ASSOCIATE
The balance for the year ended 31 March 2011 represented HE201ME3A3MBIEFE 2 B2
loan advanced to Yongheng Development, which was KIEF R B BKEBELEK 260%AE
secured by its 60% shareholdings of the Shenzhen Le Cai, R HF B K A5E B BAMN20129F5 8
which carried interest rate at 5% per annum and repayable 1MHEEE - R2011F6 75138 A A A H
on 11 May 2012. On 13 June 2011, the Company entered KIBEBAT W - WK KIBER R T
into an agreement with Yongheng Development to purchase 60% % - LB KB R 2 EREE
the remaining 60% interests in Shenzhen Le Cai and this B RAB T LA o FHIBFNMIEE38 ©
loan to Yongheng Development had been set off as part of
the consideration. Details are set out in Note 38.
Amount due to a shareholder of an associate was unsecured, ER—ABE AR —ERERBELAE
interest-free and repayable on demand. B R BBREREE-
AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO A JOINT VENTURER 28. B H—HEELEREFN
b |
The balance due from/to a joint venturer is unsecured, Ul H—EEELEAE T RELER
interest-free and repayable on demand. REEF RERARERKEER-
HELD-TO-MATURITY INVESTMENTS 29. FERIHRE
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Held-to-maturity investments consist of: BEZIBHRERRE:
— structured deposit —HEREMETR 40,554 35,562

At 31 March 2012, held-to-maturity investments represents
a structured deposit with fixed interest which ranging from
4.6% to 5% (2011: 4%) per annum which has a maturity
of 1 month with a nominal amount of RMB33,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$40,554,000)
(2011: RMB30,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$35,562,000).

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH

At the end of the reporting period, the bank balances
and cash of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to
approximately HK$285,936,000 (2011: HK$172,268,000).
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies.
However, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

30.

M20129F3A310 HE 2R R ERL
BHEFEZ BEFERLIGEZE5E (2011
F4E) AH—EA BEARK
33,000,0007T (FHE R 481 40,554,000
Jt) (20114 : AR %30,000,0007T (46
BN 478%35,562,0007T) ) °

CEMRTER RITEHRRE

S7

RIREHR - AEBUARBEE 2717
48k 2 IR & 4978 #285,936,0007T (2011
& B 5172,268,0007T) - AREETB B
HRHBAEME M RIEF B A
2 ONEE B ARG K 45 EE - 1 IE K B TEE IR
HE AERBEEFSRERELEIINEE
BZRITBARB LB BEME .
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30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES
AND CASH (Continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made
for varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates.

Included in bank deposits, bank balances and cash are the
following amounts denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entity to which they relate:

30. SHEMBITHER RITEHRRER

®(#)

RITBRSRBARTERNRFEZF
BREAE -EHER TR ERR S —
BE=EA BURRAKE KRG H
Ko mBBZEMERFRN KRR -

FITEH RITERRALQEUT 22
AW B R 2 DA )
Z WA

2012 2011

HK$°000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

HK$ & 49,331 79,136
usD ETT 19,857 19,587

The pledged bank deposits at 31 March 2012 carried
prevailing market interest rate at 0.36% per annum (2011:
0.36%), and represented deposits pledged with a bank as
guarantee for the letter of credit issued to a supplier.

MR2012%3 8318 BB ITHERIEF
£.0.36% (20115 :0.36% ) 2 W1TH 5
FEFTE BB EBFRITIEARHER
ERERARZERZTER
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31. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 31.

The following is an analysis of major components of the
balance with aged analysis of trade payables based on the

EZRHEMENRE

REZZEAHEIRNRALHREEH
DZANEIREDHTAT

invoice date:
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade payables, falling due in: HZEMNFIE FHBAHT:
Current to 90 days BENHIZ=90H 40,760 35,512
91 to 180 days 91H=180H 11,182 12,523
Over 180 days 180H M £ 27,288 20,422
Trade payables B SRS IE 79,230 68,457
Deposit received from customers WEEF zEe (MEED)
(Note i) 150,064 139,333
Customer gas deposits and other BEPMREZES R
deposit received Hipiz & 24,895 10,840
Gas Fuel income received in advance T8 BRI 24,695 22,817
Commission income from lottery sales FFRFEHE AT
received in advance 114 -
Other payables for the purchase of BEWE BERREH-
property, plant and equipment, intangible EFEEENREMNEEZE
assets and prepaid lease payments fth & 1< 5K IR 1,700 916
Other loans (Note ii) HEa e (Maxii) - 2,371
Accrued charges and other payables FEET B A I H M S 3OR 35,952 32,841
316,650 277,575

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 90 days.
The Group has financial risk management policies in place
to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time
frame.

Notes:

(i) Deposits received from customers represent the gas pipeline
connection fee received but the pipelines have not yet been completed
as at the end of the reporting period.

(i) Other loans as at 31 March 2011 were unsecured, interest bearing at
rates ranging from nil to 7.47% per annum and repayable within one
year. The amount has been settled during the year ended 31 March
2012.

RBE M2 FHEEHRRI0R - REEET
B EREERER  BRAE RN
RIEEHRIBE-

By g

(i) WBEFZREEERBRZRREERRE
WA EEBRBRE R RTK

(ii) M2011F3A31B 2 M EF A BT IR F
MEZETAT%T B RAR—FREIE &KX
HEREHZE2012F3A31B L FEERNDEE-
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32.

33.

AMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

32. BN —RESENE

HK$'000

BET T

Acquisiton of subsidiaries (Note 38) Uk B B 8~ =) (Bt 5E38) 30,759

Imputed interest JEE T S 788

At 31 March 2012 M2012F3A31H 31,547
Analysed as: BAT BB

Current liabilities REBAMG 3,833

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 27,714

31,547

On 15 May 2011, Shenzhen Le Cai entered into equity
transfer agreements with Mr. Yang, the executive director
of Shenzhen Le Cai (subsequently appointed as executive
director of the Company on 19 December 2011). The
Group pursuant to which Shenzhen Le Cai acquired
100% equity interest in Shenzhen Jin Cai at an aggregate
consideration of approximately RMB51,006,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$62,681,000). Part of the consideration in
the amount of RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$43,012,000) payable to Mr. Yang will be settled in
ten equal annual installments amount of RMB3,500,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,301,000). The effective
interest rate to discount future cash payment is 7.05%.

BANK BORROWINGS

R2011E5A158 @ R 45 R 31| 245
ZHITEEEMELRE (EBR20114F
128 19BEZTAERRRMITES ) F:]
PR R AN BRI ORI A
BREH ANRERES1,006,0007T (HHERL
75 #62,681,0007T ) W BB & Yl %2 100%
fEHE - FER G AL ELORESBBAR
35,000,000 (MEE R HBK
43,012,00070) B AR FEREHOHEEA
R #3,500,0007C (MBE R & B
4,301,0007C) FE105F R 4 1+F - BRIR K 7K
RENHKZEBRFEE7T.OSR -

33. RITEE

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Secured bank loans BEMBITER 238,674 210,740
Unsecured bank loans mIKIARITER 45,881 3,557
284,555 214,297
The bank loans are repayable: AR TYRBEEZ
RITEN
Within one year or on demand —FRNRREKE 66,920 21,693
In the second year REZF 15,355 18,795
In the third to fifth year, inclusive REZZFERF
(BRIEERMF) 81,633 65,595
Over five years REFEE 120,647 108,214
284,555 214,297
Less: Amounts due within one year B — FE AR AR E
shown under current liabilities BEzZeHE (66,920) (21,693)
Amounts due after one year —FRIHz e 217,635 192,604
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33. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 33. RITEBE (&)
Secured bank loans were secured by pledging of various EEMRTERUNERAER 2ETA
assets of the Group, details of which are set out in Note 43. EERER  FHBEHIINMEL3 -
All bank loans (secured and unsecured) are floating rate FTARTER (BEE M ERKIR) BFF
borrowings of which interest rates are in the range of LN F531%%E853% (2011F : 1 F
5.31% to 8.53% per annum (2011: ranging from 5.31% to 531%%6.06% ) Z/F BB EEE -
6.06%).
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 34. EEHEEE
The components of deferred tax liabilities recognised in EIETIE BE 2 B E D RS B SR
the consolidated statement of financial position and the MmEER ZSHEKE IR AFE &
movements during the year are as follows: T
Property,
plant and Intangible Others
equipment assets (Note ) Total
M- HE Hity
&L BREE (MizEc) &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BT
At 1 April 2010 72010F471H 1,061 13,292 = 14,353
Exchange realignment BEE 5 o B 40 382 = 422
(Credited) charged to consolidated RAFE 242 EEA
statement of comprehensive wm&HP (GEA) Mk
income for the year (Note 13) (Bfg5E13) (118) (364) 5,266 4,784
At 31 March 2011 and R2011F3HA31H K
1 April 2011 R2011F4A18 983 13,310 5,266 19,559
Exchange realignment BEE 5 2 B 36 1,302 194 1,532
Additions arising from acquisition ~ WEMB AR FELSZ
of subsidiaries (Note 38) ANE (KE38) - 195,411 - 195,411
Credited to consolidated RAFEZEHE2E
statement of comprehensive WARETHEFTA
income for the year (Note 13) (BFsE13) (122) (4,397) - (4,519)
At 31 March 2012 2012963 A31H 897 205,626 5,460 211,983
Note: B 5
a) At the end of the reporting period, the Group a) REmEHR KNEETAEHRER

had unrecognised tax losses of approximately
HK$117,749,000 (2011: HK$85,829,000) available
to offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the unrecognised
tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Such unrecognised tax losses will be carried
forward for five years from respective dates of
origination.

RomHz RERRIBABEB LB
117,749,0007C (20114 : B &
85,829,0007T ) ° AR K X F| 51
AER WM ERRER 2B EE
BHEAEEMBEE -ZERER
ZRIERIE B EEER AR AE
54 o
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Note:

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) 34, EEMERE (4)

b) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had by RBEPR AEEHEUILRE
deductible temporary differences of approximately B 2= 58 4975 #519,018,0007T (2011
HK$19,018,000 (2011: HK$6,406,000). No deferred F 4 %6,406,0007T) o #f & B Z
tax has been recognised in relation to such deductible AR EREHEERELENE T
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable AT GEEERT G N AREEA
profit will be available against which the deductible MR E R ZREATE
temporary difference can be utilised.

c)  The deferred tax was recognised in respect of the gain 0 HMEBLERTVE BEREE
on disposal of certain property, plant and equipment ZWERBEMAEE FHBREFIM
and prepaid lease payments to the PRC government BB ERER - FIBH AW
authority. Details are set out in Note 17. According 17 o REBHEBELEMSEHE &
to the respective EIT Law, the PRC government BB AT FALEEEZ
authority allows to defer the EIT for gain on disposal MR ET RAT A AT HUR B B A AN 12
of the assets in five years times after considering RAE PRS- R2012F3 A31
any deductible reconstruction cost. As at 31 March B RNEBEGFERITKE 2 KK
2012, the Group estimated the future cost of re- B AN 49 75 #534,613,0007T ° (2011
constructing a new plant amounting to approximately F 1 5¥33,387,0000T )  H 2012
HK$34,613,000 (2011: HK$33,387,000). No re- FIANMHLEEFE YEELAFMNE
constructing cost was incurred during the year ended AN (20114F - 48 ) ©
31 March 2012 (2011: nil).

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. BAK
2012 2011 2012 2011
Number of Number of
shares shares HK$'000 HK$'000
R EE &2 E BETT BT
Authorised: EIE

Ordinary shares of HK$0.07 each BREEEK0.07TL
LiaR 7,999,999,999 7,999,999,999 560,000 560,000

Issued and fully paid: BETRER:

At the beginning of the year R 4,082,224,554 4,082,224,554 285,756 285,756

Issue of consideration shares BIIRERD

(Note 38) (P7E38) 1,727,729,582 - 120,941 -

At the end of the year REXR 5,809,954,136 4,082,224,554 406,697 285,756

On 1 September 2011, 1,727,729,582 consideration shares with par value of
HK$0.07 each were allotted and issue to Yongheng Development as part of
the consideration for the acquisition of Grand Destiny (Note 38). The fair value
of the 1,727,729,582 new ordinary shares of the Company, determined using
the closing market price of HK$0.194 per share as the date of completion and

exchange control, amounted to approximately HK$335,179,000.

None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2012 and 2011.

M EE -

H2011F9A 18 1,727,729,582 R E A% 7 © A %
RBATTKEZEE SREMEASB0.07T A
BEERTEZHDHRE (M738) cLLRZA AR
R HERERAK 1ML KT EEE
AN E1,727,729,582MF E B 2 AR EAKNBE
335,179,0007T

REZE2012F K201 F3A318 IEFE - AAEZH
BARGERE  HERBEO AR BEABRND -
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36. SHARE OPTIONS

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of the
Share Option Scheme include full-time employees (including
executive directors), consultants, agents and advisors of the
Group. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 3
October 2006.

Terms of Share Option Scheme

As at 31 March 2012, the total number of shares available
for issue under the Share Option Scheme was 408,222,455
(2011: 94,407,405), representing approximately 7.03%
(2011: 2.31%) of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 March 2012. Without prior approval from the
Company’s shareholders, the total number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme
is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, and the aggregate
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to any individual in any year is not permitted to
exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any
point in time.

No amount is payable on acceptance of an offer to grant an
option to subscribe for the shares of the Company granted
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme (the "Offer”). The
Share Option Scheme may be exercised at any time for
a period of ten years commencing after a period of six
months from the date of acceptance of the Offer, subject to
the conditions imposed by the board of the directors. The
exercise price of the option shares would be at a price equal
to the higher of: (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on
the date of offer of the option; (ii) the average closing prices
of the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of offer of
the options; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

No share option was granted during the year ended 31
March 2012. During the year ended 31 March 2011,
201,600,000 options were granted under the Share Option
Scheme to the eligible participants of the Group.

36.
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36.

SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued)

The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share
options held by category of participants (including Directors)
under Share Option Scheme and movements in such

holdings during the year.

36. B (&)
BREST B 2R (&)

TREBEREBBRESS SRH248E
(BREFR)FELARRABEREZFBER

FRARSHEEZEHBENR -

At 31 March At
Date of grantof ~ At1April  Grantduring  Lapsed during 2011 and Lapsed during 31 March Exercise period  Exercise price
Category of participant share options 2010 the year theyear 1 April 2011 Redlassification the year 2012 of share options  of share options
HKS
RONE
R2010% 38316 R R2012%
SREER BRERLES 4A1R EREH ER&H  2011E481R i EREH 3A318 BREGRAE  BREGCKE
L
(Note 1) (Note 3) (Note 2)
L)) (W3) (Mz2)
Directors 2 Apr 2007 34,650,000 - (34,650,000) - - - - 18 October 2007 to 0530
£% 200754528 1 October 2010
2007F10A18R %2010
£10818
15 October 2007 11,960,000 - - 11,960,000 - (11,960,000) - 1 May 2008 to 0514
20075105158 14 April 2011
208558102
WI1E4A14R
12 April 2010 - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0385
2010£4A128 11 April 2013
0105471282
2013545117
29 November 2010 - 35,650,000 - 35,650,000 5,000,000 - 40,650,000 1 December 2010 to 0282
20108115298 30 November 2013
0106128182
2013114308
Continuous contract employees 2 Aprl 2007 80,820,000 - (80,820,000) - - - - 18 October 2007 to 0.530
RERNNIER 200754528 1 October 2010
20075107186 %
2010510818
15 October 2007 35,190,000 o (2,900,000) 32,290,000 - (32,290,000) - 1 May 2008 to 0514
20075105158 14 April 2011
2008F5A1RE
011545148
2 November 2007 1,100,000 - (400,000) 700,000 - (700,000) - 10 May 2008 to 0632
2007511528 1 May 2011
2008E581002
01155418
4 January 2008 20,000,000 - - 20,000,000 - (20,000,000) - 17 July 2008 to 0382
20085154 3 July 201
20857A1782
01157A3A
12 April 2010 - 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0385
2010£4A128 11 April 2013
0105441282
013547117
29 November 2010 - 77,000,000 - 77,000,000 (5,000,000) - 72,000,000 1 December 2010 to 0282
20108115298 30 November 2013

010512A18F
013511308
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36. BR#E (&)
R & 2R (F)

At 31 March At
Date of grantof ~ At1April  Grantduring  Lapsed during 2011 and Lapsed during 31 March Exercise period  Exercise price
Category of participant share options 2010 the year theyear 1 April 2011 Redlassification the year 2012 of share options ~ of share options
HKS
RONE
#0105 EZEIL:D OlIbES
S8EER BRERLES 4818 ERRL EREH 20154518 ENOR EREX 3A318 BREGEDE  BREGKE
BT
(Note 1) (Note 3) (Note 2)
{iEa)) (Wi3) (M2)
Consultants 11 October 2006 46,000,000 - (46,000,000) - - - - 11 April 2007 to 0.385
EEIN 2006510A118 10 April 2010
W00754R1BE
2010545108
2 Apri 2007 59,382,000 - (59,382,000) - - - - 18 October 2007 to 0530
200754428 1 October 2010
20071071862
2010510817
15 October 2007 18,750,000 - - 18,750,000 - (18,750,000) - 1 May 2008 to 0514
20075105158 14 April 2011
W0855A1HE
011545147
12 April 2010 - 23,000,000 - 23,000,000 - - 23,000,000 12 April 2010 to 0385
010548128 11 April 2013
0105431282
2013545118
29 November 2010 - 34,700,000 - 34,700,000 - - 34,700,000 1 December 2010 to 0.282
20105115298 30 November 2013
W10E12A1RE
20135118308
Agents 2 Apri 2007 26,540,000 - (26,540,000) - - - - 18 October 2007 to 0530
182 200754428 1 October 2010
20071071862
2010510817
15 October 2007 9,760,000 - (1,020,000) 8,740,000 - 8,740,000) - 1 May 2008 to 0514
20075105158 14 April 2011
W08E5A1HE
011545147
29 November 2010 - 18,250,000 - 18,250,000 - - 18,250,000 1 December 2010 to 0282
20105115297 30 November 2013
0105128182

013511308
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 36. B (&)
Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued) ERESTS ZHER(£)
At 31 March At
Date of grant of At1April  Grantduring  Lapsed during 2011 and Lapsed during 31 March Exercise period  Exercise price
Category of participant share options 2010 the year theyear 1 April 2011 Redlassification the year 2012 of share options ~ of share options
HKS
NINES
R20105 331K R2012F
SREEN BRERLES 4A1R ERRE ER&R  2011F4A1R EfiAE EREX 38318 BREGGED  BREGRE
BT
(Note 1) (Note 3) (Note 2)
(1) (Wi3) (Wk2)
Advisors 2 April 2007 13,610,000 - (13,610,000) - - - - 18 October 2007 to 0530
B 20075428 1 October 2010
200751071862
201081081
15 October 2007 4,690,000 - - 4,690,000 B 4,690,000) - 1 May 2008 to 0514
20075105158 14 April 2011
2008558102
011545147
29 November 2010 - 9,000,000 - 9,000,000 - - 9,000,000 1 December 2010 to 0282
20105115298 30 November 2013
0106128182
2013114308
362,452,000 201,600,000 (265,322,000) 298,730,000 _ (97,130,000 201,600,000
Exercisable at the end of the year 298,730,000 201,600,000
RERTFHfE
Weighted average exercise price 050 030 0.50 0.36 028 049 030
ETHGHEE
Notes: Bt 5
1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant 1. EhE:GBAAERERAZTEHEMASA
until the commencement of the exercise period. Bl
2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment in 2. EARDEEITHAR - BATAR AR RIR A
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the IBEMBLUEB - BBRE 2 ITHEEAERSA
Company's share capital. Ko
3. During the year ended 31 March 2012, certain Directors are resigned 3. REE2012F3A318LFE ETESEH
and retained in the Group as employees and certain employees are ATHBIAEEEERERETRECES
appointed as directors of the Company. ERARRAIES-
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BRETEETHEAAZTEREINR
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. RRE LIREZER-
The Group recognised total expenses of HK$16,618,000 for REZE2011F3A318LF R AEEH®
the year ended 31 March 2011 in relation to share options RARRE 2 BRERAR AT EE
granted by the Company (2012: nil). 16,618,0007T (20124 4% ) o
None of the share options have been exercised during the REZE201293A318 K201143A318

years ended 31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011. IEFE - EBREETE:
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SHARE OPTIONS (Continued) 36. B (&)
Terms of Share Option Scheme (Continued) ERETE ZER (£)
The fair values of the share options granted during the year REZE2011F3A31H L FEREERE
ended 31 March 2011 were calculated using the Binomial ZARBETRBZEARX TLUETE - #%
model. The inputs into model were as follows: BR2EMT
29 November
2010 12 April 2010
20105118298 201064A12H
Weighted average share price i RE HK$0.282 HK$0.385
75 10.2827T 75 10.3857T
Weighted average exercise price nEFHITEE HK$0.282 HK$0.385
75 10.2827T 75 10.3857T
Expected volatility (%) T8 HA R B (%) 77.28 82.06
Expected life TEHAF IR 1.45 1.45
Risk free rate gl 0.767% 1.265%
Expected dividend yield TEHIRR B % n/a”I i A n/a”fiE A
The volatility measured at the standard deviation of expected TEHREBRREEZNREBINIRZEER
share price returns is based on statistical analysis of daily HEBRS2EERcSHRESRT ST
share prices over 52 weeks immediately preceding the grant T
date.
The estimated fair value of options granted on 12 April 2010 72010544128 K20105F11 298 &%
and 29 November 2010 were approximately HK$2,952,000 H2EBREGTRIAED QB
and HK$13,666,000 respectively. 2,952,000t & % #13,666,0007T ©
The Binominal Model has been used to estimate the fair —HEAEXDARN G EREZAARE
value of the options. The variables and assumptions used in AEEBREAAERAATEZERZRER
computing the fair value of the share options are based on BORBEECREMRGEE BREZ
the Directors’ best estimate. The value of an option varies BEBIRETEFERRZ2TRATER
with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. =o
EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 37. EERKERETE

In April 2005, the Group enrolled all non-PRC employees in
a Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group under the control of trustees. The retirement benefit
cost for the MPF charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income represents contributions payable to
the fund by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

R20054F4 7 AEBE LB A IET Bl E
BE2EJFUELESE ([BRESF
g) - BB B EEHTFEALS
EAKEZEEDRFE REAZER
ARER RN 2 8 T8 & R A8 F A 5
AREIZRBEERAEEZ LR E
NESZHK-
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37. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 37. EERMKERNGE (&)

(Continued)

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC have
participated in defined contribution retirement schemes
organised by the relevant local government authorities in the
PRC. All PRC employees are entitled to an annual pension
equal to a fixed portion of their ending basic salaries at their
retirement dates. The Group is required to make specific
contributions to the retirement schemes at a rate of 12% to
25% percent of basic salary of its PRC employees and have
no further obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the
annual contributions made.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income of approximately HK$3,656,000 (2011:
HK$3,465,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012.

AEERTHEEEZHMBRARZ2MH
EARM T B EE SN 2 ERETR
Ketdl-FETEEEAEZABESENE
ENRABEHRZEAF S 2 B E L
ERERFE AEEAZTEREEER
e 212%E25%[AR KA BIE L E
HRBRIERFREHRISN AERELEHR
fil BRI AR F) 2 A HE -

Rir A 2ERAREK NG 2 @A B
3,656,0007T (20114 : # #3,465,000
TO)IEAREEE E2012F3A31HIEF
RSS2 #®HRe
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 13 June 2011, the Company, as a purchaser, entered
into the agreement with Yongheng Development, pursuant
to which the Company has conditionally agreed to purchase
and Yongheng Development has conditionally agreed to sell
the entire interest in Grand Destiny for a total consideration
of approximately HK$380,568,000, which is satisfied by (i)
allot and issue of 1,727,729,582 consideration shares of the
Company of HK$0.194 each determined using the closing
market price of 1 September 2011, the date of acquisition
and exchange of control, amount to HK$335,179,000; and
(i) set-off against the loan due from Yongheng Development
amounting to HK$43,050,000 and the related accrued
interest up to 10 June 2011 of approximately HK$2,339,000.
Before the acquisition, the Group held 40% equity interest in
Shenzhen Le Cai and upon the completion of the acquisition,
Grand Destiny indirectly held the remaining 60% equity
interest in Shenzhen Le Cai. The transaction had been
completed on 1 September 2011. Grand Destiny was acquired
so as to continue the expansion of the Group's lottery agency
business. Details of the identifiable assets and liabilities
acquired and the calculation of goodwill are as follows:

38. WEKMELQ A

R2011FE6A13B AR AR (1EBEH)
BB IME B ARABEK
HREREmMXKEEREEGERELE
REZLE2HBE BREHBE
380,568,0007T ' B IRA T AR A ()
o 3% Ko B 1T AN R RIN,727,729,582 0% (R (B
[ - Bl M EEITER2011F9H18 (Bf
WEARBERBREG B 2 WmEE
FABTR0.1947T AT BB
335,179,0007T : M. (ii)i 18 1K §5 & YooK 1B
R B B 43,050,000 M E E£2011
FeRA10B ZHBENBE N BK
2,339,0007T ° AU EERT - REEFA R
AWM AT WEBEETHTHKE &
TEEEFHE R H T60%M#E - »
20011F9R1H RPEETK - RECE
IS EAEB Y ERIBER 2R -
BRER S EENABUALTERE
ZEBEHMMT

Fair values
of identifiable
assets and
liabilities
ARAEER
BEZARE
HK$'000
BT T
Intangible assets BREE 781,646
Property, plant and equipment ME- BE k& 3,782
Bank balances and cash RITHEBEES 18,506
Trade and other receivables 2 5 K E b fE WA 144,507
Inventories FE 226
Trade and other payables 25 M E MR (95,490)
Amount due to a director e —REFHA (30,759)
Deferred tax liabilities RERIBEE (195,411)
627,007
Goodwill (Note 20) P (HsE20) 41,301
Total consideration REBRE 668,308
Satisfied by: BT AR
Fair value of previously held interest in Grand ~ kBIRETRAZBEZZARE
Destiny . 287,740
Set-off of amount due from Yongheng I 55 FE WOK B 3 R FUR
Development 45,389
Consideration shares RERHD 335,179
668,308
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WHEMEEZRERAFE:
Bank balances and cash acquired BERMSBRTEHRERE 18,506
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. WIBMIE AR (&)

The intangible assets represent the license of operating
lottery business in Shenzhen, the PRC. The fair value is
estimated by an independent and professionally qualified
valuer, Assets Appraisal Limited, and calculated using multi-
purpose excess earning method based on the cash flow
projection, royalty rate and discount rate adopted by the
management of the Grand Destiny.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Grand Destiny because
the cost of the combination included a control premium.
In addition, the consideration paid for the combination
effectively included amounts in relation of benefit of
expected revenue growth, future market development and
the assembled workforce of Grand Destiny. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do
not meet the recognition criteria for identifiable intangible
assets.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected
to be deductible for tax purpose.

The fair value of the previously held interest held by the
Group which is approximate to the proportion of fair value
of the assets and liabilities of Grand Destiny attributable
to the Group on the acquisition date was estimated by
an independent and professionally qualified valuer, Assets
Appraisal Limited. The fair value estimates are calculated
using discounted cash flow method based on cash flow
projection, growth rate and discount rate adopted by the
management of the Grand Destiny.

The Group recognised a gain of HK$235,663,000 as a result
of the re-measurement of previously held interest.

Included in the profit for the year is loss of HK$26,492,000
attributable to the additional business generated by
Grand Destiny. Revenue for the year included HK$432,000
generated from Grand Destiny.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2011,
total Group revenue for the year would have been
HK$1,119,043,000, profit for the year would have been
HK$299,960,000. The pro-forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication
of revenue and results of operations of the Group that
actually would have been achieved had the acquisition
been completed on 1 April 2011, nor is it intended to be a
projection of future results.

BRNEERRTERIINEERRXES
IR 2B BB M EAFEERA 24
B (BEFERRBERQA) A I
REZEEEBERMAZRERETRN &
B R LRI R - L2 Mg B RN
-

RN FRABIRERERE - Bt WiE
REELBE WM AaHEMNREER
BRETEBERKSIER  RRMIHHE
EREEEETHNaEz2E AR THAR
R E B E 2 ERER] Rtz FH e
WAREEE D FER -

8 £ 72 M B 15 4 2 A T 4 R B4 I A
P2 B

AEEERFERD AR ERRKE
BRAKEREERCZCEERBEAR
BLEOIEE BB M AFEXERA 24E
B (BEFEBREARRAF) G20
BEFDODREEZTEEERAZRTR
EEA BREERER UREREHN
BRAtE -

TEERAAETFIE2ERFTEHERZ
W %5 A7 #5235,663,0007T °

FTAREE mH  BAEEE ZBINETS
JE(RE5 18 A 7B1526,492,0007T ° AFE I
ABERTEE ZH1432,0005T °

fisf BB FTEMR2011F4R 1B A&
EAEERWZE AE1,119,043,000
TC R AN E i F 6 A7 299,960,000
T BEEEREHEZRE W TRRHE W
BR201MNF4AB TR AEB B E
BlrEBElmEE MIERREETE
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38. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 38. WEEM B A (&)

In determining the “pro-forma” revenue and profit of the METRRNFEREZ DRKE REETXRE

Group had Grand Destiny been acquired at the beginning of Hz [EHEI Wkt EF2

the current year, the Directors have:

- calculated amortisation of intangible assets acquired - BRNTAREBEHMEEZ AR
on the basis of the fair values arising in the initial B IEWE EIE AT ek O
accounting for the business combination rather than RZEAEzEAEFENBELE
the carrying amounts recognised in the pre-acquisition EZHHE &

39.

financial statements; and

- determined borrowing costs based on the funding - BREBEXEBEHERER 2 EEK
levels, credit ratings and debt/equity position of the T ERARREBMERKAET

Group after the business combination.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

fE B RN o
39. HEMB AT

On 31 March 2011, the Group disposed of its 100% MR2011F3A318  AEERERELE
interests in Grand Destiny to an independent third party, at a HEmTRELE=FH EEAEKT.80
consideration of HK$7.80. JC°
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost: BIEEHIEERBEITOT

HK$'000

BT T
Other receivables H h fE k8 121
Bank balances and cash WITHEBNIES 13,134
Amount due to immediate holding FEREHEER D AIFIE (14,032)

company
Net liabilities disposed of BEHEFEE (777)
Exchange reserve realised on disposal of LEME QR ERE R FEE (584)
subsidiaries
(1,361)

Gain on disposal & e 1,361
Total consideration, satisfied by cash BRE REeIXN -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HERNELERSRILIFRE:
Bank balances and cash disposed of BHECRTEHRERS (13,134)
The subsidiary disposed of during the year had no significant REALENBRAHAEEBREZR
impact on the Group's operating, investing and financing 20ME3A3THIEFE &% - RE R

cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2011. B REVEERTE-
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere, the Group entered into the
following non-trade material related party transactions.

(a) Balance at the end of the reporting period:

40. BEREBEATZXS

BRELM AR 00 P I EE & 51 AR B B A B E
ATETTIFEFEEZEARH -

(a) RIMERKRZAERR:

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Amount due from an associate FE U — B A B SR8
Xiamen Jia An EfMEZ 1,032 474
Amounts due to associates FET Bt & R BIFRIB
Dehua Guang An mlEER (1) (M
An Ran Ju ZNE - (11,850)
1) (11,851)
Amount due from a joint venturer R —EEErEEETNIA
China Gas Holdings Limited (Note i)  FREI¥ATIZIL B R A A
(M5Ei) - 24,230
Amount due to a joint venturer ERN—EEEREEETNIA
China Gas Holdings Limited (Note i) ~ FREIMATIZIL B R A A
(M5Ei) (28) (12,885)

The balances due from (to) associates/a joint venturer/a
related party are unsecured, interest free and repayable
on demand.

(b) Transactions during the reporting period:

Y (BN BERR,/AERES
LR/ BB RESBRRER
M 2B NMARERKERER-

(b) HEHRNZXRS:

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Rental expense paid to Yongheng FFoxiEERE (K aEi)
Development (Note ii) ZHeRX 252 -

Notes:

China Gas Holdings Limited is a company with its shares listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

ii. Yongheng Development is a substantial shareholder of the
Company.

Wi

PERRZERAR AR A —BROR
BT ER EM 2 RE] -

i. KEBERRARRZEEBRR -
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40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(c)

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel and
Directors is disclosed in Note 11 and the Directors
considered they are the sole management personnel
of the Group. The remuneration of Directors and
other members of key management is determined
by the remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individual and market trends.

41. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS

(@) The Group as lessor

The Group leased its investment properties, as set
out in Note 18, under operating lease arrangements
with leases negotiated for terms ranging from 3 to 8
years. The terms of the leases generally also require
the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the prevailing
market conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contracted with tenants for the following future
minimum lease payments.

40. REBEATZRS (&)
() FEEBAEMS

TEERABREZEZMERME
NMARBE - EZRR/RERAKH
M-—mMEREAB - BEEREMER
BEABZHFHBFMEZESRIE
ERALZERRETHBBETE -

41. REHELH
(a) ~XEBEALBBAA

ET 18P E AR ERBELER
EXHHBEEREYE KEFIR
HEFHRIEF -HEBHR—K
MERBEFPEERHTIHBER &
RREREREEHESFHE-

REEHR AEERBEFITEA
M2 RREERSMT -

2012 2011

HK$000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Within one year 1N 168 152
In the second to fifth year, inclusive ~ 2Z= 554

(BIEEEMSF) 12 43

180 195

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately HK$490,000 (2011: HK$499,000).
Properties held at the end of the reporting period are
expected to generate rental yields of 1% to 4% (2011:
2% to 5%) on an ongoing basis. All of the properties
held have committed tenants for the next 1 year to 5
years (2011: next 1 year to 6 years).

RAFERRZMERSBANE
B #490,0007T (20114 : B #&
499,0007T) e MM EHRITE 2 W
EFEH A EHESR1%E4% (2011
F:2%%E5%) 2 HeBHRE-FFH
PIE R AR RKIEZE5F (2011F K
RIFZReF)BEHERHMLE -
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41. OPERATING LEASES ARRANGEMENTS 41.

REMERH (#)

(Continued)

(b) The Group as lessee

Certain office premises of the Group were leased under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties are
negotiated for terms of one to seven years. Rentals are
fixed for the relevant lease term. The minimum lease
payment under operating lease for rented premises
during the year ended 31 March 2012 is HK$5,491,000

(2011: HK$4,689,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
commitments for future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due

as follows:

(b)

REBEREBA

BIEGEEHEZE ASEEES
TFRAEME KRB ETFH
BIEIF -REBEEERRNES S
B E201293A318IEF
ERHEMERBELEHE &K
& BB H5,491,0005T (20114
B #4,689,0007T ) ©

SR ERES L BN e
S HAE 2 R ARIEA S R B4
BRI

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within one year 1R 5,197 4,653
In the second to FLEESE
fifth year, inclusive (BREEEMSF) 7,318 5,799
After five years SE1& 2,017 1,399
14,532 11,851
42. COMMITMENTS 42. &I
2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Contracted for but not provided in the EENERREA
consolidated financial statements sk LG
Capital expenditure in respect of: BRI -
Investment in an associate R NR 2 ”E 163,444 157,658
Property, plant and equipment L ER S 18,671 49,041
182,115 206,699
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS 43.

Assets with the following carrying amounts have been
pledged to secure bank borrowings of the Group.

EEER

TMEmEZEECSERUMERASE
RITEEZER

2012 2011
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Property, plant and equipment W B REHE 2,410 5,205
Intangible assets — exclusive rights of mEAE—
operations of piped Gas Fuel BREEMREERET 2,238 2,267
Bank deposits |ITFE R 5,390 8,228
Prepaid lease payments in respect of T A TENES
land use rights 10,336 8,206
20,374 23,906
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 44, FEHRER

On 23 May 2012, the Group signed a constitutional
document for setting up Shenzhen Cai Cai Le Electronic
Entertainment Technology Development Limited. Its
registered capital is RMB18,000,000 in which the
Group holds 100% equity interest. It is engaged in the
development of intelligent electronic game software
technology and equipment.

MR2012%F5823H  "NEBFEEALATFTX
% AR BRINTI R F Y LT TR
SRBFHEERAG EAMELAAAR
#18,000,0007T * 45 & & #F B 100 % % 4
B NECEHE ARE T TR
BT R s A o
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 45, QT 2 B AR R &k
COMPANY

Statement of financial position of the Company at the end AATRBEIFR 2 PR RRE BIE:
of the reporting period includes:

2012 2011
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & BET T BT T
Non-current assets IERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BB kEE 1,033 1,453
Investments in subsidiaries R B AR ZEE 889,559 508,992
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESREE 54 56
890,646 510,501
Current assets MEEE
Deposits, prepayment and other Re BEBARER
receivables H th B I FR B 1,161 16,867
Other loan to a shareholder of —MBE ARz —BIE
an associate ZEMER - 43,050
Amounts due from subsidiaries SN B 46 111,545 96,901
Bank balances and cash RITHBR LIRS 68,454 91,139
181,160 247,957
Current liability BB A
Other payables and accruals E 8 5RIE
FEETRIA 2,232 2,103
Net current assets REBEEFE 178,928 245,854
1,069,574 756,355
Capital and reserves &
Share capital f% < 406,697 285,756
Reserves ] 47 662,877 470,599
Total equity HAE R 1,069,574 756,355
46. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES 46. EW KB A RAIRE
The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on EHAEEER LR LRRERBESE-

demand.
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The following table sets out the components of the reserves
of the Company and the movements thereof during the

current and prior year.

47. KR E1R#E

TR AR R HE AR N RER
AEERBEFEZE-

Contributed Share-based  Investment
Share surplus Capital compensation valuation Accumulated
premium (Note) reserve reserve reserve losses Total
B4R DRBEA 2
B EE (M) EARE MefE REGERE 2R @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT BETT BETT BETT BETT BT BT
At 1 April 2010 1201064718 615,523 101,688 7,482 35,279 (62,398) (210,746) 486,828
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - (95,266) (95,266)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ~ RAEEEM2ERE - - - - 62,419 - 62,419
Total comprehensive income (expense) FERZERA (BR)BE
for the year - - - - 62,419 (95,266) (32,847)
Recognition of equity-settled BRNEREERND A
share-based Payments ERZRR - - - 16,618 - - 16,618
Effect of share options lapsed BREXNzFE - - - (29,019) - 29,019 -
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 R2011EF3A31B R
2011E481H 615,523 101,688 7,482 22,878 21 (276,993) 470,599
Loss for the year REREER - - - - - (21,958) (21,958)
Other comprehensive expense for the year ~ AFFEHM2ER Y - - - - (2) - (2)
Total comprehensive expense for the year ~ AZE2EH LR - - - - ) (21,958) (21,960)
Issue of consideration shares BIRERD 214,238 - - - - - 214,238
Effect of share options lapsed BREXNzFE - - - (6,260) - 6,260 -
At 31 March 2012 #20126F3A318 829,761 101,688 7,482 16,618 19 (292,691) 662,877
Note: M T

The contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued and the value of net assets of the
underlying subsidiaries acquired. Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), a company may not declare or pay a dividend, or make a
distribution out of contributed surplus, if there are reasonable grounds for
believing that (i) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; (ii) the realisable value of the Company’s
assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium account.

EHBEBRRARFCHTROEEED WEMER
MEBAREEFEZZ%E - RIEAFEI1981FAF
E(ER])  RAIEUNTERTAIAEESAHRE
IRFIRS R B DK - 108 RS2 BBEONAR
AR R R A R REEEERHER : (NARRE
EzAEREGALINEAE SRITRARRS
HERZ -
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48.

49.

NON-CASH TRANSACTION 48. kRERH
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group had HZE2012F3A31HIEFE - AEEE
received dividend income from an associate of approximately B— e QA WER B KA LB
HK$12,211,000 of which was settled through a current 12,211,0007T  5Z i B 3% 48 EL B & N
account with the associate as included in the amount due B AERERGEE BT ARE MBI NE
from an associate (Note 22) in the consolidated statement of MRz R — B2 N B FRIE (KisE22) ©
financial position.
Part of the consideration for the acquisition of a subsidiary FAEEZWERB AR ZHMHRER
that occurred during the year comprised issuance of shares BETROARBHE —HBE QA2 —
and set-off of other loan to a shareholder of an associate. ERRE s HEMER - ZWEEE L E—F
Further details of the acquisition are set out in Note 38. FIEEH N MIEE38 ©
PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 49. T EHE QT
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 M2012F K2011F3H318  ARAElZE
March 2012and 2011 are as follows: EMBARFFBEOT:
Place of
incorporation/ Capital contributed Group
Name of company establishment by the Group ~ effective interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
FMEL/
PR R rEEEE  ARERRER E# [ TTER
012 010 2012 2011 2012 2011
ERPRBRARAT PRCY US$60,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% - - Investment holding
(Beijing Civigas Co., Ltd.*) hE’ 60,000,000 7T RERR
BIMEERRRARAT PRC? RMB5,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(Mian Zhu City Han Wang Natural Gas H&* AR 5,000,000 PERBERT
Co., Ltd.*)
GHPRBRARAR PRC* RMB16,308,800  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(Mian Zhu Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*) ~ #@* AE%16,308,8007 PEREERET
BUTERRRREERAMAR PRCF RMB15,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Installation of Gas Fuel distribution
("Mian Zhu City Long Teng Gas HE ARE15,000,0007 facilities
Installation Co., Ltd.*") ERMREERE
BehRBAARAR PRCY RMB10,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(Yan Ting Zhongmin Natural Gas Co., %@ AE10,000,0007 and installation of Gas Fuel
Ltd.*) distribution facilities
PERBERRRERMAEERE
FIEPRBEARAR PRC* RMB6,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(Bei Chuan County Zhongmin Gas Co., P &* AR 6,000,000 APEREERET
Ltd.*)
EETRARERAA PRC* RMB20,080,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(Chongging Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*) & AR 20,080,007 and installation of Gas Fuel

ETERRRRERAR PR RMB10,000,000 80% 80%
(Fu Ping County Zhongmin Gas Co., ~ FE* A&H10,000,0007

Ltd.*)

distribution facilities
PRRBERRRERMAEERE

- 80% 80% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel

PHREERR
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49, T EHBLAT (&)

Place of
incorporation/ Capital contributed Group
Name of company establishment by the Group  effective interest Directly Indirectly Principal activities
ERAL/
NEER RIBE AREEE rEEERER B 5 TEER
2012 2011 2012 201 2012 2011
EZPRBRARLT PRC RMB40,000,000 70% 70% - - 0% 70% Sales and distribution of Gas Fuel,
(Xi'an Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*) 3 AR 40,000,000 design of Gas Fuel pipeline and
related maintenance
HERAHEMT HHMREEREN
RE4E
EETFRARERAH PRC RMB10,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Distribution and supply of Gas Fuel
(Yan Bian Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*) & AR10,000,0007 PERERRET
BEARBIARLR PRC RMB18,180,000 55% 55% - - 55% 55% Transportation, distribution and retail
("Huaihua Zhongmin”) (Tt R]) #E AER18,180,0007C of bottled LPG
("Huaihua Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*") B HERBETERLARE
ENPRIBEARAR PRC RMB20,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution and retail
(Guizhou Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.¥) AR #20,000,0007 of bottled LPG
BE AERAEZERILARE
EFTRARERAA PRC RMB7,560,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution and retai
(Yunnan Zhongmin Gas Co., ltd*) & AR7,560,0007 of bottled LPG
BE SERMEZERILANE
BRRAAREHERATA PRC RMB26,000,000  100%  100% - - 100%  100% Transportation, distribution and retail
(Huaihua Zhongmin Petroleum Gas AR 26,000,000 of bottled LPG
Supply Co., Ltd.*) B8 SERRETERILANR
RERRRRARAM PRC RMB1,000,000 2% 28% - - 28% 28%  Wholesale and retail of LPG
(Xupu Zhongmin Gas Co., Ltd.*) & AR 1,000,0007T RERZTERILERR
RIEF PRC RMB125,000,000  100% - - - 100% - Lottery agency sales
(Shenzhen Le Cai) T AR 125,000,000 YEREHE
RIER PRC RMB10,800,000  100% - - 100% - Lottery agency sales
(Shenzhen Jin Cai) ik ARH10,800,0007 VERBHE
# Wholly foreign-owned enterprises registered in the PRC. # R EFRZIINEEE -
i Sino-foreign joint equity enterprises registered in the PRC. "" ReEFRzREEEERE

it The Group obtained control through investment in non wholly-owned
subsidiary, Huaihua Zhongmin.

* For identification purpose only

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities

during the years and at the end of the both years.

All of the above subsidiaries operate principally in their
respective place of incorporation/establishment.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the
results or net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

e KEEFEBREZERENBRARELTR
BEBIS RS -

* [ERRE

FARBEEAFERE NBARGESE
TTEAIERBES

L EMRBARER2EHEZ BHRM
FXIZ, PRI B AR o

EFERBLERMAINZARRZHERF
HAKEZREREBEFEEEATE
IRt EMHB AR ZFHE EFARE
EEFENTTR-
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AEEHE2012E3A318 LR EMBEE 2
BHEXEREE BERIEERERBEN
T

The following is a summary of the published results and of the
assets, liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the
five financial years ended 31 March 2012.

Year ended 31 March

BE3A3MBLEE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT AEBTxX AETxx BETT BETT
RESULTS E
Turnover -t 1,119,002 853,868 706,250 579,510 619,676
Profit (loss) before tax B Aa A (EE) 349,156 71,475 330,006 51,283 (300,661)
Income tax expenses Fris i (43,728) (23,832) (20,248) (12,046) (8,739)
Profit (loss) for the year REFE R (EE) 305,428 47,643 309,758 39,237 (309,400)
Attributable to: T FEAR -
Owners of the Company ~ AARHEA A 296,815 45,639 300,614 35,902 (309,456)
Non-controlling interests JEIE R HE = 8,613 2,004 9,144 3,335 56
305,428 47,643 309,758 39,237 (309,400)
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND BE-B8ER
NON-CONTROLLING JEIER HE =
INTERESTS
Total assets BESE 2,730,973 1,769,743 1,481,764 1,530,375 1,365,454
Total liabilities BEERE (900,700) (615,188)  (489,117)  (828,237)  (648,469)
Net assets BESFE 1,830,273 1,154,555 992,647 702,138 716,985
Non-controlling interests  FE¥E A% # &5 (81,760)  (71,049)  (64,041)  (68,810) (66,089
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Distribution of business

(B Z20124F3H31H)
(For the year ended 31 March 2012)

Jexstli

Beijing City @

=YIHHE

BEIRIEE @ FuPing Project
Yan Liang Project @)
ibJIEH
Bei Chuian Project mﬁ,’é‘
ERIER () Shanxi Province

Han Wang Project @
#@rmEg©

Mian Zhu Project

Vu )il

Sichuan Province

E=ER
Yan Ting Project

© i
&O Cﬁongqing City
ErEIER
Tong Nan Project

b 2
A
Guizhou Province

BIMNEB

Guizhou Project

UKz
Hunan Province

(L IEE

Huaihua Project

EHEA

Yunnan Project

EliH

Yunnan Province

R
¢

v
Jilin Province

¢
FEEHER

Yan BianiZhongmin

BEZAR

Fujian An Ran

wea®

Fujian Province

Guangdong Province

Ll

Shenzhen Le Cai

I

Shenzhen City

AEEERBRERT

The provinces in which the Group operates

© FTHEEEREATEMAER(BRRALHORERRE
ROfEHEF 81 - £A31EEE 2 Al
The Group’s investment on gas pipeline projects (The operation
of Fujian An Ran covers 8 out of 9 regions in Fujian
province, with a total of 31 project companies)

AEEERERICABMIMETEEE (HFHBEALSE :
EFAGTEREMNELSE)

The Group’s investment on wholesale & retail of LPG projects

(of which 5 projects included in Hunan;

7 included in Yunnan and 8 included in Guizhou)

AEEEKREVERIEZIHERR
(BREAYVNLEE MR ER2MEEE)

The Group's investment on Lottery agency sales

(including 2 projects: Shenzhen Le Cai and Shenzhen Jin Cai)
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